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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”)
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Directors”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and that there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for
at least seven days from the date of its publication.

ERBEXZMARALE (B AR (RIXR]) 2Be

BRI EN - IRELERMERIF LN A AFERERERRZ AAER—ELHTZHE BEREZ
ALETHRERZEQNAZEERR UEEBFERAFZZEELFLHRERE - AIXRZBEEARREAM
BEXTAFRBESBEXRAMERARESE -

HRERERLETRARAINBEZMER  EARREEZEFTREBRREXFEREEZEFAZBAZTER
BER FNELIRECARREBZESEERERBEBZTS -

BERGRGENBERAFIREBEHRERX B ERL AU A RENABHTRE - YR EFELE TR TER
EfJ 28 - 30 BFRER BT BL B N #R &5 22 BB S (E (AT 85 10 A 25 1T 25 4 3 (A fay RE 3% 5 A 25 1T 51 24 A 1 (] 18 K A B 1E 1]
BfE-

ARG ER T BIRBEPTEIRRES AR ([BIFR ETHRR) T8 - 5HEEEFETEBEERERA
EREXEBFRAA ([XRE)BEH  ARFEE ([EF]) ERAHREHER KRR EF A ELHE
- BEFUEIMELH IR EBHRK  BEREFHMRAE  AREFBENEEEZTT M EEETH  RER
B - AXEEREMEMER  EUSHANF XA FE AR ELRE -

i
K& w8 R FI% R L — &+ H #8 R B F R AL www.hkgem.com B [ R FT A B] A & A H ©



Contents B $%

Corporate Information NGIE- 8= 3
Corporate Profile NGSIIGED 6
Chairman’s Statement FRERE 7
Management Discussion and Analysis BRENwm RO 10
Corporate Governance Report PEERRE 22
Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management ZENME R EEEBFEE R 33
Directors’ Report ExeWms 37
Independent Auditors’ Report B ZEE RS 58
Consolidated Income Statement meBmk 61
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income meEEEREE 63
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position e AR & 64
Statement of Financial Position B AR R 66
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity mEEmEER 67
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows mERESRER 68
Notes to the Financial Statements B 7 SRR BT 5 71
Five Year Financial Summary hFYBRE 239
02 CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011



Corporate Information 2 3 & %}

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)

Mr. Feng San Li (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 17 June 2011)

Mr. Shi Liang

Mr. Zhang Qing Lin

Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
Mr. Wang Zhi He

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman of audit committee)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Mr. Wang Zhi He

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Zhi He (Chairman of nomination committee)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman of remuneration committee)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Mr. Wang Zhi He

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT & COMPANY
SECRETARY

Mr. Lui Chi Keung FCCA, CPA

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

EES

HITES

ERBEE (TH)

BRI (T8 %)
(R=F—— XA ++ARELE)

MoIESE

REMIL

(R

BUFUTES
BB E

TEFRL
TZMEsE

BEREE®
YERLL (BREARLE)

BHBRE
TZMEsE

REEES
EMEE EEEARLR)
g

YERLL
FWEES
CERLL (HHEASLR)
Tt e

FrMEE

CERETARAAME

B &R 5E4E  FCCA, CPA

03




Iy

Corporate Information 2 5 & %}

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng
Mr. Lui Chi Keung

HEAD OFFICE & PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Rm 802 Wing On Plaza,

Tsim Sha Tsui East,

Kowloon

Hong Kong

(Cease to be head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong with effect from 7 October 2011)

Room 3705, 37th Floor,

148 Electric Road,

North Point,

Hong Kong

(became head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong with effect from 7 October 2011)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

04

ERXfE
TRBEE
REAXR

ERBEE
ASEEE

BEREANSERIELR
b 3B

a5

an-

ENILIEE

KL E%HB802E

(R=ZF——F+AHEILKBEEE
EBERTEEEME)

BB

ik A&

BERIB1485

371E3705%

(R=F——F 1+ AL AKBE BRI FRE
REBEXME)

AMRER

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011



Corporate Information 2 3 & %}

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Bank (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman, KY1-1107
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 28, Three Pacific Place
1 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

Loong & Yeung

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
STOCK CODE

8270

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

FTEROGBFERE

Butterfield Bank (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman, KY1-1107
Cayman Islands

EEROBFELTE

BEEEBFARAQ A

BB

SRRNER1HR
KEEHE = E28E
B Em

BEE LRI EHFAR AR
&R R
BN KR EANTT
FEEREL T
BB EBELEITERAR

IR A2 X8R

8270

05




Corporate Profile 2 &N

China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group Company Limited (formerly
known as China Leason Investment Group Co., Limited) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct
the business of manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose
operations are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated
in Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in
July 2002 and was initially listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
(“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August
2003.

The Group is principally engaged in sales of natural gas.
Headquartered in Beijing. The Group’s production of liquefied coalbed
gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest liquefied
coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to Shanxi, Guangxi
and Guangdong Provinces, etc. In particular, in July 2011, the Group
acquired the exclusive natural gas operation right in Ruyang County,
Henan Province, for a term of 30 years, which will further expand
our market coverage in near future.

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi, since
July 2011, The commercial production of coalbed gas will transform
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and will
enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality clean
energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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Chairman’s Statement = EHE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

In order to raise our natural gas supply and enhance earnings
prospect, we decided to turn ourselves into a vertically integrated
natural gas producer a few years ago. Today, on behalf of our
Company, | am pleased to announce to our investors that we have
made significant progress in 2011. During the year, we have
completed the ground work and drilling of 150 wells in the Yangcheng
gas block and successfully acquired the distribution facilities in
Ruyang Industrial Zone and secured a 30-year exclusive right to
operate in gas pipeline infrastructure and provision of piped natural
gas. All these actions we have taken are to ensure that we minimise
our business risks and at the same time maximise our shareholders’
return in the coming years. Due to the unsettled problem in power
supply for Henan Ruyang Industrial Zone and instability in third-party
natural gas supply, as well as the demand for capital resources
required to complete our drilling plan, year 2012 will be a year full of
challenges. We will continue to enhance our efforts to implement
the development plan, with an aim to strengthen our leading position
in China’s coalbed methane (“*CBM”) industry.

EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

Despite unforeseeable difficulties during the drilling process, such
as bad weather and technical problems, we have successfully
completed the ground work and drilling of 150 CBM wells on time.
Among these 150 wells, there are 38 wells, which were put to
production or ready for immediate gas output as at 31 December
2011. The gas output volume of these 38 wells is estimated to be
2,000 cubic metre per day per well on average by the end of 2012
for exceeding our previous estimate of 1,500 cubic metre per day
per well at the initial stage of the drilling and it shows that the gas
asset quality is of very high rank. We believe that once the
construction of our gas pipeline connecting the gas field in Yangcheng
to our LNG plant in Qinshui is complete in 2012, our self-sufficiency
in gas supply will further increase and thereby enhancing the earnings
prospect. We estimate the total gas production to exceed 100,000
cubic metre per day by the end of 2012 and 350,000 cubic metre
per day by end of 2013.
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Chairman’s Statement = EH %

LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

Although the whole LNG industry in Shanxi, including ourselves,
continues to be affected by the gas supply shortage, resulting in a
lower utilisation rate of our Qinshui LNG plant, we take this an
opportunity for us to implement our repair and maintenance program
and upgrade our LNG facilities. The Qinshui LNG plant has been
affected by shortage in third-party natural gas supply in the first half
of 2012. This situation is expected to be gradually improved as we
start to get supply from the Yangcheng gas block by the end of year
2012.

MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

On the other hand, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In July 2011, we have
successfully acquired the distribution and storage facilities in Ruyang
Industrial Zone, Henan Province and also secured an exclusive right
for a term of 30 years to operate in gas pipeline infrastructure and
provision of piped natural gas. After this acquisition, we will be able
to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales and optimise
our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from a residential
user dominated mix. Despite the unexpected infrastructure problem
and hence the delayed operation in 2011, we strive to ramp up the
business progressively in 2012, and contribute more earnings to the
Group.

EMPHASISE ON TECHNOLOGICAL
ADVANCEMENT

One key factor of our success in our exploration and production
business is technological advancement. Our belief is “technology
for reserve”. We believe that only through advancing our CBM
extraction technology can we lower our CBM production costs as a
whole and, more importantly, to raise our overall proven reserve level.
In the future, we will be investing heavily in developing and advancing
our CBM extraction technology and techniques.
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Chairman’s Statement = EHE

OUTLOOK

Natural gas is in a period of rapid development. The current
consumption level for natural gas shows great potential in further
development, recognising the rising advocacy of safer - especially
under the recent nuclear power crisis - and cleaner energy. However,
the existing conventional natural gas production is unlikely to satisfy
China’s strong demand of natural gas in the coming years; and we
believe that it is inevitable that the PRC government would need to
encourage the unconventional gas production. With all the favourable
policies and measures in place, there is no doubt that the Company,
as a leading CBM company, will gain major benefits. We will seize
this opportunity to grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable
basis and would try our very best to maximise our shareholders’
investment return.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for all
their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group one of the leading
enterprises in China’s CBM industry.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

3 October 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 B &1 & 247

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB253,849,000 for the year, representing an increase of
approximately 7.1% compared with last year. The increase was mainly
attributable to:

(0

(i

The increase of approximately RMB9,572,000 in turnover for
the sales of piped natural gas (including provision of gas supply
connection services) and approximately RMB13,526,000 in the
provision of liquefied coalbed gas logistics services in China.
The stronger sales were supported by the stronger demand
from industrial and residential users in most provinces in China.

However, the gross profit declined approximately
RMB11,562,000 as a result of approximately RMB14,884,000
increase in amortisation charges for operating license for
liquefied coalbed gas logistics and exclusive right for piped
natural gas operation in Ruyang County.

Included in the turnover in 2011, approximately RMB40,473,000,
which represents approximately 16% of total revenue, was attributed
to the sale of CBM to customer through externally sourced gas by
an off-site LNG storage and gasification system installed in the
production base of the customer’s factory by Luoyang Shunhe Energy
Company Limited (“Luoyang Shunhe”), a subsidiary acquired during
the year.
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The Group recorded a loss for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company for approximately RMB45,016,000,
compared with the loss attributable to equity shareholders of
approximately RMB20,493,000 for last year. The reasons for the loss
are as follows:

(0

(i)

(iv)

The increase in administrative expenses for approximately
RMB30,142,000, mainly driven by non-cash share-based
payment in respect of share options granted amounted to
approximately RMB18,7483,000, increase in staff costs for
approximately RMB2,696,000, and opening up of new offices
in Shanxi, Henan and Hong Kong;

The increase in income tax charge for the year from continuing
operations for approximately RMB13,738,000, mainly arising
from the tax charge relating to the compensation from the
management company of the Ruyang Industrial Zone.

The loss of approximately RMB21,492,000 arising from
impairment on goodwill of our piped natural gas operation as a
result of the difficult operating environment that has lasted since
2010 in Guangxi Province, PRC; partly offset by

The compensation income (included in other income) of
approximately RMB34,060,000 to compensate for the delay in
completion of power supply system in the industrial zone
located in Ruyang County; and

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis B Bt R 2

The fair value gain on other financial assets for approximately
RMB17,051,000, representing the contingent consideration
receivable from a major shareholder, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng
(“Mr. Wang”), in relation to the acquisition of Wealthy Talent
Group as referred to in the paragraph “Major and Connected
Transaction Involving Issue of Convertible Bonds” in page 52
of this report. Given the delay in the completion of power supply
system in the Ruyang Industrial Zone in 2012, there is a
contingent amount to be benefited by Luoyang Shunhe (by
virtue of the Consideration Adjustment Arrangement) when
Luoyang Shunhe fails to meet the Warranted Profit of RMB40
million for the year of 2012 after taking into account the
compensation on business loss received from the management
company of Ruyang Industrial Zone and the operating profit
generated on its own. The board of directors (the “Board”)
assessed the fair value of the contingent receivable with
reference to an independent professional valuation.

Given the expected shortfall of the Warranted Profit for year
2012 and the Consideration Adjustment Arrangement by virtue
of which the vendor shall pay to the Company a total sum of
10.5 times of the shortfall (i.e. contingent payment), the present
value of the expected amount of contingent payment to be
received by the Group is approximately RMB17,051,000. The
expected amount of contingent payment is a weighted average
of shortfalls under different scenarios of when the power supply
system will be completed and Luoyang Shunhe can begin to
supply CBM to external customer through externally sourced
gas; and therefore what level of compensation income should
be expected to be received by Luoyang Shunhe from the
management company of Ruyang Industrial Zone for 2012. The
contingent payment is expected to be received by the Group
by end of the first quarter of 2013, if any.
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The trade and other receivables of the Group increased significantly
for approximately RMB96,576,000, compared with balances last
year. This was mainly attributable to

BREEMBEEBUKER R EEE
IRIG A A KR #15,980,0007T

i) Increase in trade and bills receivable for approximately i)
RMB15,980,000 as a result of expansion of operation scale;
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ii) Increase in other receivables for approximately
RMB48,727,000, mainly arising from the compensation
receivable from the management company of Ruyang Industrial
Zone relating to the delay in completion of power supply system;
and

i) Increase in prepayment for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment for approximately RMB19,030,000 for the second
phase expansion project at the LNG plant in Qinshui County
and drilling and pipeline transmission project in Yangcheng.

Significant amount of trade and other receivables have been settled
after the year end date. Except the impairment on other receivable
amounted to RMB1,000,000, which relates to uncollectable deposits
to gas trading companies. To ensure the recoverability of these
balances, the Board regularly reviewed the ageing of trade and other
receivables balances and the credit policy of individual customers
based on their trading volume and credit history. Given that most
customers have long established business relationship with our
subsidiaries and possess good credit history, the Board considers
that the risk of recoverability is low and will make periodic
assessments to ensure that our prepayment for gas supplies and
acquisition of property, plant and equipment is reasonable and aligns
with the relevant terms of the supply contracts and the related
acquisition agreements.

Given the rapid change in operating environment in the gas market,
the Board have constantly reviewed the fair value of assets and
assessed the need for any asset impairment. For 2011, the Board
had the following conclusion in asset impairment.

Goodwill in piped natural gas located in Guangxi: Impairment
of approximately RMB21,492,000 has been made for the excess of
recoverable amount of cash generating unit (“CGU”), which
represented value of cash-generating assets of the CGU, over the
value in use. The Directors’ assessment on impairment of goodwill
is based on value in use calculations for the CGU by reference to an
independent professional valuation. In the valuation, certain major
assumptions have been changed to reflect the current situation.
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° First, the profit margin decreased mainly driven by 1) the
increase in purchase cost due to gas supply tightness in
Guangxi Province; 2) lower than expected gas demand in
Guangxi due to reduced export of porcelain and ceramic
products from the region;

° Secondly, the discount rate used for 2011 increased due to 1)
the rise in interest rate, 2) higher market risk premium, and; 3)
increase in price volatility.

Goodwill in coalbed methane exploration and development,
natural gas liquefaction and LNG distribution: No impairment
of goodwill and other assets for the CGU has been made since the
Directors’ assessed that the value in use of the CGU exceeded the
recoverable amount, which represented value of cash-generating
assets, of the CGU. The Directors’ assessment on impairment of
goodwill is based on value in use calculations for the CGU by
reference to an independent professional valuation. The group
structure was changed in 2011 substantially. Before 2011, we only
engaged in midstream LNG processing and distribution. In 2011,
we turned ourselves into a vertically integrated gas producer through
investing in upstream gas exploration and production business, and
the acquisition of Luoyang Shunhe. The CGU in the valuation
comprises the upstream gas reserve in Yangcheng County, which
was invested by the Group during the year, midstream LNG plant
and transportation fleet in Shanxi Province, and downstream storage
and distribution facilities in Henan Province, including Luoyang
Shunhe, and Hebei Province. The increase in goodwill for this CGU
during the year was mainly due to the acquisition of Luoyang Shunhe
during the year. In the valuation, certain major assumption has been
changed to reflect the current situation.

° The Board believes that the investment in upstream gas
operation would provide a reliable source of gas supply to
downstream operation. The Group would be more certain in
the assumptions in gas processing volume and gas prices for
each unit along the whole CGU; and

° The Group raised the discount rate adopted for 2011 due to 1)
the rise in interest rate, 2) higher market risk premium, and; 3)
increase in price volatility.
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Intangible asset in Luoyang Shunhe: The acquisition of Luoyang
Shunhe extended the gas value chain by expanding into the
downstream distribution network through exclusive right for piped
natural gas operation in Ruyang Industrial Zone. In 2011, due to the
delay in completion of power supply system in the area, Luoyang
Shunhe supplied CBM to customers through externally sourced gas
by an off-site LNG storage and gasification system installed in the
production base of the customer’s factory, instead of selling to
customers in the industrial zone. The Board believes that given the
guaranteed profit for 2011 and 2012 as well as the stable gas market
outlook in China, there was no change in gas sale assumptions for
2013 and beyond. As a result, the Board’s assessment on profit and
cash flow stream remains unchanged; and therefore there is no need
for asset impairment in 2011 either.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Natural gas exploration and extraction: As at 31 December 2011,
the Group completed the ground work and drilling of 150 CBM wells,
of which 38 wells were put to production or ready for immediate gas
output. As at 31 August 2012, the Group already completed the
ground work and drilling of 200 CBM wells, of which 80 wells were
put to production or ready for immediate gas output. The number of
wells drilled was slightly below our previous expectation of 250 wells
due to geological and technical difficulties. However, the Group has
already solved such geological and technical issues and the Board
expect to accelerate the drilling program in 2013. The Group expects
to complete the ground work and drilling of 303 CBM wells by the
end of year 2012 and 552 CBM wells by the end of year 2013; and
an additional 103 wells to be drilled before the end of 2012 to cost
for no more than RMB50 million and the 249 more wells planned for
drilling in 2013 to cost for no more than RMB125 million. Netherland,
Sewell & Associates, Inc. (NSAI), an independent US-licensed gas
engineer, estimates our Company’s proved (1P), proved and probable
(2P), and proved, probable and possible (3P) reserves as of 31 March
2012 to be 3.5 billion cubic feet (bcf), 27.7bcf and 205bcf
respectively.
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The average gas production volume of the existing 80 wells is 500
cubic meter per day per well currently and is expected to increase
to 1,300 cubic meter per day per well on average by the end of
2012. The Group expects its overall gas output to exceed 100,000
cubic meter per day by the end of 2012 and 350,000 cubic meter
per day by end of 2013.

As the construction of the Group’s natural gas pipeline for delivery
of gas from the production field to the liquefaction plant is expected
to be completed before the end of 2012, the Group will start to
generate revenue, profit and cash flow from the gas operation
approximately the same time.

Liquefaction operation: As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s
LNG capacity was 500,000 cubic metre per day. However, due to
the tight supply of domestic natural gas within China, the Group
experienced difficulty in sourcing natural gas feed for its downstream
liquefaction purpose, and therefore, the utilisation of our LNG plants
was low and unsatisfactory. However, the Group expects that the
above situation will improve after the Group has started its own gas
production in the fourth quarter of 2012. Furthermore, the Group
suspended the operation of the LNG plant for an overhaul between
February 2012 and April 2012, which resulted in the sharp decline in
turnover and operating cashflow of our Group. The LNG plant has
resumed operation since May 2012. After the major overhaul, the
Group expects the LNG plant to become more efficient and cost
effective, that will increase the revenue, profit and cashflow
contribution to the Group in the second half of 2012 and onwards
because of the increase in our gas production supply.

Marketing and sales: In view of the strong demand of liquefied
natural gas in central China due to the rising industrial and residential
demands, the Group developed the vertical integration structure to
supply liquefied natural gas from its LNG plant in Qinshui County,
Shanxi Province to its customers in Henan Province through its own
distribution channel. The vertical integration structure can reduce
risk of gas supply disruption and increase profit margins. The Group
can also decide its customer mix in order to maximise the profit
margins. The acquisition of the exclusive natural gas operation right
in Ruyang County, Henan Province by the Group was in line with its
business strategy. The Group was able to secure a long term demand
from major users while the Group can optimise the overall sales mix
and therefore maximise our profit margin.
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However, the Group’s operations in Ruyang Industrial Zone have
not started during the year mainly due to the delay in the completion
of the power supply system in the Ruyang Industrial Zone. On 12
July 2011, through the acquisition of Luoyang Shunhe, the Group
completed the acquisition of the downstream gas storage and
distribution assets and the exclusive right to supply gas to users in
the Ruyang Industrial Zone. Pursuant to the signed agreement on 6
April 2011 between Luoyang Shunhe and Ruyang County
Government, all the infrastructure construction including the power
supply system of the Ruyang Industrial Zone would be completed
by no later than September 2011 and the Group expected to generate
revenue from gas sales of the LNG plants in the Ruyang Industrial
Zone once operation commenced. However, in early August 2011,
the Group was informed by the management company of the Ruyang
Industrial Zone that there would be delay in the completion power
supply system due to unforeseeable issues on technical and
administrative problems. Since the gas operation requires steady
power supply to drive the processes (i.e. pressurising gas, gasification
of liquefied gas, etc), the Group’s operation in the Ruyang Industrial
Zone was paralysed due to the lack of power supply.

To avoid any further delay of the operation, the Group held a series
of discussion and negotiation with the management company of the
Ruyang Industrial Zone. The Group then signed another agreement
with the management company on 17 August 2011 to the effect
that if Luoyang Shunhe cannot achieve the net profit of RMB30 million
for the year ended 31 December 2011 due to the delay in the
completion of power supply system, the management company of
the Ruyang Industrial Zone will compensate Luoyang Shunhe for
the shortfall from RMB30 million. In February 2012, the Group
informed the management company that the shortfall amount after
tax was RMB25.5 million (i.e. before tax amount was RMB34.06
million) and demanded the compensation. The compensation amount
was accounted for in the financial statement for the year ended
31 December 2011 and fully recovered in March and April 2012.

The Board have been informed that the power supply system is
expected to be completed and starting operating before the end of
October 2012, and by then the sales of gas to our customers will be
commenced after testing. Moreover, the Group will increase the
utilisation of the LNG plant by participating in the regional gas trading
market so as to generate more revenue. Nevertheless, this will not
be our major business. The trading business only generates a thin
margin, but it is one of the measures to minimise the idle capacity
and to generate more revenue.
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The Group believes that it is not in breach of the obligation under
GEM Listing Rule 17.10 because the Group was reasonably confident
that the compensation income from the management company of
the Ruyang Industrial Zone would be paid up, as stipulated in the
aforesaid agreements. Alternatively, if the management failed to
satisfy the compensation obligation, Mr. Wang, the vendor of the
acquisition in relation to, among other things, Luoyang Shunhe would
be required to compensate the Group to make up the profit shortfall
of the Warranted Profit of RMB30 million in 2011, which in turn will
not materially affect the revenue of the Group. As such, the Directors
consider that the delay in completion of power supply system has
not triggered the Company’s disclosure obligations under GEM Listing
Rule 17.10.

On the other hand, the Group experienced a slower than expected
gas demand from the industrial users in Guangxi, mainly ceramic
and porcelain producers. The gas volume growth was disappointing
over the past few years. The management of the Group conducted
a thorough and detailed analysis on the gas demand volume and
believed that the demand will pick up moderately in the next few
years, due to the poor export volume of ceramic and porcelain
products from Guangxi. Therefore, the Board decided to impair the
goodwill relating to the CGU of pipeline natural gas operation in Beiliu
by RMB21,492,000 for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had net assets of approximately
RMB1,081,397,000, including cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB21,698,000. To minimise financial risks, the Group
implements stringent financial and risk management strategies and
avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The Group’s
gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external borrowings
divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately 6.0%.
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Although the Group has no plan in fund raising currently, the Group
is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve the cash
position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital intensive.
If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether it is from
internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from fund raising),
the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart from the intended
investment in upstream CBM exploration and extraction, the Group
does not have any other plan for acquisition or investment, disposal
or scale-down of any current business.

Employees

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has an aggregate of 538
employees, of which 87 are research and development staff, 224
are engineering and customer service staff, 194 administrative staff
and 33 marketing staff. During the year, the staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration and share-based payment) was
approximately RMB28,167,000 (2010: approximately
RMB21,041,000).

The salary and bonus policy of the Group is principally determined
by the performance of the individual employee. The Group will on an
ongoing basis, provides opportunity for professional development
and training to its employees.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group entity.

Significant Investment

The Group did not have significant investment as at 31 December
2011.
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OUTLOOK

The Board believes that the Company will sustain long term
development and maintain its leading position in China’s natural gas
market given its vertical integration business structure that reduces,
or eliminates risks in gas supply, gas price fluctuation and earning
visibility.

In light of a recent publication regarding the 12th Five-Year Plan for
the period from 2011 to 2015 of the PRC government, natural gas
users in China will increase by 100 million to a total of 250 million.
Viewing from the national gas market, the Group has observed
inadequate gas supply in general that has rendered midstream gas
processing companies in the market in an adverse operating
environment causing low utilisation and loss.

Unlike most of the above midstream gas processing companies
whose business models only focus on certain areas of the gas
production or supply chain, the Group has its own gas production in
upstream operation which enhance the Group’s self-sufficiency in
gas supply to the mid-stream LNG plants and downstream gas sales
and distribution, and therefore reducing the gas supply risk in the
long run. The current situation of inadequate gas supply and the
consequent loss arising from operation are only temporary and it is
likely that the business will turn profitable and show phenomenal
growth as the Group’s gas production accelerates in the near future.

Furthermore, the Group, with its own gas supply, is less affected by
gas price fluctuation caused by international natural gas market.
Nevertheless, the increasing gas price in the international market
would make our gas products and supply more competitive and
increase our profit margin given our lower operation cost of our full
participation in the natural gas value chain. The Group believes that
its revenue and profit will increase in the long run. More importantly,
the vertical integration strategy would enable the Group to sustain a
long term development and become a strong market leader.
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After a series of corporate restructuring, the Group believes that the
build-out of the Group’s vertical integration structure is almost
complete and now it is high time for the Group to move to the second
stage - the growing phase. The Group expects to turn the business
into profitable in the near future.

On the upstream exploration and production front, the number of
wells ready for gas output would increase and the daily production
per well would rise as the wells become more mature. The Group
expects the daily gas production volume to be over 100,000 cubic
meter per day by the end of 2012 and 350,000 cubic meter per day
by end of 2013. On the other hand, the Group expects the
construction of the pipeline transporting gas from its own gas fields
to the LNG plants in Qinshui County to complete by the end of 2012;
after then the Group can raise its own LNG plants utilisation by
feeding more self-produced gas to the LNG plants. More importantly,
the utilisation of the downstream LNG transportation trunks and the
storage facilities would increase too. As the demand for gas in China
remains strong and the Group’s supply constraint unleashed, the
Group expects the gas sales in the fourth quarter of 2012 and that
in 2013 to grow significantly and the profitability to improve materially.

In the near future, the Group will mainly focus on upstream CBM
exploration and production on the existing gas CBM assets.
Meanwhile, the Group will be opportunistic in value-accretive
upstream gas asset acquisition, if any.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a)

(b)

22

Application of Corporate Governance
Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance of
responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders,
(i) the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders
and the recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders,
and (iv) the improvement in crisis management and the
enhancement of performance by the Group. The Group has
applied the principles set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “HKSE Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules with these objectives in
mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate
Governance Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out
the corporate standards and practices used by the Group to
direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by
reference to the principles, code provisions and recommended
best practices set out in the HKSE Code, which came into
effect on 1 January 2005. In addition to formalising existing
corporate governance principles and practices, the Company
Code also serves the purpose of assimilating existing practices
with benchmarks prescribed by the HKSE Code and ultimately
ensuring high transparency and accountability to the Group’s
shareholders.
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(c) Compliance of Company and HKSE's
Code’s Provisions

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the HKSE Code save the deviations mentioned
below.

The Company delayed the publication of the 2011 Annual
Results and the despatch of this report that constituted
breaches of Rules 18.48A and 18.49 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The aforesaid delays were due to additional time was required
for the preparation of the technical reports on the Company’s
CBM resources, and thus the preparation of various valuation
reports on certain assets of the Group.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
HKSE Code and other provisions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the code of conduct
for the year 2011.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, comprising five
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman); Mr.
Feng San Li (Chief executive officer); Mr. Shi Liang; Mr. Zhang Qing
Lin and Mr. Fu Shou Gang and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Mr. Wang Zhi He and Ms. Pang
Yuk Fong. Ms. Pang Yuk Fong has appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and financial management expertise as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-
executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines.

APPOINTMENT TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under code provision A.4.1 of the HKSE Code non-executive
directors should be appointed for specific terms, subject to re-
election. Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have
no fixed term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s Articles of Association.

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for appointing and
supervising senior management to ensure that the operations of the
Group are conducted in accordance with the objectives of the Group.
The principal roles of the Board are:

° to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plan;

° to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

° to set appropriate policies to manage risks in pursuit of the
Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible
for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board/or the committees set up by the Board for decision and
implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company, the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations.

2. formulating and implementing policies for business actives,
internal controls and administration of the Company;

3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4.  keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review those arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the HKSE Code, the roles of the
chairman and CEO should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Currently, Mr. Feng San Li is holding the title
of CEO. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board. The
Board meets regularly to consider major matters affecting the
business and operations of the Group. The Board considers that
this structure will balance the power and authority between the Board
and management and believes that this structure enables the Group
to make and implement decision promptly and efficiently.
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BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meeting arranged, if and when required. In 2011, the Board
held 14 meetings. The attendance record of each member of the
Board is set out below:

EEEEF

E¥e-MES=MARE K LEAE
TH R EH  FEER Y
BTHIREH - S EERHKE MBS
mF :

Attendance
HE=

Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman) 14/14
TREBEE (FE)
Mr. Feng San Li (CEO) (appointed on 17 June 2011) 5/14
B=FEE (THAEE) R_E——F AT EHAEZMT)
Mr. Shi Liang 8/14
iiEbivas
Mr. Zhang Qing Lin 12/14
REMEE
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 1/14
~ERIEE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 7/14
BEERE
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong 7/14
ZEFLL
Mr. Wang Zhi He 7/14
FzAkE

Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and would
abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is

responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.
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Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

° A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities in
making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict of
interests.

° Orientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

° Management provides appropriate and sufficient information
to Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group
and enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors
also have independent and unrestricted access to senior
executives of the Company.

CONDUCT ON SHARE DEALINGS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as referred to in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Group, having made specific enquiries to its
Directors and supervisors, confirms that, throughout the financial
year ended 31 December 2011, all Directors and supervisors met
the criteria laid down in the said code for securities transactions by
Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee was established on 12 August 2005 for,
inter alia, the following purposes: —

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such policy on remuneration;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duty of
remuneration committee is to review and make recommendations
to the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors
and executives.

In 2011, the remuneration committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the remuneration committee
is set out below:

FHEES

FMZES@C RN _ZTTRFNAA+T_BX
Mo EFEMNERE

@ HMEZFLREREEENFHFHBELR
B MRRIEAMAEHAENERF
ABIE L SEHMBER - AEF SRS
B

b)) MUTEERSREEENMESHES
MEFSRLESR  UMUIFRTES
MERESSROER -

FINEZ B emARREELIFNTESH
B BREEFKE (ER) BRELER
FzMrdt - FHERE S 2BE SR R
HITEZERITHAB ZHMER MFERH
et

HHERGR T ——FYRIT NG -
FMEBRERENHLERBMT -

Attendance
HE R
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman) 11
ZEFLE (FE)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 1/1
BEERE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 1/1
FzREE

During the meeting, members of the remuneration committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and
the business objectives of the Group.
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The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to the
remuneration committee for consideration and approval,
remuneration packages for the executive Directors and executives.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As mentioned above, a nomination committee was established on
12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the following purposes: —

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

The nomination committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Ms. Pang Yuk Fong.

In 2011, the nomination committee held one meeting. The attendance
record of each member of the nomination committee is set out below:
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At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The nomination committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee was established on 28 July 2003
and currently comprises all three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun
and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary duties of the audit committee are
(a) to review the Group’s annual reports, financial statements, half
year reports and quarterly reports; (b) To serve as a focal point for
communication between Directors, the external auditors and internal
auditors; (c) To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
system; and (d) To review the appointment of external auditors on
an annual basis as well as to ensure independence of the continuing
auditors.

In 2011, the audit committee held four meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the audit committee is set out below:

TRER®RE
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Attendance
Hh e 22
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong (Chairman) 4/4
CEFLLT (EE)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 4/4
BEERE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 4/4
FzREE

At the meetings, the audit committee has carefully reviewed the
Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The
audit committee also carried out and discharged its other duties set
out in HKSE Code. In the course of doing so, the audit committee
has met the company’s management and qualified accountant
several times during year 2011. Each member of the audit committee
has unrestricted access to the Group’s external auditors and the
management.
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During the financial year 2011, the audit committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2011 have been reviewed
and commented by the audit committee members.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2011, the Directors have:

° adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

° made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in all corporate communications.

Internal Control

The Board, through the audit committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over
financial, operational and compliance issues for the year 2011. The
audit committee concluded that, in general, the Group has set up a
sound control environment and installed necessary control
mechanisms to monitor and correct non-compliance. The Board,
through the review of the audit committee, is satisfied that the Group
in 2011, fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls
as set forth in the code.

In order to maintain a high quality of corporate governance, the Group
employed a Qualified Accountant in current year and will still employ
a Qualified Accountant in the coming years. The audit committee
also concluded that the Group has employed sufficient staff for the
propose of accounting, financial and internal control.
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External Auditors

CCIF CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company with effect
from 25 July 2012 and HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited were
appointed as auditors of the Company on 25 July 2012 to fill the
casual vacancy so arising. There have been no other change of
auditors in the past three years. The audit committee is mandated
to ensure continuing auditors’ objectivity and safeguard
independence of the auditors, and it has:

° determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide;
and

° agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2011, the fees paid to the Company’s external auditors for
providing audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB663,000 and RMB332,000 respectively.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
EENSNEEEBEER

DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang, aged 48, has been appointed as chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the compliance officer of the Company
since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 2006, Mr. Wang
was an executive director of Tianjin Tianlian Public Utilities Company
Limited (“Tianjin Tianlian”), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8290), and was
responsible for its business strategies. He graduated from the
University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in engineering in 1984.
Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason Investment Group
Company Limited (KBTI IE E S B AR 2 F]). Mr. Wang is a
substantial shareholder of the company which holds 1,101,572,118
Shares in person or through controlled corporation, representing
approximately 27.94% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report. In addition, Mr. Wang is interested as a
grantee of options to subscribe for 2,500,000 shares under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011 and as a
holder of convertible bonds convertible to 1,119,230,769 conversion
shares.

Mr. Feng San Li, aged 55, has been appointed as an executive
Director and chief executive director since June 2011. Mr. Feng is a
geologist with more than 28 years’ experience in China’s coal and
coalbed methane industry. Previously, he was engaged as the deputy
general manager and chief geologist of China United Coalbed
Methane Company Ltd., and was subsequently promoted as the
general manager between 1999 and 2010. Before 1999, he was the
chief engineer of Henan Coal Geology Bureau. Mr. Feng graduated
from the Changchun College of Geology with a bachelor degree in
geology in 1982. He is currently the committee member of the China
Coal Society, director of the Coalbed Methane Specialised Committee
China Coal Society, the member of the Oil & Gas Reserve Evaluation
Division of Ministry of Land and Resources. Mr. Feng is interested
as a grantee of options to subscribe for 2,500,000 shares under the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011.
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Mr. Shi Liang, aged 43, has been appointed as an executive Director
since May 2006. Mr. Shi graduated with a bachelor degree in Material
Science in the Shanghai University of Science and Technology of
the PRC and a master degree in management from the Business
School of the People’s University in the PRC. He was a vice general
manager of Tianjin Tianlian. He had worked for Jiangsu Nan Tong
Electric Melter Company and Electronic Industrial Division Basic
Products Department. He had also worked for Jiangsu Hua Yong
Electronic Group Company as deputy manager of international
cooperation department and secretary to the board of directors. He
had also held various positions as a project manager, senior manager
and an assistant to executive director in the investment banking of
United Securities Limited, a securities company in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Qing Lin, aged 61, joined the Company in the year of
2007. He graduated from the Tianjin Industrial University* (K% T 3
KE), (formerly known as The Institute of Tianjin Textile Industry* (<
R4 K T % E267)) in 1980. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang has
extensive working experience in corporate management. Mr. Zhang
is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for 2,500,000 shares
under the share options scheme adopted by the Company on 18
May 2011.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang, aged 45, has years of experiences in the natural
gas sector. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited, where was pointed as an executive
Director. Mr. Fu is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for
2,500,000 shares under the share options scheme adopted by the
Company on 18 May 2011.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Wei Kun, aged 73, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. He graduated from the
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in
1964 and started postgraduate studies in the same year. He was
awarded a postgraduate diploma in civil engineering in 1967. He
acted as a technician in Wuhan Branch of the Chinese Medicine
Industrial Limited during 1968 to 1969 and as a technician, deputy
section chief, section chief, engineer and vice chief engineer in the
State Ministry of Medicine - Hubei Medical Manufactory Branch
during 1969 to 1985. He then worked as a senior engineer, section
chief and assistant factory manager in Tianjin Second Coal Gas
Factory during 1986 to 1992. From 1992 to 2000, he acted as a
vice chief engineer in Tianjin Utility Department and at the same time,
worked as a chief engineer in Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office.
After his retirement in March 2000, Mr. Luo acted as a consultant of
Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office and Tianjin City Gas Planning
Office. Currently, he is an independent non-executive director of
Tianjin Tianlian.

Ms. Pang Yuk Fong, aged 46, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since August 2006. She is an
experienced Practicing certified public accountant in Hong Kong with
over 23 years’ professional experience in the accounting and auditing.
She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. Ms. Pang holds a master of professional accounting
degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Pang’s
professional career started in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. She has
been the principal partner in Y. F. Pang & Co., Certified Public
Accountants since 1990’s and the managing director of AMC First
Plan International Limited which is engaged in business advisory
services in the Asia Pacific region. Ms. Pang was appointed by the
Cuilong Copper International Holding Limited in 2006 as its
independent non-executive director.
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Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 64, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal Industry
in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital Management
Division and State-owned Assets Management department. In
October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a chief accountant
of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and worked as a
deputy general manager and chief accountant in May 1999. Mr. Wang
was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited and worked as
a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has years of relevant
experience.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lui Chi Keung, aged 54, has been appointed as the company
secretary, qualified accountant and authorised representative of the
Company since September 2007. Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Lui has over 29 years of experience in auditing, accounting,
financial and business management.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 61 to 62.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December
2011 are set out in the consolidated and company statements of
financial position on pages 64 to 65 and page 66 respectively. The
cash flows of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
cash flows on pages 68 to 70.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 32(b) to the financial statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in page 67 and note 32(a) to the financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share
premium, translation reserve and accumulated losses which in
aggregate amounted to approximately RMB773,041 as at 31
December 2011 (2010: RMB367,404,000). The distributable reserves
are available for distribution provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able
to pay off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)

Mr. Feng San Li (Chief executive officer)
(appointed on 17 June 2011)

Mr. Shi Liang

Mr. Zhang Qing Lin

Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Ms. Pang Yuk Fong
Mr. Wang Zhi He

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, Mr. Shi Liang and Mr. Zhang Qing Lin shall
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors
is the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company.

Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 33 to
page 36 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

On 6 April 2011, the Company (as purchaser) entered into an
acquisition agreement (as supplemented by a supplementary
agreement dated 25 May 2011) with Mr. Wang, an executive Director
and substantial shareholder of the Company, (as vendor) (“the
Acquisition Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to acquire and Mr. Wang conditionally agreed to sell the 100%
issued share capital of Wealthy Talent Global Investments Limited
for a consideration of HK$499,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB420 million) (the “Acquisition”). The consideration was satisfied
upon completion by the Company by the issue of the convertible
bonds to Mr. Wang or its nominee(s) which shall be a company
controlled by him. Based on the conversion price at HK$0.26 and
assuming full conversion, 1,919,230,769 conversion shares would
be allotted and issued. The Acquisition Agreement constituted a
major and connected transaction of the Company. For details, please
refer to the announcement and the circular of the Company dated 6
April 2011 and 30 May 2011 respectively. The Acquisition Agreement
was approved by the shareholders of the Company on 20 June 2011.
The Acquisition was completed on 12 July 2011. As at the date of
this report, 800,000,000 conversion shares have been alloted to Mr.
Wang.
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Save as disclosed above, no other contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business subsisted at the year-end or any time during
the year to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of
this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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(a) Long positions in shares, underlying shares (a) RZA 2 TR % - HHEAR D

and debentures of the Company RESZHRE
Number of
ordinary shares/
Nature of underlying  Approximate %

Name Capacity Interest shares of shareholdings

EERGHE FREAD

%A 0} ERtE RO EE Bkl

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Interest of controlled Corporate interest 120,790,000 3.06%

corporation (Note 1)

FRBLEA R AEE S NEIER (M3
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Beneficial owner Personal 2,102,512,887 53.33%

(Note 2)

FRBEE EmEBA & A (BrzE2)
Mr. Zhang Qing Lin Beneficial Owner Personal 2,500,000 0.06%

(Note 3)

sREB ML & EnfEBA EA (Bt7E3)
Mr. Feng San Li Beneficial Owner Personal 2,500,000 0.06%

(Note 4)

/=R EnBA PN (MH5E4)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang Beneficial Owner Personal 2,500,000 0.06%

(Note 5)

RIS 4 EmEBA & A (Bt7E8)

Notes: BieE -

1. Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited. 1. ZEBRNBBEREBRAREE -
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital THEBALEREEEEREERATEEH
of Jumbo Lane Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested TR Z2100% s - IRIEEEENE
in the shares owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited pursuant ST1EFZF MEEEOIEXVE - £ HE
to Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of EEHERANEEIRABRARRE 2
the Laws of Hong Kong). f&tn R HEE R o
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2. Out of the 2,102,512,887 long positions, Mr. Wang is interested as
(i) a grantee of options to subscribe for 2,500,000 shares under the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011;
(i) a holder of convertible bonds convertible to 1,119,230,769
conversion shares; and (i) a beneficial owner of 980,782,118 issued
shares of the Company.

3. Mr. Zhang Qing Lin is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe
for 2,500,000 shares under the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 18 May 2011.

4. Mr. Feng San Li is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe
for 2,500,000 shares under the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 18 May 2011.

5. Mr. Fu Shou Gang is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe
for 2,500,000 shares under the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 18 May 2011.

TREDRUTANEREE Z
2,102,512,887f& & H < 4T & - ()RR HE
ZHERBEAN BAARBARFTR
—E——FA A+ N \BRANBRET
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(b) Associated corporations — interests in

(b) B EZE— R HERE

shares
Percentage of
interests in
the registered
capital of the
Name of Nature of associated
Director associated corporation Interest corporation
EEAE) 7S
EfERZ
= HE LB S8 EEME KRB
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Jumbo Lane Investments Limited Personal 100%
(Note 1)
FRBLEA BEERERRAR (PFeE 1) PN
Note: M EE
1. Jumbo Lane Investments Limited is a holding Company of the 1, EEREERAFAAASEMNIZERA

Group, owns 3.06% of the shareholding of the Group. Mr. Wang
owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the period.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
PERSONS WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND
OPTIONS UNDER SFO

As at the 31 December 2011, so far as is known to the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company, the following persons, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or a short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of
the Group, or held any option in respect of such capital:

Long positions in shares

TERRERARGOKREBERE
BEERBEEZRBEREA
FHRECEZERKRBEZAL

RZE——F+ZA=+—H0 ®EARRE
ERFETHRAEMA - THAL(RQFA
EENEBITHRABRIN R MD RAERER
DR EAREES RIS GG EXVIE2 R
SPHEMARABEE  EmIOAR - HE
o EEEE SRR EMER TER
SETMEMKE AR ZBRERS LIEE
EAERIMAREE10% s bA £ 2 ok
B R AERERAZBRE

B zFR

Percentage of

Name Number of Shares Nature of Interest shareholding

®E v 4= ERME BEREDH

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Note 1) 120,790,000 Interest of controlled 3.06%

corporation

F A A (FiFE1) RN L

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Note 2) 2,102,512,887 Personal 53.33%
F AL (fi5E2) & A

Ms. Zhao Xin (Note 3) 120,790,000 Interest of spouse 3.06%

HE 2+ (M5E3) B (8 2 #E

Ms. Zhao Xin (Note 4) 2,102,512,887 Interest of spouse 53.33%

HE 2+ (MY5E4) B (8 2

Edmond de Rothschild Asset Management 198,690,000 Investment Manager 5.04%
Hong Kong Limited (Note 5) (Ff 5£5) WEKE

Edmond de Rothschild Asset Management 198,690,000 Investment Manager 5.04%
(Note 6) (Fft7£6) AR

Notes: ME -

1. Such shares represent the same parcel of shares owned by Jumbo Lane 1.  IWERMDEHEEREERAREEZE— ?tt

Investments Limited. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the beneficial owner of the
100% of the total issued share capital of Jumbo Lane Investments Limited.
Mr. Wang is taken to be interested in the shares owned by Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited pursuant to the SFO.
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2. Out of the 2,102,512,887 long positions, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is
interested as (i) a grantee of options to subscribe for 2,500,000 shares
under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011;
(i) a holder of convertible bonds convertible to 1,119,230,769 conversion
shares; and (jii) a beneficial owner of 980,782,118 issued shares of the
Company.

3. Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be
interested in her spouse’s interest in the Company which represent the
same parcel of shares held by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited pursuant
to the SFO.

4. Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be
interested in her spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

5. Such shares in long position were held in the capacity as investment
manager.
6. Edmond de Rothschild Asset Management is deemed to be interested in

198,690,000 Shares through its controlling corporation, Edmond de
Rothschild Asset Management Hong Kong Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011 no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Long Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at
no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children or chief
executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 28 July 2003 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 17 May 2021. On 30 May
2011, the Board approved to grant options in respect of 258,300,000
ordinary shares to the Company’s Directors, employees and
consultants under the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options that had been granted remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme prior to its
termination.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the

circular of the company dated 20 April 2011 and note 33 to the
financial statements.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with
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RIBRIER ERBIFAIRES BB RENE

the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BT
Share price of
Cancelled/ the Company
Asat Granted Exercised lapsed As at Exercise as at the date
Name and category 1 January during the during the during the 31 December  Date of grant of Exercise period of price per of grant of
of participants 2011 period period period 211 share options share options  share option  share options
R-B--f NERE
BuENE R-%--% 2l gh BhdE/ T8 ERE ShERR =k
REH -A-8 ERE Bfif XM =t-f =k ERETES ke ALIRE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 30/5/2011  30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 0.495 0.495
IRERE
Mr. Zhang Qing Lin - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 30/6/2011 30/6/2011 - 29/5/2021 0.49% 0.49%
REMEE
Mr. Fu Shou Gang - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 30/5/2011  30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 0.49% 0.49%
fSmEE
Mr. Feng San Li - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 30/6/2011 30/6/2011 - 29/56/2021 0.49% 0.495
BoixE
- 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
Employees - 48,280,000 - (45900000 43,690,000 30/6/2011 30/5/2011-29/6/2021 0.49% 0.4%
8
Consultants - 200,020,000 - - 200,020,000 30/6/2011 30/5/2011-29/6/2021 0.49% 0.49%
Bl
- 258,300,000 - (45900000 253,710,000
TEHEREEREEREEEEARAT 47
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Notes: B 5E -

()  The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the period are ()  EfRFE 2 B HEAER MIEGNT ¢
as follows:

Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
BREHKE BB R BRESHEH

Options granted:

ERHERE
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—ZE——FRA=1H B 5 +F
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first and second anniversaries 10 years
of grant date

—ZT——FRA=+A RERBMcEERE _ERFEER—F +4

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows: (i)  FEREZ B Mg FHTFEEDT ¢

Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
MEFIGITERE BREZR
HK$
BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2011 R-ZE——F—A—BXRTE — —
Granted during the period HABEEH 0.495 258,300,000
Outstanding as at 31 December 2011 R -ZT——F+ - F=+—HBK/T{F 0.495 253,710,000
Exercisable as at 31 December 2011 R-ZT——F+-_A=+—HA/17{& 0.495 215,220,000
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2011 had an exercise price RZE——F+ZA=t+—RAZRITEERE
of HK$0.495 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 9.4 ZATR(ER0.4958TT - R T 2 METFHEL
years. FHH.4F
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MATERIAL EVENTS

Very Substantial Acquisition — Finance Lease
Arrangement

On 2 December 2010, (1) Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai Energy
Development Company Limited (“Qinshui Energy”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company; and (2) Shanxi Wanzhi Logistics
Limited (“Shanxi Logistics”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into, among other things, the five finance
lease agreements respectively with CIMC Vehicle Financial Leasing
Company Limited (“CIMC Vehicle”), pursuant to which Qinshui Energy
and Shanxi Logistics conditionally agreed to lease from CIMC Vehicle,
and CIMC Vehicle conditionally agreed to lease to Qinshui Energy
and Shanxi Logistics, certain assets including LNG tanks, gasified
system and equipment, LNG trailer, towing vehicles and LNG refill
stations respectively for a total lease consideration of
RMB95,460,930 for a term of 36 months by monthly installments
inclusive of interest determined based on the prevailing lending
interest rate promulgated by People’s Bank of China (the “Finance
Lease Arrangement”). However, the total lease consideration would
be adjusted due to the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated
by The People’s Bank of China from time to time.

The Finance Lease Arrangement constituted a very substantial
acquisition for the Company under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing
Rules and therefore was subject to reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements. The Finance Lease
Arrangement was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 14 February 2011. For detalils,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 7
December 2010 and 12 January 2011 respectively, and the circular
of the Company dated 24 January 2011.
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Discloseable Transaction — Acquisition of
Coalbed Liquefying Facilities

On 16 February 2011, Qinshui Energy entered into a contract with
Liaoning Harbin Shenleng Gas Liquefying Equipment Company
Limited (EZEIB XL RERIEZEBR A F), in relation to the
acquisition of the coalbed liquefying facilities with a production
capacity of 25 x 10* Sm?/day to be located at the construction site
of coalbed liquefying project, Qinshui County, Jincheng City, Shanxi
Province, PRC (P B LU FEE Wm0k G K ERKIIEE Tib) at
an anticipated total consideration of RMB56,600,000. The acquisition
constituted a discloseable transaction of the Company. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 February
2011.

The Placing

The Company and the placing agent, Vision Finance International
Company Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into the placing
agreement on 26 February 2011, whereby the Company conditionally
agreed to place, through the Placing Agent, on a best efforts basis,
a maximum of 326,830,000 shares (“Placing Shares”) to independent
investors at a price of HK$0.225 per share (the “Placing”).

The Placing Shares represent (i) approximately 14.48% of the then
issued share capital of the Company of 2,256,675,023 shares; and
(ii) approximately 12.65% of the Company’s issued share capital of
2,583,505,023 shares as enlarged by completion of the Placing.

The Placing was completed on 17 March 2011. The maximum net
proceeds from the Placing of approximately HK$71.21 million has
been and will be used for the existing joint venture investment and
general working capital of the Group. For details of the Placing, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26 February 2011
and 17 March 2011 respectively.
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The Placing and Top-up Subscription

On 4 August 2011, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng and Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited (“Jumbo Lane”) entered into a placing agreement
which was subsequently supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 5 August 2011 (the “Placing Agreement”) with Kingsway
Financial Services Group Limited and Vision Finance International
Company Limited (collectively the “Placing Agents”), both as placing
agents. On the same date, the Company, Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane
entered into a top-up subscription agreement which was
subsequently supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 5
August 2011 (the “Subscription Agreement”). Mr. Wang is an
executive Director, and both Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane were
substantial shareholders of the Company at the time of entering of
and completion of the Placing Agreement and the Subscription
Agreement.

Pursuant to the Placing Agreement and the Subscription Agreement,
the Placing Agents agreed to place, on behalf of Mr. Wang and Jumbo
Lane and on a best effort basis, an aggregate of up to 400,000,000
existing Shares (of which 200,000,000 Shares were from Jumbo
Lane and 200,000,000 Shares were from Mr. Wang) at the placing
price of HK$0.60 per Share; and Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane
respectively and conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company conditionally agreed to issue and allot, an aggregate of
up to 400,000,000 new shares at the subscription price of HK$0.60
per subscription share (altogether the “Placing and the Subscription”).
The Placing and the Subscription were completed on 10 August
2011 and 17 August 2011 respectively. An aggregate of 244,000,000
Shares were successfully placed by Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane at
the Placing Price of HK$0.60 per Share and an aggregate of
244,000,000 Shares were issued and alloted by the Company to
Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane at the subscription price of HK$0.6 per
Share. For details of the Placing and Subscription, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 5 August 2011 and 17
August 2011 respectively.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Major and Connected Transaction Involving
Issue of Convertible Bonds

On 6 April 2011, the Company (as purchaser) entered into an
acquisition agreement (as supplemented by a supplementary
agreement dated 25 May 2011) with Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, an
executive Director and substantial shareholder of the Company, (as
vendor) (“the Acquisition Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Company conditionally agreed to acquire and Mr. Wang conditionally
agreed to sell the 100% issued share capital of Wealthy Talent Global
Investments Limited for a consideration of HK$499,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB420 million) (the “Acquisition”). The
consideration was satisfied upon completion by the Company by
the issue of the convertible bonds to Mr. Wang or its nominee(s)
which shall be a company controlled by him. Based on the conversion
price at HK$0.26 and assuming full conversion, 1,919,230,769
conversion shares will be allotted and issued. The Acquisition
Agreement constituted a major and connected transaction of the
Company. For details, please refer to the announcement and the
circular of the Company dated 6 April 2011 and 30 May 2011
respectively.

The Acquisition Agreement was approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company on 20 June 2011. The Acquisition
was completed on 12 July 2011. As at the date of this report,
800,000,000 conversion share has been issued and allotted to Mr.
Wang.
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Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreements, Mr. Wang has warranted
to the Company that, subject to the terms of the Acquisition
Agreements, the adjusted consolidated net profit after tax and
excluding the amortisation of intangible assets of the Wealthy Talent
Group (the “Net Profit”) for the financial years ended 31 December
2011 and 2012 shall not be less than RMB30,000,000 and
RMB40,000,000 respectively (the “Warranted Profit”). In the event
that the actual Net Profit is less than the Warranted Profit (the
“Shortfall”) for the financial year ending 31 December 2011, Mr. Wang
shall pay to the Company a total sum of 14 times of the Shortfall
after the determination of the actual Net Profit for the year ending 31
December 2011. In the event that the actual Net Profit is less than
the Warranted Profit for the financial year ending 31 December 2012,
Mr. Wang shall pay to the Company a total sum of 10.5 times of the
Shortfall after the determination of the actual Net Profit for the year
ending 31 December 2012. The payment will be satisfied by means
of cancellation of outstanding the New Convertible Bonds held by
Mr. Wang. If the principal value of the New Convertible Bonds held
by Mr. Wang is less than the amount payable, the payment shall be
made in cash. The independent non-executive Directors, having
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Wealthy Talent
Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and relevant
agreements on compensation income, are of the opinion that Mr.
Wang has fulfilled his obligations in relation to the Warranted Profit
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.

Continuing Connected Transaction — Supply
of Liquefied Natural Gas

During the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 March 2011 (the
“Period”), Qinshui Energy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;,
supplied LNG to Luoyang Shunhe, a connected person of the
Company, in the aggregate amount of not more than RMB12 million
(the “Transaction”).

During the Period, Luoyang Shunhe was wholly-owned by Mr. Wang
Zhong Sheng, an executive Director and a substantial shareholder.
Therefore, Luoyang Shunhe was a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 20.11 of the GEM Listing Rules. According to Rule
20.14 of the GEM Listing Rules, the supply of liquefied natural gas
to Luoyang Shunhe during the Period constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.
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As each of the percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) for the
Transaction is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the Transaction
shall be subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. On 28 March 2011, the
Directors had noted the omission to comply with the reporting and
announcement requirement of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of
the Transaction, however, the non-compliance had been rectified
accordingly. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 March 2011.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 53.5% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 13.9% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review together
accounted for approximately 78.1% of the Group’s total purchases
for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 41.6% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders
of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers above mentioned.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A customer initiated claims against a subsidiary of the Group for
compensation of approximately RMB6,954,000 arising from alleged
failure on the part of the subsidiary to supply gas under contract.
The Directors of the Company consider, based on the legal advice
obtained from the Group’s legal counsel, that the subsidiary has a
valid defence against the above claim and, accordingly, no provision
has been made in these financial statement in relation to these
proceedings.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company had outstanding convertible bonds convertible to
1,119,230,769 conversion shares and outstanding options to
subscribe for 253,710,000 shares under the share option scheme
adopted on 18 May 2011. Details are disclosed in note 30 and note
33 to the financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

On 17 March 2011, the Company allotted and issued 326,830,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each by way of a placement at HK$0.225
per share for cash. For details, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 26 February 2011 and 17 March 2011
respectively.

On 17 August 2011, the Company allotted and issued 244,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each under a top-up subscription at
HK$0.60 per share for cash. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 5 August 2011 and 17 August
2011.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2011,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company nor any or its
subsidiaries.
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APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Feng San Li was appointed as the executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 17 June 2011,

CHANGE OF THE COMPANY’'S NAME

The Board announced on 11 July 2011 that it proposed to change
the English name of the Company from “China Leason Investment
Group Co., Limited” to “China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group
Company Limited” and the Chinese name of the Company from “A
BRI ERERRAR o PEBEEERECREXSESR
RAa]”

The special resolution for the change of Company name was passed
by the shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 17 October 2011. The Certificate of Incorporation
on Change of Name was issued by the Registrar of Companies in
Cayman Island on 20 October 2011 and the change of the English
and Chinese names of the Company has become effective from 20
October 2011.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

The Board announced on 28 February 2012 that the Company
entered into a Framework Agreement (the “Cooperating Agreement”)
on co-operation with Longmen Hui Cheng Investment Limited (5€F9
[ER & AR A7) (“Longmen Hui Cheng”) - a privately-owned
company of the renowned Kadoorie Family in Hong Kong. By
leveraging on our years of experience of exploitation, liquefaction
and marketing of coalbed methane gas together with the substantial
capital strength and plentiful coalbed methane gas resources in
Hancheng, Shaanxi Province, PRC, of Longmen Hui Cheng, we hope
to form a vertically integrated alliance to cover all the upstream,
midstream and downstream areas in the coalbed methane gas value
chain which would be beneficial to both parties. Both parties have
agreed that a joint working group will be formed immediately following
the signing of the agreement to push forward the subsequent signing
of a formal agreement.
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As at the said date of this report, no binding agreement in relation to
the cooperation project under the Cooperating Agreement has been
entered into and the said cooperation project may or may not
proceed. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 February 2012.

AUDITORS

CCIF CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company with effect
from 25 July 2012 and HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited were
appointed as auditors of the Company on 25 July 2012 to fill the
casual vacancy so arising. There have been no other change of
auditor in the past three years.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

3 October 2012
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Bl #F &<t 6 5% /% F R A 4

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HL

Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

To the shareholders of China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group
Company Limited

(Formerly known as China Leason Investment Group Co., Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 61 to 238, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER 58 5 5 18
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2(b) tothe BEEZUVEREER @ MESEBRRE
'iﬂ/\

consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group ¥ ' &AM EMEKRMF20) R EBEER
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB49,335,000 and net (2 ——F T+ A=1+—HIEFEHE
operating cash outflows of approximately RMB34,887,000 during  JH/E1E4) A R#£49,335,0007T M F &L IR &
the year ended 31 December 2011 and, as of that date, the Group’s i H#) A E#34,887,0007T * MR B HA -

current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately SEEMNRSEBEERSHEEZHHAR
RMB25,475,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a  #25,475,0007C » #Z Sk R R FAENT
material uncertainly that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ~ #EE M » HAJfe S AE BB ELLHEENE

ability to continue as a going concern. MEKREEM -

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited EEEtMEXTERAT

Chartered Accountants HE AT & AT AN

Certified Public Accountants BENZESEAD

Jonathan T. S. Lai RIEH

Practising Certificate Number: P04165 (BBREFERI - P04165)

Hong Kong, 3 October 2012 BE —_E-—-F+A=H
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HLLFE

2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR® TR ARBETT

Continuing operations BEREER
Turnover R 5 253,849 230,989
Cost of sales $HE R AR (239,678) (205,256)
Gross profit EF 14,171 25,733
Other revenue and net income H bz ROF WA 6 36,115 138
Distribution costs ol =D N (1,733) (4,186)
Administrative expenses THAX (59,329) (29,187)
Other operating expenses Hih g (4,260) (648)
Finance costs BhE R A 7(c) (8,762) (9,681)
Gain on remeasuring existing interest in - AU M EF 5T £

an available-for-sale investment AHHERE

on acquisition MAEERE 2 W 35(b) - 4,960
Fair value gain on other financial assets Hth & @& E 2

N EN S 23 17,051 —

Fair value (loss)/gain on the derivative AJH#2R&EHLTE D 2

component of convertible bonds AFE(E518) = 30 (6,487) 3,223
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE 16 (21,492) —
Loss before taxation BrBi AT BT 1B 7 (34,726) (9,648)
Income tax Fris i 8(a) (14,609) (871)
Loss for the year from continuing REZELEEK

operations REEEE (49,335) (10,519)
Discontinued operations ERIEREEK 11
Loss for the year from discontinued ~ RE B4R |HEEEK 2

operations RFEEBE - (11,947)
Loss for the year REEEIE (49,335) (22,466)
RN EREEAEREEARAT 61
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For the year ended 31 December 2011 HEZ T ——F+_A=+—HLFE

2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hr=3 AR T ARBETT
Attributable to: T3 e, -
Equity shareholders of the Company A2 &) #E 25 A% R (45,016) (20,493)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 2 (4,319) (1,973)
(49,335) (22,466)
RMB RMB
AR AR
Loss per share SREA 14

From continuing and discontinued REGELEEEBR

operations ERIEEEEK

— Basic — ERK (1.53) cents 2 (1.17) cents 2

— Diluted — e (1.53) cents 7 (1.17) cents %
From continuing operations REFELSEER

— Basic — HK (1.53) cents % (0.49) cents 7

— Diluted — B (1.53) cents % (0.49) cents 7

#

The notes on pages 71 to 238 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HEZE—_FT——F+_A=+—HLFE

2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBETT
Loss for the year rEEEBER (49,335) (22,466)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEEmUBA
for the year
Exchange differences on translation #2335 SMii & 2 7]
of financial statements of EUp e
foreign subsidiaries E R =% 2,231 2,195
Reclassification adjustments FALEZ
relating to foreign operations INETE 2
disposed of during the year EFDEAE - (1,884)
2,231 311
Total comprehensive expense AEEZHBAXERE
for the year (47,104) (22,155)
Total comprehensive expense TH ALEMN
attributable to: T EBZEE
Equity shareholders of the Company RAFERRR (42,785) (20,182)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR A 2 (4,319) (1,973)
(47,104) (22,155)

The notes on pages 71 to 238 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE BRI R

At 31 December 2011 R =ZE——%+_-HA=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5T AR® TR AREFT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Goodwill EES 16 269,637 133,308
Property, plant and equipment L EN T Y ] 17(a) 481,040 295,428
Prepaid lease payments for land BB TIEN
under operating leases TS 18 35,119 29,294
Intangible assets | EE 19 395,474 156,502
Deposits and prepayments e R FIE 20 33,682 22,673
Derivative component of ]mRES
convertible bonds PTEE D 30 - 6,621
Deferred tax assets BEEBIREE 31(b) 189 302
1,215,141 644,128
Current assets REBEE
Prepaid lease payments for land BB TIEN
under operating leases TS 18 810 673
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEFABRZZ
through profit or loss TREE 22 200 —
Other financial assets EtmemERE 23 17,051 —
Inventories rE 24(a) 2,597 2,062
Trade and other receivables JEUREE R R U GRIE 25 138,758 42,182
Tax recoverable AT Y =l F 18 31(a) 687 687
Cash and cash equivalents HekBE2EED 26 21,698 23,567
181,801 69,171
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JERERZ R EMERRIE 27 127,400 108,015
Bank and other borrowings due within — & R % 8 2 17 &
one year HEMfE 28 62,900 60,000
Obligations under finance leases B E T AR IE 29 3,420 —
Tax payable JERTHR IR 31(a) 13,556 621
207,276 168,636
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (25,475) (99,465)
Total assets less current liabilities & EBAEBEE 1,189,666 544,663
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
rE ISR R R

At 31 December 2011 R—_E——F+_A=+—H

2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hr=3 AR® TR ARBETT
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Bank borrowings |ITER 28 - 8,000
Obligations under finance leases & R A AR E 29 4,256 —
Convertible bonds ARk ES 30 - 43,137
Deferred tax liabilities ELFIEE & 31(0) 104,013 39,198
108,269 90,335
Net assets EEFRE 1,081,397 454,328
Capital and reserves EXRfFE
Share capital &N 32(b) 34,828 20,681
Reserves i 1,017,594 412,353
Equity attributable to equity shareholders 72X /A &) # 25 IX B8
of the Company FE(EHE = 1,052,422 433,034
Non-controlling interests PRI = 28,975 21,294
Total equity R 1,081,397 454,328
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EEEW —ZT— —F+ 5= B fELEET
3 October 2012. % o

Wang Zhong Sheng
ey
Director

EF

The notes on pages 71 to 238 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position Bt #& ik R &

At 31 December 2011 R—_ZE——&+_-_A=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=2 AR TR AREFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R RHRE 17(b) 1,529 1,634
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIEE 21 879,550 326,455
Derivative component of AR ESITES D
convertible bonds 30 - 6,621
881,079 334,710
Current assets REBEE
Other financial assets EtmemERE 23 17,051 —
Trade and other receivables JEURER R b fE UL ERIR 25 185,034 144,593
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEEEED 26 6,065 7,658
208,150 152,251
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables ERBRR R b B 3kIE 27 9,540 2,439
Tax payable AN 31(a) 56 —
9,596 2,439
Net current assets RBEESRE 198,554 149,812
Total assets less current liabilities BAEERAREBEE 1,079,633 484,522
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Convertible bonds AR E 7 30 - 43,137
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEBE 31(b) 2,179 -
2,179 43,137
Net assets EEFRE 1,077,454 441,385
Capital and reserves ERXRfFE
Share capital fi% 75 32(b) 34,828 20,681
Reserves a1 32(a) 1,042,626 420,704
Total equity g 1,077,454 441,385

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on %%@E&:E*:E+HEEl}tt}&&ﬁﬁéﬂ
3 October 2012. e

Wang Zhong Sheng Zhang Qing Lin

By REM
Director Director
2 2

FE71EE238E Z M AR B R H p &

1/\ °

The notes on pages 71 to 238 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERZEER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HEZE—_FT——F+_A=+—HLFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RAARERRES
Share  Convertible Non-
Share Share Merger  Contributed General  Translation option bonds Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
TRRES
ke RORE  AKEE  HARB  -REE  RERE BREGE fE  RiER @it FERER EY 3]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at RZ%-%

1 January 2010 -B-BUES 1201 347,368 0.351) - 5,351 (1014) - o) %730 2507 269,849
Loss for the year TEERE - - - - - - - - (20,499) (20,499) (1973) (22,466)
Other comprehensive income ~ AEE £t

for the year 2ENG - - - - - 311 - - - 311 - 31
Total comprehensive TEERE

income/(expense) for the year Ui/ (B %) 8% - - - - 311 - - (20,499) (20,182) (1973) (22,155)
Issue of new shares EiEl 0

— Share placement - kg 2,395 34,012 - - - - - - - 36,407 - 36,407

— Conversion of - BATAR

convertble bonds B% 5365 103,626 - - - - - B1) N S A
Transaction costs atirbutable ~ Z{T#R 2 &S

to issue of new shares RAHA - (474) - - - - - - - (474) - (474)
Recognition of equity component B2 £ B %

of convertble bonds LEEHH - - - - - - - 47,085 - 47,085 - 47,055
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARA - - 2,351 25,160 (5,351) - - - 3,000 25,160 - 25,160
Non-controlling interests arising 48 HB 2 713/ 5

from acouisition of subsidiaries 2 FF kiR - - - - - - - - - - 20,740 20,740
Balance at RoE-%F

31 December 2010 TZAZ+-Bk

and 1 January 2011 5%

-f-BHER 20,681 484532 - 265,160 - (708) - 15,810 (112,446) 433,034 21,204 454,328
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - (45,016) (45,016) (4,319) (49,335)
Other comprehensive income R oAt

for the year 2ENE - - - - - 2,231 - - - 2,231 - 2,231
Total comprenensive AEERE

income/(expense) for the year i/ (F%) 2% - - - - - 2,231 - - (45,016)  (42,785) w319 [47,104)
Issue of new shares EGE)

— Share placement - khEE 4,744 176,717 - - - - - - - 181,461 - 181,461

— Conversion of - BATAR

convertible bonds &% 9,403 200,732 - - - - - (188,222) - 43913 - 43913
Transaction costs attrioutable /73R (7 &k

to issue of new shares RABA - (5,615) - - - - - - - (5,615) - (5,615)
Capital contribution by —~HHEBAR

non-controling interests FaRER

of a subsidiary oped - - - - - - - - - - 12,000 12,000
Recognition of equity component 3 R %

of convertible bonds ZE=RAN - - - - - - - 413,621 - 413,621 - 413,621
Equity-settled share based ~ MAREBEHEH

payments BERZAR - - - - - - 28,793 - - 28,793 - 28,793
Lapse of share options EREXT - - - - - - 7 - 47 - - -
Transfer to accumulated losses BEZZ:EE - - - (25,160) - - - - 25,160 - - -
Transfer to general resenve. BEZ-KEE - - - - 1523 - - - (1523) - - -
Balance at R=B--%

31 December 2011 +ZR=1-R

fEs 34,828 878,366 - - 1,523 1,528 28,376 241,209 (133,408) 1,052,422 28975 1,081,397

The notes on pages 71 to 238 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &SR EHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 & =

—E——F+-A=+—BIEE

2011 2010
—2-—fF —ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T AR®EFT
Cash flows from REXBEEZ
operating activities BERE
Loss before taxation BT R &R
From continuing operations REFELEER (34,726) (9,648)
From discontinued operations KBS i’i‘ﬂ:i‘“ EEB - (10,548)
(34,726) (20,196)
Adjustments for: TV ZIEFAE
Depreciation of property, plant and /E SN =95
equipment “1%?)?% 24,590 20,253
Amortisation of prepaid lease KEL TR
payments for land under T Hb A & i
operating leases 738 517
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 25,369 10,485
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 21,492 —
Interest income FEHBA (963) (102)
Loss on disposal of property, plant Hj%%% - B R
and equipment Bl R 1,338 —
Recognition of equity-settled ﬁEE VAR #E 4 u#L/( gn)
share based payments BER AR 18,743 —
Impairment loss on other receivables — H b fE UK BR 3k 2 ol (B &5 18 1,000 -
Net realised and unrealised gains BHHEAFZEBER
on trading securities REIF W FRE = (475)
Fair value gain on other HemEEL
financial assets N EW S (17,051) —
Finance costs & Bk A 8,762 9,749
Gain on remeasuring existing HWEmEHTE
interest in an available-for-sale AHEERE
investment on acquisition WEEZR 2 W - (4,960)
Fair value loss/(gain) on the AR ESITE
derivative component of iz AFE
convertible bonds B8 (a) 6,487 (3,223)
55,779 12,048
Changes in working capital LEEE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories IEN=Y ibﬂ)/f)ﬁQ\ (137) 2,701
Increase in trade and JE AR SR
other receivables Hﬁﬂfﬂﬁl RIAIE N (74,521) (26,375)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and J}“\Tfﬂﬁmﬁﬁﬁ\f‘lﬂféﬂ‘f
other payables D) /18N (11,939) 17,444
Decrease in trading securities B5BEHFRLD - (9,058)
Decrease in deferred income B ARL - (3,234)
Cash used in operations BREXBBRAZRE (30,818) (6,474)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMEH (4,069) (6,982)
Net cash used in operating activities & £K A B L FH (34,887) (13,456)
68 CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &SR EHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HLLFE

2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hr=3 AR® TR ARBETT
Cash flows from investing activities REZBEL CRHERE
Payment for purchase of property, HEWE - HEER
plant and equipment B PANEN (132,778) (32,507)
Proceeds from disposal of property, — HEWE - #eE M ERE
plant and equipment 2 FT1S5IE 600 —
Prepaid lease payments for land AL TN
under operating leases TS - (10,935)
Deposits paid for acquisition of WS - R
property, plant and equipment BB N2 E (10,712) (8,161)
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEKEMANT
interests in land under T Mo RS P S
operating leases ik - (1,987)
Payment for purchase of BETREEZ
financial assets BN (200) —
Interest received 2 F S 963 102
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WK B AR ZHRE
on acquisition of subsidiaries A GRd) F58 35 754 (7,307)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEMBRRZ
of subsidiaries e ML F5E 36 - (34,513)
Net cash used in investing activities REZBFFACEEEHE (141,373) (95,308)
RN EREEAEREEARAT 60
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &SR EHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 HEZE L ——F+ - A=+—HIEFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR® TR ARBETT

Cash flows from financing activities BEZBEL2RERE
Capital contribution by non-controlling — &k B A &) JE4E B #E 5

interests of a subsidiary EOpER= 12,000 —
Proceeds from issue of new shares BT Z TS 08 181,461 36,407
Transaction costs for issue of BTN 2 R SR

new shares (5,615) (474)
Transaction costs for issue of BITAMRES 2

convertible bonds R G KA - (528)
Proceeds from new bank and FTIBIRITREMBRZ

other borrowings Fr{S 3k 38 - 6,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (5,100) —
Interest paid on bank and RITREAMERZ

other borrowings EENEIINSS (5,344) (4,417)
Capital element of finance leases BEMRN 2 BRI D (2,741) —
Interest element of finance leases BB A 2 A B EB D (1,129) -
Net cash generated from METEEEZ

financing activities ReFE 173,532 36,988
Net decrease in cash and ReRBESEEY

cash equivalents AR (2,728) (71,776)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—BA—BZzHER

1 January REEEY 23,567 96,292
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXxEgFH o8

changes 859 (949)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=—B=+—Hxz2

31 December HEeERBREEEY 26 21,698 23,567

The notes on pages 71 to 238 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under
the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the
“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “Corporate Information” section in the annual report.

Pursuant to a special resolution duly passed by the shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on
17 October 2011, the English name of the Company was
changed from “China Leason Investment Group Co., Limited”
to “China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group Company Limited”
and the Chinese name of the Company from “F B B 2% 1% 4 &=
EERAR o “PRBEREERECREXESEGR AR
with effect from 20 October 2011.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale of natural gas
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
discontinued the operations relating to the development and
sales of computer software, resale of computer hardware and
provision of system integration and maintenance services,
further details of which are set out in note 11.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

72

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(b) BT MRmBELE

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2011 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
those disclosed otherwise in the accounting policies
below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TEFHEBE ®

(Continued)

(b) B REHEEE )

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (continuea)

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB49,335,000 and net operating cash outflows of
approximately RMB34,887,000 during the year ended 31
December 2011 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB25,475,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
that the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted
the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group based on the following factors:

(1) Other borrowings comprising RMB10,000,000 and
RMB40,000,000 disclosed in note 28 to the financial
statements were due for repayment on 7 July 2012
and 27 August 2012 respectively in accordance with
the loan agreements entered into between the Group
and a finance company which is a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company (note
43). However, prior to the date of approval of these
financial statements, these borrowings had been
rolled over for a further 12 months and will be due
for repayment on 6 July 2013 and 26 August 2013
respectively. Up to the date of approval of these
financial statements, the finance company has not
indicated its intention to withdraw the credit facilities
granted to the Group;
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(b) I BREHEE )

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (continuea)

Going concern (Continued)

(2) Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, a substantial shareholder,
the chairman and executive director of the Company,
has undertaken not to demand for the repayment of
the amount due to him totalling approximately
RMB7,852,000 as at 31 December 2011 until the
Group is able to do so;

(3)  Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng has confirmed to provide
continuing financial support to the Group to enable
it to continue as a going concern and to settle its
liabilities as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future; and

(4)  Management is formulating, and will implement, cost
saving measures to improve the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future. According, the financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis. Should
the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write-down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the financial statements.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

76

(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into
account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(c) BRI RIFER

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests (continueq)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income/expense for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and Goodwill

(i)

78

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for the
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

— deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

— liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 # %2

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and Goodwill
(Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

— assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liguidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRSs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(d) Business combinations and Goodwill
(Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as
an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Business combinations and Goodwill
(Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

The policy described above is applied to all business
combinations that take place on or after 1 January
2010.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(d) Business combinations and Goodwill
(Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss in the
consolidated income statement. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

() REBRKRAESZ

(e) Other investments in debt and equity

securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in debt and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are
as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
techniques whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as
current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in note 2(t).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2())).

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

84

(f)

(8)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at
fair value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except
where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedge the net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case recognition of any resultant gain
or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2())).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note
2(V)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any
related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
revaluation reserve to retained profits/accumulated losses
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(g) W% > HEERRE ®

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings held for own use  Over the shorter of
unexpired term of the
leases or 30 years

—  Leasehold improvements 2 - 5 years

—  Pipelines 5 - 20 years

—  Plant and machinery 3 -10 years

—  Computer equipment 3 - 5 years

—  Furniture and equipment 3 -10 years

—  Transportation and motor 4 -10 years
vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost includes the costs of construction of the
buildings, the costs of plant and machinery and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these
assets during the period of construction or installation
and testing. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time the relevant assets
are completed and are available for their intended use.
When the assets concerned are brought into use, the
costs are transferred to other property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy
as stated above.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

(h)

86

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of commercially proven development wells but
do not include geological and geophysical costs which
are expensed directly to profit or loss as they are incurred,
is capitalised as coalbed methane development costs
within construction in progress. Coalbed methane
development costs are stated at cost less any identified
impairment loss. Coalbed methane development costs
are classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation on these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Tangible assets acquired for use in well drilling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see note 2(j)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(i)

(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use over their estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with
finite lives as set out above.

Lease assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a
payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Lease assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

88

Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the Group are classified as operating leases,
except that land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building situated
thereon at the inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building is also clearly held under an operating lease.
For these purposes, the inception of the lease is the
time that the lease was first entered into by the
Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets
are included in property, plant and equipment and
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges,
are recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which write-off the
cost of the assets over the term of the relevant lease
or, where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note
2(g). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set out in
note 2(j). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Lease assets (continued)

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals are charged as expenses in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term, except where the property
is classified as an investment property.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

90

(j) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated
at cost or amortised cost or are classified as
available-for-sale securities are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities, the impairment loss
is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying
amount in accordance with note 2(j)(ii). The
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in
accordance with note 2(j)(ii).

For unquoted equity securities carried at cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment
losses for equity securities carried at cost are
not reversed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)  Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)
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For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past
due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 # %2

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continueq)

(i)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity

securities and other receivables (Continued)

—  For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that has been recognised in the fair value
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is
recognised in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and
bills receivable included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery
is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade debtors and bills receivable
directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

94

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

— goodwill;

—  property, plant and equipment;

— prepaid lease payments for land under
operating leases;

— intangible assets;

— deposits and prepayments; and

— deposits for acquisition of interest in land under
operating leases.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use
and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.,
a cash-generating unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

96

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of a cash-
generating unit are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value
in use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continueq)

(iii)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes
2(j)() and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity
securities and unlisted equity securities carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This
is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would
have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates. Consequently, if the
fair value of an available-for-sale equity security
increases in the remainder of the annual period, or
in any other period subsequently, the increase is
recognised in other comprehensive income and not
profit or loss.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Inventories (continued)

(1)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts (see note 2(j)), except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

(m) Convertible bonds

98

Convertible bonds issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of any entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(m) TR ESF @)

(m) Convertible bonds (continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain
liability, conversion option and redemption option
components are classified separately into liability
component, equity component and derivative component
consisting of the redemption option of the Company
respectively. A derivative embedded in a non-derivative
host contract is treated as a separate derivative when its
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those
of the host contract. On initial recognition, the fair value
of the liability component is determined using the
prevailing market interest of similar non-convertible bonds.
The derivative component is carried at fair value on the
statement of financial position with any changes in fair
value being charged or credited to profit or loss in the
period in which the change occurs. The difference
between the proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair values of the liability component and
derivative component related to the redemption option of
the Company is included in equity.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component
of the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The difference between the
interest so calculated and the interest paid is added to
the carrying amount of the liability component. The
derivative is remeasured to fair value through profit or loss
at subsequent reporting dates. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company, remains
in convertible bonds reserve until the embedded option
is exercised (at which time the convertible bonds equity
component will be transferred to share capital and share
premium). Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry date, the balance remaining in convertible bonds
reserve is released to retained profits/accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Convertible bonds (continued)

(n)

100

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method. The portion relating
to the embedded derivative is charged directly to profit to
loss. Transaction costs relating to the equity component
are charged directly to convertible bonds reserve.

If the convertible bonds are redeemed by the Company
before maturity, the Company will allocate the
consideration paid and any transaction costs for the
repurchase or redemption to the liability and equity
components of the instrument at the date of the
transaction. The method used in allocating the
consideration paid and transaction costs to the separate
components is consistent with that used in the original
allocation to the separate components of the proceeds
received by the Company when the convertible instrument
was issued. Once the consideration is allocated, any
resulting gain or loss relating to the liability component is
recognised in profit or loss and the amount of
consideration relating to the equity component is
recognised in equity.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit and loss over the period of the borrowings,
together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 # %2

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and mandatory central
pension schemes organised by the local government
of the PRC government are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated income statement as
incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Employee benefits (continuea)

(i)

102

Share-based payments

Share options granted by the Company to
employees of the Group in an equity-settled share-
based payment arrangement

The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into
accounts the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for
the year under review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vests (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the share option reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to the retained profits/accumulated
losses).
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(q EERA »

(q) Employee benefits (continuea)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options granted to consultant in an equity-
settled share-based payment transactions

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at fair values of the goods or
services rendered, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the goods or
services received are measured by reference to the
fair value of the share options granted. The fair values
of goods or services received are recognised as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets. Corresponding
adjustment has been made to equity (share option
reserve).

(r) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

104

(Continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided that
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the
tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER ®

(Continued)

(r) AEH @

(r) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

HBRRENIEEENBEZHIIN
BB IE T BE /SRR TR T HIRL B 2
ﬁﬁ?iZEmu%%%ﬁ ’?)]J'Fﬁ%m\
THESF N AFERRTOEH
(MEZBIEE TR B ) 2 BE K
BE - RAEBRRHMERRIREM
3R B B = AR el L FE R A
ZREME  NEEAEHED 2
R BEBRRAGETIENAIR
775 SR 8 12 =k 3R AT AR = B R BR
Sh - BRIEBRRAIREE M o

PR 2 RIE T IR & 58 TR A 5
BENBERABZERNEE
A ERAREE XE;M&
maiﬁﬂz%ﬂ—'—u‘l‘ bﬁ—@%
Eé?&ﬁﬁ$ iR o

ELHRIAEEREERSHREH
REZ @ WA T BA T HER
By A A B FFE R B B IAF
@ BIEEITHR - WAl BE A
RABRBOEH - ZFHRKE
Bm -

T§k§”ﬁ2$%% ﬁﬂﬁ

7J
at ©

105




Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESTEHER @

(Continued)
(r) Income tax (Continued) N BB @
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and BIVER #5018 4% 4 N2 3 AE B T8 45 B D
movements therein, are presented separately from each BE2H  HBUEIRTETUHU
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset Hig - EHEBARRFIHALE
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets BIETERBIFNITHE - AT ABVEARS
against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the Company BB ER VAR IE B & SAERK
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set-off AT REOMEHR - BIRNHATRIE &
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the EFEIEANBMTIBAE - RET
following additional conditions are met: MIEBEEKEKIERETEAE
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(t)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sales of computer software and hardware
Revenue is recognised when the Group has
transferred to the customer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods. Revenue
excludes value-added and business taxes, and is
after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

108

Income from provision of maintenance and other
services

Revenue from maintenance and other services is
recognised at the time when the service is
performed.

Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural
gas

Revenue from sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas are recognised when the gas is
delivered and title has passed. Revenue excludes
value-added and business taxes, and is after
deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.

Income from provision of gas supply connection
services

Revenue from provision of gas supply connection
services is recognised when the relevant
construction work is completed and connection
services are rendered.

Income from provision of liquefied coalbed gas
logistics services

Revenue from provision of logistics services is
recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(vii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

(viii) Value-added tax refund

Value-added tax refund is recognised when the
acknowledgement of refund from the PRC Tax
Bureau has been received.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

A government grant that becomes receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the entity with no future related
costs shall be recognised in profit or loss of the
period in which it becomes receivable.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).
The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and the presentation currency is RMB. The
reason for using RMB as a presentation currency is that
the functional currency of the principal entities within the
Group is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was determined.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

(v)

(Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1
January 2005, are translated into RMB at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1
January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate
that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign
operation.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or completed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Segment reporting

(x)

112

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently
measured at the higher of:

— the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

— the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y) Discontinued operations

(2)

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated
income statement, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operations; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

2. FESFHHE ®

(y) RIEREETE

(2)

RIERERBRAREER 2 —
By R2ERReRERER
SEEMEHERERY - ARE
WY FRRBIMELE - SE
REHEBUTIEXBIMELE
ZE—REFE B0 HH—
RAKSEEMERE 2ME R
Al e

MR ERGEDEARE
2 I LR R E A%) -« I
PP RKILEEET L2
B AMEBNE S EAKIE
ZESE

WEB DB RELEE - Blgn
FAEBaREE B2 B

GIoE

— RUIERERBZBRBRE DN
SHEE &

— BUBKRILEEXBIEE

S EMAR - SHERFER
HERANIN L EREZZ
FRILIR B -

BAEAL

(a) MBUT AL BIRZALDZR
ZATZEREAREBEER
i
() PEHIgHERZESAE
E

i) BAKEEEEKRFY

25

(i) BEEBERAEEES

DRI EEEEEMK
E o
113




Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 %2

e+ -A=+—BHIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

114

(z) Related parties (continueq)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i

)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs
and one new Interpretation that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group'’s financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2010

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

(as revised in 2009)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of Right Issues

Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Requirement

HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

The amendments to HK (IFRIC) —
impact on the Group’s financial statements as they were
consistent with policies already adopted by the Group.
HK(IFRIC) Int — 19 has not yet had a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements as these changes will first be
effective as and when the Group enters a relevant transaction
(for example, a debt for equity swap).

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:

— HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) revises the definition of a
related party. As a result, the Group has re-assessed the
identification of related parties and concluded that the
revised definition does not have any material impact on
the Group’s related party disclosures in the current and
previous period. HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) also
introduces modified disclosure requirements for
government-related entities. This does not impact the
Group because the Group is not a government-related

entity.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

Int 14 have had no material

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

SETERAE B

BEESTRAERM T ZEBENE

WEERNERT R —IEH R - FLE
Bﬂ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ$%§&$@n§m

WETHBEERER - Efp - LT
At RSB BRERER -

BANGREER b 223 Y i

ZIBETAR BRI B EREER
U

BEEGHENEUY BEHIRE

(ZEENFLET)

AESENERS HheoE

ZIBEAR

&% (BEREBERE BEE

ZEZEY)— 2B B

F1RZBTA

5 (ABRMBERE AEZIEERSE

“wEBZEE)—%E Af

£19%

55 (BB BREREZES)— 2
BE14R 2B AERNER 2 M B R
RUEEATE  BEAZIEEAR
SEEHEMNZBOR—5 - B4 (B
BWERELZEE) — 2EF 199 MK
HASBUBBRRBEEATE A

EZERHENAEBMETHEERS
(EEERE) SR B -

Hip RIS BT

—  EERHENEU KA -TT

NEBED BEIBEATZER ©
At - AEBEEFTEEEA
T2 HBRITE  BERBZEE
FAIERHASERAHERAT
MR EEATHETETRE
REE - o BESHELE
24 58 (M =ZZTNFER]) MY K
FHEBERB 2 HEREELE
Mo AN AEEIL T EEATER
BB WULEITEHASET &Y

o

U]]

NN
=

1

115




Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

3.

116

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

— Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010 omnibus
standard introduces a number of amendments to the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 Financial instruments:
Disclosures. The disclosures about the Group’s financial
instruments have been conformed to the amended
disclosure requirement. These amendments do not have
any material impact on the classification, recognition and
measurements of the amounts recognised in the financial
statements in the current and previous periods.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretation which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2011 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2009 — 2011 cycle*

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of

Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters'

Amendments to HKFRS 1 Government Loans*

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets'

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities*
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Amendments to HKFRS 9

Mandatory Effective Date of

and HKFRS 7 HKFRS 9 and Transition

Disclosures®

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements*

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements*

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities*

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement*
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EFBERNER @)
(Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of ltems of BEeEAR1R  Hu2EKAEER
Other Comprehensive Income? PACTIEN Z 25
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying BAGHEAR S  BLKRE -
Assets? ZIERIR WEIEEE E
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits* BRGERE19% EERM
(as revised in 2011) (RZE——5FB3])
HKAS 27 Separate Financial Statements* BEAQTENE2IR BUNBHRER
(as revised in 2011) (RZZ——FE&3])
HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint BRI ERF0RE NEELRR
(as revised in 2011) Ventures* (RZZ——F§3]) REREZRE
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and BREHEAER Y HAHeHMAER
Financial Liabilities® ZERA TRAR
HK (IFRIC) — Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production T (ERMERE BRARELERR
Phase of a Surface Mine* EHREZEY) 2 HIBRAAA
— ZBE20 %

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these new and revised standards, amendments
or interpretation is expected to be in the period of initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether those
new and revised standards, amendments or interpretation
would have a significant impact on the Group’s or the
Company’s results of operations and financial position.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 {2 - ——F+ - A=+—HILFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

118

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(@) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)

Estimation of impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying
amount of the Group’s goodwill was approximately
RMB269,637,000 (2010: RMB133,308,000). Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 16.

An impairment charge of approximately
RMB21,492,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December
2011 resulting in the carrying amount of the piped
natural gas CGU located in Guangxi being written
down to its recoverable amount.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Estimation of impairment of intangible assets
The Group performs annual tests on whether there
has been impairment of intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note
2(j). The recoverable amounts of CGUs are
determined based on value in use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates and
assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates,
and other assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying
amount of the Group’s intangible assets
was approximately RMB395,474,000 (2010:
RMB156,502,000).

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and residual values for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 2(g). The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different from previous estimates,
or will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying
amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
was approximately RMB481,040,000 (2010:
RMB295,428,000).
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

120

Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(h). The
determination of the useful lives involves
management’s estimation. The Group re-assesses
the useful life of the intangible assets and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the amortisation in the year
and the estimate will be changed in the future period.

Estimation of impairment of trade and other
receivables

The policy for recognising impairment on receivables
of the Group is based on an evaluation of the
collectibility and ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. If the financial conditions of the Group’s
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional impairment may be required.

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price less the
estimated cost of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. Management
estimates the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. As at 31 December 2011,
the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories was
approximately RMB2,597,000 (2010:
RMB2,062,000).
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(vii) Measurement of convertible bonds

On the issue of convertible bonds, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this
amount is carried as a long-term liability on the
amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The difference between
the proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds
and the fair values of liability and derivative
components is recognised and included in the
convertible bonds reserve, net of transaction costs.
The splitting of the liability, derivative and equity
components requires estimation of the market
interest rate and the use of valuating techniques
(note 30).

(viii) Fair value of derivatives and other financial

instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuating techniques. The Group estimates the fair
value of these financial instruments based on
financial modeling which requires various sources
of information and assumptions. The carrying
amount of the derivative component of convertible
bonds as at 31 December 2011 was RMB Nil (2010:
RMB6,621,000), further details of which are given
in note 30 to these financial statements. The carrying
amount of other financial assets (representing
contingent consideration receivable) as at 31
December 2011 was RMB17,051,000 (2010: Nil),
further details of which are given in note 23 to these
financial statements.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

122

ESTIMATES (continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(ix) Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted to employees
were calculated using the Binomial option pricing
model involving estimates including estimated life
of share options granted, future dividends and

volatility of share price.

(x) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions are
set-up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax

planning strategies.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following critical accounting
judgements:

(i)  Renewal of gas business operating permits

The Group holds certain gas business operating
permits with licence period of 1 to 4 years at date of
issue which will be expired in year 2012 to 2013
and the renewal of which is subject to the approval
by the relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of
the directors, taking into account legal opinion from
the Company’s PRC legal counsel, there are no legal
impediments for the Group to renew its gas business
operating permits upon expiry.

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
goodwill and intangible assets of approximately
RMB269,637,000 (2010: RMB133,308,000) and
RMB395,474,000 (2010: RMB156,502,000)
respectively might be significantly reduced, and the
Group might increase amortisation charges of those
assets where their useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it might write-off or write-
down the carrying amounts of those assets.
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TURNOVER

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied and
services provided to customers, which excludes value-added
and business taxes, and is after deduction of any goods returns
and trade discounts. The amount of each significant category
of revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

EXAE

EEBRATPERHE M IRS 2 H
EE ETERBERIERR I
RINBRAEFR & M TR IIBR
FAREERBREAZSEBEARER
allla- R (U N

2011 2010
—F——-F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Continuing operations BEREER
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BIELHEERIEE 212,067 212,305
Provision of liquefied coalbed gas RERICEER
logistics services Wi AR 7% 13,790 264
Sales of piped natural gas BEBRARHEE
(including provision of gas (BREREH‘EHR
supply connection services) EER) 27,992 18,420
253,849 230,989
Discontinued operations (note 11) B& L& K (HE11)
Sales of computer software BB IEE - 40
Resale of computer hardware BREMEE - 996
Maintenance and other services fees — #E1& & E th iR 7% U B - 4,990
- 6,026
253,849 237,015
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OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

6. Hthlzm K FWA

2011 2010
—E2——F —ZT-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBETT
Continuing operations BEREER
Interest income from bank deposits RITHFE A B WA 102 40
Other interest income H A B A 861 —
Government grants IR T2 Bh
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — REIEMERERR
refund (note 8(a)(i) (MSEE8(@)()) 930 —
Other income (note) HE U A (B5E) 34,222 98
36,115 138
Discontinued operations (note 11) B & IL&EE 2K (KaE11)
Value-added tax refund EETIRN - 401
Net realised and unrealised gains HoFHFIEBERK
on trading securities RERWRFRE - 475
Interest income from bank deposits RITF M B WA - 62
Rental income from FEMERS WA
investment properties - 214
- 1,152
36,115 1,290

M HE—F——F+t_-_A=t+—HLFE
MEMBABERAREREELEM
FEIXRENFHEEROBERALIA
FR#34,060,0007T ° #%# E I MM A
A RUGRSE - B - REERAFE K
HERANRBERAER -

Note: Included in other income for the year ended 31 December 2011
was a compensation income of approximately RMB34,060,000 to
compensate for the shortage of electricity supply in the industrial
zone where the Group operates. There are no other specific
conditions attached to the compensation and, therefore, the Group
recognised the compensation income in profit or loss for the year.
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

126

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

7. RBLAIEE

BRIA 2 BIEEMRIA TSR

2011 2010
—EF——fF —T-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTFT
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@) BINK (BEMF
emoluments in note 9) RHNESHM)
Continuing operations BFEREER
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHMER 16,800 7,835
Retirement benefit scheme RRERE B
contributions 2,174 902
Equity-settled share-based PARR f8 #&5 5 AR 19
payment expenses RER ZNHAX 9,193 -
28,167 8,737
Discontinued operations BRIEEEEE
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHMER - 11,456
Retirement benefit scheme RREREBIHR
contributions - 848
- 12,304
Total staff costs mE TR 28,167 21,041
(b) Other items by HtmERE
Continuing operations BEREEK
Cost of inventories (note 24(b)) 78 2 AN FEE 24(0) 139,330 131,992
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 20 B % B
— audit services — ZHRB 663 693
— other services — H R 332 660
Depreciation of property, ME - HER
plant and equipment HEWE 24,590 19,659
Equity-settled share-based payment BT R BAREE R
expenses in respect of share options Z VAR E DR (9
granted to consultants BERZNHRAX 9,550 —
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ERHTENL
for land under operating leases 2 E 738 453
Amortisation of intangible assets BREESH
(included in cost of sales) (Gt ASHERA) 25,369 10,485
Impairment of other receivables H b MR TR 2 BB
(included in other operating expenses) GTAEMEERS) 1,000 —
Net foreign exchange loss SN &5 48 58 544 26
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE  #ER
plant and equipment HEEEFE
(included in other operating expenses) GTAEMEERS) 1,338 —
Operating lease charges in respect of THREFZ
land and buildings RERNER 1,368 1,374
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

7. BRBIATEE &

BRATZEBEEHNBRIATRIE (8

2011 2010
—E——-F —ET-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBEFT
(b) Other items (Continued) (b) HMEE (B
Discontinued operations ERIEEEEK
Cost of inventories (note 24(b)) HFE 7K FEE24(0) - 7,427
Depreciation of property, W - s R
plant and equipment BEE - 594
Amortisation of prepaid lease LB LTIEN
payments for land under T Hb A & iR
operating leases - 64
Operating lease charges in respect THREFZ
of land and buildings KERNER - 156
(c) Finance costs (c) ®ERK
Continuing operations HEREER
Interest expenses on bank HARAFAREEE
and other borrowings ZIRITIER R E AL
wholly repayable within five years* BEZMERZ" 5,344 4,349
Effective interest expense on AHEBRCER
promissory notes MERX - 2,159
Effective interest expense on AIMRES 2 ER
convertible bonds (note 30) F 8.5 X (9 5E30) 2,289 3,173
Finance charges on obligations REEMAEEZ
under finance leases MEEHA 1,129 —
8,762 9,681
Discontinued operations (note 11) ERIEREEK
(P =E 11)
Interest expenses on bank borrowings ARAFAZHEE
wholly repayable within five years ZIRITER
Z A BRX - 68
Total interest expense on WIEE R FEFTA
financial liabilities not at fair value BazemBE2
through profit or loss FEMZ B 8,762 9,749

Interest expenses on other borrowings paid to a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary amounted to approximately
RMB3,770,000 (2010: RMB3,191,000) during the year.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

FRN - BNE—WBAR—RBIELRR
FHEMERZFNERAINAARE
3,770,000 L (ZZE—ZF : AR¥
3,191,0007T) °
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT

(a) Continuing operations

REBRBERAZAEHR

(a) FEREXEK

()  Taxation in the consolidated income statement

() HEBRmRAZKRIALRE :

represents:
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARBEF T
Current tax — PRC Enterprise  ENHi#i®E — hE %
Income Tax (“EIT”) s [E¥EFREH
Provision for the year REFF R 17,060 3,481
Deferred tax EEFLIE
Origination and reversal of U EEES REMD
temporary differences (2,451) (2,610)
14,609 871

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and,
accordingly, is exempted from payment of the
Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2011(2010: 16.5%). No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no estimated assessable profits arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for the year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: Nil).

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant countries.

ARBREFERE R RDAER
SHEEAMKLAERRERA
A AR EAR SRS
= -

HE-_ZT——F+_-A=+—8H
IEFEEZEEFERHILGER
B Mz16.6%(ZE—F4 :
16.5%) 575 - AR AEERE S
—E——F+ - A=+—HILF

FEXERNEEELNREETEN
At ERBEN (ZF—FF

&) MABSEENERIELE
ﬂ%‘éﬁ

59|\W§Qﬁmﬁﬁﬂﬁ$ﬁ 2]
RIFITEARENE
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(a) Continuing operations (continued)

(i)

Taxation in the consolidated income statement
represents: (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards.

A PRC subsidiary of the Group, namely, )i 1t lEZ=
REJRABBR A A (transliterated as Hebei Shuntai
Energy Resources Company Limited) (“Hebei
Shuntai”) is entitled to a preferential EIT refund
treatment. The refund is equal to 100%, 50% and
10% of the EIT paid to the PRC State Bureau of
Taxation for the period from June 2010 to December
2010, from January 2011 to December 2013 and
from January 2014 onwards, respectively.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

8. MEBEBRAZIBH

(%)

() FERKREXEK »

(i)

MABERAZBHIAR
(%)

RIBEH BN EMEHRA
ER ([REMETE]) ki
EMGEREAERIED - PE
MEBARE —ZTZTN\F—A
—HIEZHEB25% °

REE—EP B R E
JbIBZReEIRAR 2 =] (HAdE
EZR]) Z B EFTSBIERT
i o RUBEH AT —
TFERNAEZE-ZEF+=
A ZE——%F—HEC=Z
—=F+ZANKBEZZE—
PO — A LA BRI M B R A
BREMEEMERE®N
100% * 50% % 10% °
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8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT (Continued)

(a) Continuing operations (continued)

(i

(il)

130

(%)

Reconciliation between income tax charge and

REBEBRRAZIEHR

() FERKEEK »

(i) HRERREFE ZAEHRX

accounting loss at applicable tax rates: HHEE BB HERAT
2011 2010
—E2——F —ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®ETT
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (34,726) (9,648)
Notional tax on loss before RHBRB R AR
taxation, calculated at the rates BAREE
applicable to the tax jurisdictions ~ K ATE 1B & &
concerned BIE (7,705) (3,762)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR A X 2 18
expenses we 11,467 2,789
Tax effect of non-taxable income  BAERFW S 2 FHIBFE (4,263) (1,140)
Tax effect of tax losses not allowed 7~ A]JE & H B T B 18 2
for tax deduction Mg 2 5,753 1,455
Tax effect of unused tax losses not 7k HE 52 15 A& F B 18
recognised BEORETE 5,526 1,529
PRC withholding tax FETE 3,200 —
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 631 -
Income tax charge TS &7 14,609 871

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from
1 January 2008, non-resident enterprises without
an establishment or place of business in the PRC or
which have an establishment or place of business
in the PRC but whose relevant income is not
effectively connected with the establishment or a
place of business in the PRC, will be subject to
withholding tax at the rate of 10% (unless reduced
by tax treaty) on various types of passive income
such as dividends derived from sources within the

PRC.

(i) REBEBPBECEMERE B
T N\F—-A—HE &
REIFEARZIEE 5
Fr » skE SR BIRNER L

W -

SFTEEG 2 WA B

HAEPBIREAMREE - 5

FmSEE

R B ZIFERD

¥ BARZERDEA

(aR R

REBRA 2 ) 1R

10%7H% X (BR FER B UL 1% TE
) BN TR o
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. REBRRAZFBH
INCOME STATEMENT (continueq) (#&)
(a) Continuing operations (Continued) (a) HEREERK @
(i) (Continued) (i) (&)
Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax BEPEEEFHLHERE
Arrangement and the related regulations, a qualified BT MEBSANERS
Hong Kong tax resident will be liable for a reduced REMERNEREEAL
withholding tax rate of 5% on dividends from a PRC W 5B % B 525%3 A
enterprise if the Hong Kong tax resident is the ElRARELZD - GERBBH
“beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of the HERER B EIRN
equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A withholding BRI = H & REBHHR
tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by a Hong 5% o A BFMAL
Kong incorporated subsidiary. ZMBARIEE 2 ERZE
K %5% °
(b) Discontinued operations (b) BRI EEK
()  Taxation in the consolidated income statement ) HFEBERKRANZBIIERE
represents:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Current tax — PRC EIT BB —
TEMRBH
Provision for the year NFERE - 66
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETE - 924
— 990
Deferred taxation EFER IR
Origination and reversal TR EREES
of temporary differences K mE - 409
Income tax charge FriSHi s i - 1,399
PEBRAER SRR L EEERAT 131
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED MEBERERAZIBH

INCOME STATEMENT (continued) (&)
(b) Discontinued operations (continued) (b) ERIEREER @)
()  Taxation in the consolidated income statement (i) AEmRANZHIAE
represents: (Continued) ( é%)
Two of the former PRC subsidiaries of the Group REBERIEKLEEBIET
(under discontinued operations), namely, & & ¥ = R 8 BT A B B B R B 4B i
B BBR A A (transliterated as Fujian Shine Science MEREBRAR ([fEEH
& Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Fujian Shine”) and _t /& ¥t B R EGHEFREER
EFEHE B R A A (transliterated as Shanghai Shine RA(IEBHEFIEA
Science & Technology Co., Limited) (“Shanghai (TR ] - AR
Shine”), were entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% EFTEREAS%H -
as “encouraged hi-tech enterprises”.
(i)  Reconciliation between income tax charge and (i) HREAMEFAEZMEHE
accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows: HHEEBEEZHERAT -
2011 2010
—E——F —T-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARKEFT
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE = (10,548)
Notional tax on loss before BRBRB AR
taxation, calculated at the rates ERMEGTE
applicable to the tax jurisdictions ~ BHRATEEE
concerned BIE = (1,587)
Tax effect of non-deductible TAHBAS 2
expenses MIBRE - 517
Tax effect of non-taxable income — HZAEGRG W 2 RIBFE - (84)
Tax effect of unused tax losses RAER M AR E AR
not recognised BENHBEE - 1,629
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR - 924
Income tax charge FriSHi s i - 1,399

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9. EEM<E
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 161 of BREEBRNMEHE161EERC ES
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows: T
Equity-
Retirement settled
Salaries benefit share-based
and other Discretionary scheme payment 2011
Fees emoluments bonus  contributions Sub-total expenses Total
NREEE
#eR RIEN NRfAER —3--%

e REEM  BERL  HEEX Mt 2fEER it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR

Executive directors HTES

Wang Zhong Sheng By - 865 - 11 876 505 1,381

Feng San Li (note () B () - 306 - - 396 505 901

Shi Liang ik - 36 - 11 47 - 47

Zhang Qing Lin (note (i) REM (F3Ev) - - - - - 505 505

Fu Shou Gang (note (i) e IGEA) - 453 - - 453 505 958

Independent non-executive ~~ BUFHTES

directors

Wang Zhi He (note (i) F 27 (B i) 43 - - - 43 - 43

Luo Wei Kun i) 83 - - - 83 - 83

Pang Yuk Fong 7I5 4 - - - 41 - 41
167 1,750 - 2 1,939 2,020 3,059

PEBRABRELREREEAARAT 133
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9. EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 161 of BEBEEBERARUENE161GBRECES
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows: BT (8)
(Continued)
Equity-
Retirement settled
Salaries benefit share-based
and other  Discretionary scheme payment 2010
Fees  emoluments bonus  contributions Sub-total EXDeNses Total
IWRERE
EeR RACER| R AER —%T-3%
e EbEN  BERC  HEEX NE - ZRFER @t

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARETT ARETRT ARETR

Executive directors #iEs

Wang Zhong Sheng Bl - 904 - 7 911 - 911
Shi Liang i3 - 383 - 7 390 - 390
Zhang Qing Lin (note (i) REM (W) - - - - - - -
Fu Shou Gang (note (i) R (k) - 18 4 - 52 - 52

Non-executive directors FHEs
Kwok Shun Tim (note (vi) B (ki) - - - - - - -
Ye Jinxing (note (v) E08 (Wzw) - 4 - 1 5 - 5

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors
Wang Zhi He (note (i) E 270 (s i) 11 - - - 11 - 11
Yan Chang Ming (note (i)~ EIRH (K3 vi) - - - - - - -
Luo Wei Kun 4B - - - - - - -
Pang Yuk Fong vi5 43 - - - 43 - 43
54 1,339 4 15 1,412 - 1,412
Notes F 51

—FRATEBREZE
ZE+ AT NAEEZE
ZENAZTNRERE
ZERATLAEZE
ZET AT ABREHE
ZET AT N\REIE
—ZEF\ANHEBHE

i) Appointed on 17 June 2011
ii) Appointed on 29 December 2010
i) Appointed on 29 September 2010 iii)

( (i)
( (
( (
(iv)  Appointed on 17 May 2010 (iv)
( (
( (
( (

i)

=

Resigned on 29 December 2010 V)
vi)  Resigned on 18 December 2010 Vi)
vii)  Resigned on 9 August 2010

4}3{ 4}}| 4}}| 4}}| uH uH uH
MH MH MH NH NH

vii)
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During the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, no
directors waived any emoluments. No inducement payments
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office were paid or payable to any director for the years ended
31 December 2011 and 2010.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

9. EEME »

REBEE_ZE——FRZZF-—ZF+=
AR=T—HILFE HEESNEL
e - REE-_T——FR-_FT—
EF+_A=+—HILFE  TEM
FREENHENEAMNAREER
MAREE R 2 RE SRR E o

10.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
four (2010: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other one (2010: three) individual(s) are as follows:

10.&:EH AL

AEBEERSFALT  ME(CF
—TF W) AEE REZMER
W REORTE o KA —% (BB
=%)EAALTZMERENT

2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IBERHMEF 61 386
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K& F| 5t & {1 & 4 —
Equity-settled share-based VAR 45 B LARR 1 73 EL Bt
payment expenses 2 HAX 5,055 —
5,120 386
The emoluments of the one (2010: three) individual(s) with the —Z(ZE—ZFF : =ZR) e 5ER
highest emoluments are within the following bands: AT ZENFATEHE :
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-FTF
Number of Number of
Individual Individuals
A" AE
HK$NIl to HK$1,000,000 Z L E 1,000,000/ 7T - 3
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,0017% 7T £5,500,0007% 7T 1 —
PEHEAER TS RERREARAT 135

—E R




Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 %2

e+ -A=+—BHIFE

11.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

136

On 9 February 2010, the Company, as vendor, and the
promissory note-holders (the “Purchasers”), acting collectively
as equity shareholders of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest in Shine Science & Technology (BVI)
Company Limited together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries
(namely, Fujian Shine, Shanghai Shine and &M T B 4B 4&H
R 2 B]) (collectively referred to as the “Shine Science BVI
Group”), at a consideration of RMB60,000,000. The Shine
Science BVI Group was principally engaged in the development
and sales of computer software, resale of computer hardware,
provision of system integration and maintenance services in
the PRC. The consideration was satisfied by each of the
Purchasers, in proportion to their respective interests in the
sale shares on the date of completion, discharging the
Company from its payment obligations under the promissory
notes. The disposal was completed on 11 May 2010, and
accordingly the Group’s operations comprising the sales of
computer software, computer hardware and maintenance and
other services had been classified as discontinued operations
in the year ended 31 December 2010.

The loss for the year from discontinued operations was analysed
as follows:

11.2#4

IFEERK

%:g—gizﬂhﬁ'ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ
EREAHZEBEFBATEAR]D -
FERARBIRERB AZER] TJJE
BEifh® - BUHLAREE L E AR Shine
Science &Technology (BVI) Company
LimitedZ 100%AR AN # 23 A K H 2 & it
BARAEENE - LEHEREM
MEBEFBEKXBR LA (5L Shine
Science BVI£E]) - KEAARKE
60,000,0007T ° Shine Science BVI% &
TEET BN EE R E R
g EREMAEE  REZAGERSM
HERE BEAKREBZENATXRE
EFRTHAEREEESEENHER
2w O - BRARB AL ER
BHTZANRERE - ZHEER T —
ZFERA+T—AZTHK  URBE_Z
*Z€$+—ﬁ:+*atiﬁ? VNS
B BB BREEMHHEEN L
BEREMREEED D BERADKRIEL
BT o

BB R 2 5 R RS T
m

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREFT
Loss for the year from REBRIEEEETR
discontinued operations < FANEE = (11,947)
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

11.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

11.BRIEEEER »

The results of the discontinued operations, which had been Bt AGEERRZERIELEER
included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows: LEBEWT
2011 2010
—E2——F —ZT-ZF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hE=2 AR¥T AREFT
Turnover ] 5 - 6,026
Cost of sales $H 5 AR 24(b) - (7,427)
Gross loss EEHE — (1,401)
Other revenue and net income  E bl as BOF WA 6 - 1,152
Distribution costs Salic ) DN — (3,296)
Administrative expenses THAX - (6,935)
Finance costs A& B A 7(c) - (68)
Loss before taxation BRELRIE R 7 - (10,548)
Income tax Frigai 8(b) - (1,399)
Loss for the year from KEDRIEREEETRS
discontinued operations ZFEANEE = (11,947)
Loss for the year from T EMLRE B4
discontinued operations KEEB 2
attributable to: FAEE
Equity shareholders PN g
of the Company BEA - (11,947)
Non-controlling interests FEE R = - —
- (11,947)
FENEAEREE R EEEEARA T 137
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11.

12.

13.
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The net cash flows of the discontinued operations were as
follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

11.BRIEEEER »

ERIEEEXG 2R/ RFEWD

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

Net cash used in operating activities KEEBMAR S FE - (15,484)
Net cash used in investing activities KWEXEBMAZH2FE - (9,386)
Net cash generated from BMEEKELE RS FHE

financing activities - 5,932
Net cash outflow WMt FEE - (18,938)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the Shine
Science BVI Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in
note 306.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 includes
a loss of approximately RMB28,361,000 (2010:
RMB13,618,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed or declared by the directors
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

Shine Science BVIEEE 2 BE M B &R
HERBHBZ REERZENHIFES6 -

lzgﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁ

Hez—_Z2—9F+_A=+—H8HIt#F
B ARRIRERFBABIGREER
BREERAARTIEREEIEZEIE
M AR #28,361,0007T (- B —F4 -
AFR#13,618,0007T) °

13.8 B8

e Z——F+-_A=+—HILHF
B BEFTEEZRMNITREE (Z
T—TF HE) e
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

14.L0SS PER SHARE 14.8REE
(a) For continuing and discontinued (a) FERCKRILKEEE
operations %
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AR REREABRGEERER
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is REEBHBEIDBE T EER
based on the following data: "
2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Loss &8
Loss for the year attributable to AESREAREE
equity shareholders of the Company EERERA 2 AR F]
for the purposes of basic and RiERE AR
diluted loss per share R FRNEE (45,016) (20,493)
2011 2010
—E2——F —ZT-ZTF
’000 '000
F & F &
Number of shares BHEHE
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HzZB%1T
TR 2,256,675 1,361,815
Effect of issue of shares by FHRRD L& BT
share placement Iin 2 & 351,257 223,111
Effect of conversion of convertible bonds 7] # A% (& 5 i it~ 27 2¢ 341,712 169,678
Weighted average number of ordinary TEEREARREE
shares at 31 December for the EERHERA 2R
purposes of basic and diluted +=—A=+—H2
loss per share LB AR N I & 2,949,644 1,754,604
PEBRAER SRR L EEERAT 139
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

14.LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(a) For continuing and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Diluted loss per share attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2011
and 2010 is the same as the basic loss per share as the
effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares from convertible
bonds and share options are anti-dilutive.

(b) From continuing operations

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company is based on the following data:

14.8REE »

() FERCRILEE X
%

HE-F——FR-FT-FTHFT
—A=t+—RILEEARARE
BB AR SRS REER
EAEBAR - RER AR
%2 B BB R A
BRI -

(b) REFHELERK
DT BB AR A 1

ThiRE N BUERTH

2011 2010
—E——F —ET-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBEFT
Loss EE
Loss for the year attributable RArIRERAA
to equity shareholders FEIEFREE
of the Company (45,016) (20,493)
Less: Loss for the year W RERRIEKE
attributable from ¥B 2 FAEE
discontinued operations — 11,947
Loss for the year for the purposes T E R EIFELLEK 2
of basic and diluted loss BRERLKEEEER
per share from continuing KAZEANER
operations (45,016) (8,546)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
in note (a) above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

P 2 0BG B E SRS EE () Pt
AL E G ER M EEE T
Rz &8R-
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14.LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 14.8REE @

(c) From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the basic and
diluted loss per share for the discontinued operation was
RMBO0.68 cents per share, based on the loss for the year
from the discontinued operations of approximately
RMB11,947,000 and the denominators used are the same
as those detailed in note (a) above for both basic and
diluted loss per share.

15.SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
In previous years, (i) liquefied coalbed gas (including liquefied
coalbed gas logistics) (i.e. the manufacture and sales of liquefied
coalbed gas to piped natural gas providers and customers in
the PRC through liquefied coalbed gas transportation vehicles)
and (ii) piped natural gas (i.e. the reprocessing of liquefied
coalbed gas, construction of gas pipelines and supply of piped
natural gas to customers in the PRC), were reported to the
CODM as stand-alone business units and constituted separate
operating segments. Following a change in the Group’s
operating and reporting structure, starting from the year 2011,
such business activities are combined into a sole operating
segment before being reported to the CODM. Accordingly, the
CODM now reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group as a
whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered to be
primarily dependent on the performance of sale of natural gas
in the PRC. Therefore, the CODM considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8
Operating Segments. In this regard, no segment information is
presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is not
presented as the directors assess the performance of the sole
operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the financial statements.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

(c) RECKRILKBEEK

RBE_ZT—ZEF+_A=*+—
AIEFE  ERFREKREERIE
KEEB2BBEHARK
11,947,0007T + M1 A3 B2 _E ST
HEFFAFTESREARNRE
SEEEMAZERS® - REE
RIEREXEB s BRERN LS
BB AERAR0.68D °

15.7 #2 ]

REBKENHIBRBEREREE
RERAN([EREERKA] EHK/AEJ
B2 BRI EKRRTEM2®
WERMETE - EATFE - (VRILE
EBa (BErtEERYR) BIEER
ftEERIBARICEERERH TR
MAEMEERARMETREFH
ERLEBR) Mi)EEXAR BT
tEEBRETHMNT - !i@l%ﬁﬁﬁ
KAt BEnEFHEEBERAR)
{’E?%%I%i‘%ﬁﬁl“ﬂé}*wﬁ%”)\
MESR  WIBKBLEEDE - EAE
EmgeEkEREBEE e B
T-—FFERG  ZEXEHEHT
ﬁéﬁ EREAZWMATE A —E

—HEEDE o At - ERAEE
E’Jﬁfrﬁé%ﬁ’ﬂﬁ%f%ﬁ??ﬁﬁ’\ﬁqﬂl
IHERARMNER  BREEREKA
MFEER PRI AEENANE 2
WA ANEENRBA RS EARNEE
BIR - At BEELEREARRBR
BEBYBEHmEERE8T [ 48 nE6)
WHE  AEBEERE —EKEHE -
FEmME WEZDHER -
HREZERBEMEHRERPEEN—E
BRI e #AmE —KEH Mz
=B EARTEZIEESBEEHDY
HEIMEEE -
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15.SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The total segment result is equivalent to total comprehensive
expense for the year as shown in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the total segment assets and
total segment liabilities are equivalent to total assets and total
liabilities as shown in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

(a) Geographical information

E=T——F+-A=t+—BALLFE

15. 982, @
SE LB EEES é%ﬁ%é%
ﬁr%$¢ﬁzﬁﬁi%% 19 26

BERENMDHAGBRE %EEME%%M

BMBRRAKRATHEEREBERAR
LR

H+~u}

/

(a) HEEH

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong and the

PRC.

The Group’s turnover from external customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical

locations are detailed below:

Turnover from external

AEBTEGERBRTELER
i% o

AREEZMIPIE S DK I
MEFHNEXRBNIERBDEEN
BRI

customers Non-current assets*
REIBEFNEEEE ERBEE"
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——f —z5 | —2——§ | —=—=f
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx ARBEF T AR® T ARBTFIT
Hong Kong A - - 449 21
PRC Fh 253,849 237,015 1,214,503 643,805
253,849 237,015 1,214,952 643,826

*
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Non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets.
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15.SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Information about major customers

Turnover from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as

15. 932, @

(b) EEEXEFHEHR

EEFERERFNEEXBERA
AREBBEWZI0%HNELMT ¢

follows:
2011 2010
—F——-% s
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Customer A ZPA 35,371 36,512
Customer B XFB N/A* (38 A1) 32,926
Customer C BFEC 32,042 25,220
Customer D ZFED 28,838 N/AT (@A)
96,251 94,658

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of
the total turnover of the Group.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

—E R

FEH10% °

MR FE M ER I R AR 8 7N SR (B 40 2 3¢
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16.GOODWILL 16.FHE
The Group RE
RMB’000
AR TR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2010 R-_ZE—ZFF—H—H 76,802
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35(b)) W B B B8 & &) (MY E35(0)) 109,477
At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011 RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—H0BK
—E——F—H—H 186,279
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35(a)) Uk BB B B &) (M 7E35(a)) 157,821
At 31 December 2011 W_E——F+-_A=+—8H 344,100
Accumulated impairment losses: ZItREESE :
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZFF—H—H 52,971
Impairment loss VEREN Ei! -
At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011 RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—H0BK
—ET——%F—H—H 52,971
Impairment loss REE R 21,492
At 31 December 2011 W_E——F+-_A=+—8H 74,463
Carrying amount: FREE :
At 31 December 2011 R-B——H%+=-B=+—H 269,637
At 31 December 2010 R-_E—ZEF+_-_A=+—H 133,308
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16.H 8 »
BEHBoHLSELEN
(Hg%féiﬁﬁj) 2B E

BEIRTHEELE

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units
(“CGU”) containing goodwill

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes S AH DAETT R,

to the following groups of CGUs: BEAH
2011 2010
—E——F = —T4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥FTT
Piped natural gas located in Guangxi LR EFANEBERAR 2,339 23,831
Coalbed methane exploration and B R R -
development, natural gas liquefaction — KAF &AL K
and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) BIERAR
distribution (DBRIERAR]) 7 8 267,298 109,477
269,637 133,308
The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and FMReEABMNZ RO SBEE

their major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

Coalbed methane exploration and development, natural gas
liquefaction and LNG distribution

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations with reference to an independent
professional valuation. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rate and
growth in revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates the discount rate of 18.67% (2010: 18.53%) using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Changes
in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience
and expectations of changes in the market.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

NEMBE2/REBALLT

HERBERMEE -
b RRR D 88
ARESELEBEMZAKRESEI2E
BYHXGERBECHAEEBESTE - £
AEEXZEBRRNEHAFE 2R
K WARRREEKRAZBRE &
BE(hET EEEE%%S.E;?%(*%*E
F :18.53%) * JH{EFRM B I E
Fﬁ{ﬁfﬁzw%ﬁﬁ&iﬁééiﬁﬁz
HERR ZBRBATFE EEBREE
%$Z“@Buﬂﬁm%ﬁm&m%
TRERE B BEE o

RARRIERIR
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16.58 »

Impairment test for cash-generating units
(“CGU”) containing goodwill continued)

Coalbed methane exploration and development, natural gas
liguefaction and LNG distribution (Continued)

The value in use calculations are derived from cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial budgets for the
next 5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond
the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a growth rate
of 3% (2010: 3%) per annum which is based on industry growth
forecasts.

The directors are of the view that, based on its assessment,
there was no impairment of goodwill as of 31 December 2011
in respect of this CGU (2010: Nil).

In the opinion of the directors, any reasonable possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of this CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

Piped natural gas located in Guangxi

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
value in use calculations with reference to an independent
professional valuation. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rate and
growth in revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimates the discount rate of 17.1% (2010: 13.65%) using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Change
in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience
and expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculations are derived from cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial budgets for the
next 5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond
the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a growth rate
of 5% (2010: 5%) per annum which is based on industry growth
forecasts.

BEHBzHESELXEN
(E&%EEETQD Z BB
i (%

RERBERMEE - XA
1I:95%ﬁ“ﬁ‘ﬁ (&)
FAREBEEFEREBREEEEE
CERIARSFHHEEMESZHS
RETEA - Etﬂi%ﬁZﬁimgﬁ
ﬁﬁii‘ﬁm%( —ZF : 3%)

v%¢%§$ﬂu TEREEAA
gﬁo

SRR R&

EERR - REHEMGH  AREEE
BUREBE— ?**EJr A=1+—
BYEHEBRE(CE-—FTF  F) -

i%.: VI LLEH{E”“ZEH/\E
EYARSELEMZ
Eﬁﬁ@f@tﬁifﬂﬁz@ﬁ%ﬁ °

NREENEBERAR
REeEABM2AIKEEEII2E
ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%Ffﬁgﬁ
cFAEBEHECETEREKIIEY
$¢ﬁ2%ﬁ$~%k%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ&
$Z@&o ﬁ@ﬁ%’%ﬁzﬁ
17.1% (= T 1 13.65%) * JifE
%&%Eﬁf%%ﬁﬁﬁZﬁ%ﬁﬁ
MIRCEEBEMZFERR BB
ME - EBREEKANZEE TG
AMBKEBETSEREE SHEE -

EREEAEINREREEEEIE
ZEHMARKRSFHMIBTREFES 2 RE
METE Al o tt5$ﬁﬁﬁﬂzfﬁium§1§
RAFERREEE% (ZF—FF : 5%)
i EZEiEE%EELMT%iEE%E/EIJZ%
A -
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16.GOODWILL (continued) 16.H2& @
Impairment test for cash-generating units BEEmECHESELXEN
(“CGU”) containing goodwill continued) (BREeELXEN]) Z2RE
AR
Piped natural gas located in Guangxi (Continued) NABANEBERRR (&)
Based on value in use calculations at 31 December 2011, the BE-_ZF——F+-_A=+—H2FF
recoverable amount of the piped natural gas CGU located in REEHE  UREANEBERAR
Guangxi was found to be less than its carrying amount. ReELBNATYREHEBENERR
Accordingly, impairment loss on goodwill allocated to the piped B-RAl PEFUREANEEXR
natural gas CGU located in Guangxi of approximately ARBECEABEMHEEBRESEY
RMB21,492,000 (2010: RMB Nil) has been recognised in the AR#21,402,0007C (ZE—FF : A
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 REZT)EREE_ZE—F+=A
December 2011. —t+—HBLEFEZHEERRANE
PR RAEERERERERA 147
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17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.9)% - BERRE
(a) The Group (@) x&KHE
Transportation
Buildings Furniture and
held for Leasehold Plant and Computer and motor  Construction
ownuse improvements Pipelines machinery equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BER B4IE

8%  HRREIR EE  HERAR EHRE  GERRE RAE BRIE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARBTR ARETR

Cost R
A1 January 2010 R-5-35-F-A 57,19 2,121 4,144 154,586 3,174 3,547 4,506 369 267,843
Additions HE 9,99 - 3 826 204 168 459 39,219 55,157
Acquistion of subsidiaries (note 35(0) 4 HIE2 2 (H3£35(0) - 58 - 15 - 1% 18,108 - 18316
Transfer rom constructon in progress #EETEEH 18977 07 - 5,687 - - - [25.371) -
Disposals of subsideres (rote 36) 1 A B2 (£36) (6,225) (3.330) - - (3.3%0) (2.085) .231) - (17227)
Exchange adjustments EiE - 1) - - - - - - )
At 31 December 2010 and WZE-BEt2f=+-8

1 January 2011 Rk=E--£-F-B 80,540 135 AR 161,114 138 1,765 20972 14217 324,088
Additions HE - 722 - 4 109 753 18,351 125,020 144,99
Acquistion of subsiciaries (note 35(a)) WETBLH (Fi5235(a) - - - 9014 17 12 150 62,424 i
Transfer rom constructon in progress #EETEEH - - 873 10,831 % - - (11,739) -
Disposals ik - 13 5,126) - - (86) 2.802) - 8,087)
Exchange adjustments EiE - o) - - - ) - - (15)
At 31 December 2011 RoE--E+-f=1-H 80,540 175 36,004 180,999 299 2,548 40,671 189,982 532,708
Accumulated depreciation ZitTERAE

and impairment
At 1 January 2010 W-F-3E-F-8 253 1213 1,199 5,200 1827 1,346 1590 - 14911
Charge for the year RERRM 3616 185 2,30 11,283 182 453 2,170 - 20,253
Disposalof subsidiaries (ote 36) £ EMEAF (H230) (1374) (1,315) - - (1972) (1,167) (685) - (6,503)
Exchange adjustments EXfE - 1) - - - - - - 1)
At 31 December 2010 and 1 WoE-EF+-f=1-H

January 2011 Rk=EF--£-F-B 4118 82 359 16,403 37 642 3,075 - 28,660
Charge for the year KRR 3917 189 1945 11,131 2 581 6,725 - 2590
Disposals ik - (52) (550 - - 84) (887) - 1,573)
Exchange adjustments EiE - () - - - () - - 0)
At 31 December 2011 RoE--E+-f=1-H 8,795 214 4,988 27,564 79 118 8,918 - 51,668
Carrying amount Eag
At 31 December 2011 Wo§--F+2A=t-8 1,785 561 31,906 153,415 2 1413 31,758 189,962 481,040
At 31 December 2010 RoE-FE+-A=1-H 75,762 53 37,954 144,661 101 1128 21897 vl 295,428
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17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(a) The Group (Continued)

(0

(i

(i)

(iv)

The buildings held for own use are situated on land
held under medium-term leases in the PRC.

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s buildings held for own use and pipelines
pledged for the Group’s bank borrowings were
approximately RMB Nil (2010: RMB1,471,000) and
RMB30,190,000 (2010: RMB36,690,000)
respectively.

The carrying amount of the Group’s assets held
under finance leases (included in transportation and
motor vehicles) at 31 December 2011 was
approximately RMB9,980,000 (2010: RMB Nil).

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

17.95% »

HIENRE @

(a) X&EB (&)

(i)

(it

(i)

(iv)

FFERZEFET BER
THHEORAE L E -

AEEZEEURTE -

RZE——F+ZA=+—
B AASERITERME
Bz AEEFEEREFTR
EEZEEESNNAAR
BET(ZE—ZF : AR
#1,471,00070) R A R#&
30,190,000t (ZZE— %
F: AR#¥36,690,000
JT) °

W—E——F+=—f=+—
H AEBEpERERE2
BEFHNEHTARSRE)
CEBEHNARBARYE
9,980,000 (=& —Z4F :
ARBEZIL) -
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17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17.9% » BBERRE @
(Continued)
(b) The Company (b) XA H
Furniture
Leasehold ~ Computer and Motor
improvements ~ equipment  equipment vehicles Total

BEXBIR  SERE HERRE hE Lh
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
AE®TR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR

Cost RE
At 1 January 2010 R-E-5E-5-H 77 83 113 1,662 1935
Additions TE - 55 6 1,079 1,140
Exchange adjustments EiA% (1) - (1) - @
At 31 December 2010 R-2-SF+-R=1-H

and 1 January 2011 k-E--%-f-H 76 138 118 2,741 3,073
Additions TE 392 49 126 - 567
Disposals i3 (73 - (83) - (156)
Exchange adjustments EREE ) - 6) - (15)
At 31 December 2011 RZE-——E+Zf=+-H 386 187 155 2,741 3,469
Accumulated depreciation ZHITERHE

and impairment
At 1 January 2010 R-E-FF-f-H 77 19 9 857 1,052
Charge for the year AEEYH - 17 6 366 389
Exchange adjustments EXRE (1) - (1) - @2
At 31 December 2010 RZE-FFTZA=1-H

and 1 January 2011 k=%-—5-F-H 76 36 104 1223 1439
Charge for the year AEEYH 53 34 21 537 645
Disposals HE (52) - 83) - (135)
Exchange adjustments BiAZ () - 4 - 9
At 31 December 2011 RZF--F+ZF=1+-A 7 70 3 1,760 1,040
Carrying amount BEf
At 31 December 2011 RZE--E+ZB=+-H 314 17 17 981 1,529
At 31 December 2010 RZE-FFT-A=1-H - 102 14 1518 1,634
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18.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS FOR LAND

UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The carrying amount of the Group’s prepaid lease payments
for land under operating leases is analysed as follows:

18.REHEN T HANS LT ES

AEBKEHEO TR LB S 2K
EEDIWT

The Group
AEE

2011 2010

—E——fF —E-FF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR% T ARBEFIT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEE 29,967 26,427

Additions NE - 10,935
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE B B~ /) (M 7E35(a))

(note 35(a)) 6,700 —

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) &M B2 7] (Ff:E36) - (6,878)

36,667 30,484

Amortisation for the year NE T (738) (517)

Carrying amount at 31 December W+ —-A=+—HBZEHE 35,929 29,967

Less: Current portion B BNERER 9 (810) (673)

Non-current portion JERNER ER (9 35,119 29,294

The prepaid lease payments in respect of land under operating
leases are held under medium-term leases and situated in the
PRC.

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of the Group’s
prepaid lease payments for land under operating leases pledged
for the Group’s bank borrowings was approximately RMB Nil
(2010: RMB8,705,000).

The amortisation charges for the year ended 31 December 2011
of approximately RMB154,000 (2010: RMB156,000) and
RMB584,000 (2010: RMB361,000) are included in cost of sales
and administrative expenses respectively in the consolidated
income statement.

RERHD T 2N T EE TyirH 8
MOBAE  HURHE -

R-_E——F+-_A=+—8 " 5
AEBEBZRITERMER 2 AEBL
EMATEN I WHES 2RERENA
ARBZL(ZZ2—2F : ARH¥
8,705,0007T) °

HE-_T——F+-_A=+—HLF
8 HHARE154,0000T (ZF
—ZF : AR¥156,0007T) M AR
584,000 (ZE—TF : AR
361,00070) D RIREREBE KR ZHE
XA R AT R 2 5 BR o

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

—T——FFH 151




Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

/ ~.
19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19.8F&E
The Group xE
Operating
Exclusive license for Computer
right for liquefied software
piped natural coalbed gas development
gas operation logistics costs Total
BEARR BRILEER L EN
EBRCBREN NREEHR BB R A mst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®Tx AR%Tx AR¥ETR
Cost R{E
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZF—HF—H 70,470 — 29,069 99,539
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHEHBAR
(note 35(b)) (Kt 5E35(b)) - 97,300 — 97,300
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) & i B2 &) (i 5£36) - - (29,069) (29,069)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—FF
and 1 January 2011 +ZA=+—HK
—E——%—-H—H 70,470 97,300 - 167,770
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B AR
(note 35(a)) (K 5£35(a)) 264,341 - - 264,341
At 31 December 2011 NZT——fF
+-RA=+—H 334,811 97,300 — 432,111
Accumulated amortisation =~ i ##EHREE
and impairment
At 1 January 2010 RZE—ZTF—HF—H 783 - 29,069 29,852
Amortisation for the year REFHH 1,566 8,919 - 10,485
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) & i B &) (i 5£36) - - (29,069) (29,069)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZF
and 1 January 2011 +-A=+—8k
—Z——%—-A—H 2,349 8,919 - 11,268
Amortisation for the year REFHIHE 5,909 19,460 - 25,369
At 31 December 2011 R-Z——%
+-A=+—H 8,258 28,379 — 36,637
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2011 RZE——F
+=ZA=+-H 326,553 68,921 - 395,474
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—FF
+-RA=+—H 68,121 88,381 — 156,502
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19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(@) Computer software development costs

Amortisation of computer software development costs
was recognised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of not exceeding five
years. The computer software development costs were
disposed of through disposal of the Shine Science BVI
Group on 11 May 2010 (note 36).

(b) Exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
is amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 45 years.

(c) Exclusive right for piped natural gas
operation in Ruyang County

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and is
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years.

(d) Operating license for liquefied coalbed
gas logistics

It represented the operating license for liquefied coalbed
gas logistics in the PRC and is amortised as cost of sales
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
5 years.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

19. 8 EE »

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ERRAFAERE

BB AN SR T BB
RAFEZEF A ERFHANELSR
EERBHENKAR o EIKEHH
BERABER _E—ZEFRA+—
H & £ Shine Science BVI Group
& (FF3E36) ©

EdAmEEEEX
RREB 2 BRER

ZIENBEERBEEALRBRE
ERTEERRE BEREREM
RHEBRARZBREN - X
W E AN E R E A FHI45
FERHERAEE -

HEAEREEEEX
RREB 2 BRER

ZIENE R BN A RBmK
2R e MR E B R RIEME
HEBRARZBRERN - Wik
EREERNGFAEAFHD
28 5FVERIHE R A -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

20.DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 20. & RTENKIE

The Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —T-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®EFT
Warranty money paid for MRMERELZHET
the acquisition of equipment WIEREZNZ
under finance lease RER (M5E@)
arrangements (note (a)) 8,161 8,161
Other deposits paid for U ERESZ N2
acquisition of equipment Hibike 2,250 4,050
Other deposits for acquisition s i 2
of interests in land (note (b)) HE iz (HI5E (o) 10,462 10,462
Prepayments (note (c)) Taf k| (fFE(c) 12,809 —
33,682 22,673
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

20.DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(@)

The balance represents the warranty money paid for the
acquisition of equipment under finance lease
arrangements. On 2 December 2010, certain subsidiaries
of the Group, as lessees, entered into finance lease
arrangements with certain suppliers and a lessor named
FERMEMREFR AR (transliterated as CIMC Capital
Ltd.) (“CIMC”), pursuant to which the suppliers agreed to
manufacture and supply LNG tanks, gasified system and
equipment, LNG trailers, towing vehicles and LNG refill
stations (collectively, the “Finance Lease Assets”) at a total
consideration of approximately RMB79,155,000. CIMC
agreed to lease the Finance Lease Assets to the Group
for a total lease consideration of approximately
RMB95,461,000 (the “Finance Lease Arrangement”)
payable within the term of 36 months by monthly
installments, with an option for the Group to purchase
the Finance Lease Assets at the end of the lease term at
a consideration of approximately RMB7,000. The total
lease consideration would be adjusted due to the floating
lending interest rate to be promulgated by the People’s
Bank of China (“PBOC”) from time to time. Pursuant to
the agreements, the Group agreed to pledge the Finance
Lease Assets to CIMC, whilst J& 5 IEF1 88 R & R A 7]
(transliterated as Luoyang Shunhe Energy Company
Limited) (“Luoyang Shunhe”) entered into guarantees in
favour of CIMC to secure the due payment of the
outstanding lease consideration by the Group. During the
year ended 31 December 2011, Luoyang Shunhe became
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company upon
completion of the Group’s acquisition of the Wealthy Talent
Group as detailed in note 35(a). The Group agreed to
provide a total sum of approximately RMB15,831,000 to
CIMC as warranty money, which is repayable at the end
of the lease period. The Finance Lease Arrangement
constituted a very substantial acquisition on the part of
the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The
resolutions approving the Finance Lease Arrangement
were duly passed by the shareholders of the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 14 February
2011.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

20.Z € R AN FIE @

(@)

TZERERRERELTHETK
BREINZRES -RZT—
TFE+_A-H AEEETH
BRR (fEAEAMA) BE TFHE
Ak —REEATEREHEER
RARI([REDIIVRERER
BBt HERRERERHE
ERIERARHRE - RILEFS K
B BRIERARIESE - E5|B
MBIERAR MR (BT A
HEEE]  BREAVARK
79,155,0007C - FER B MASE
EHAmERESE  BHER
BAHARIS5,461,0007T (A8
[RMERELHE]) - BR361EA
WIZADEBNR - AREERHEE
HIE R AR IENAREBEHOARKE
7000 ERMEHEEE - £
EREBREBEREARRIT ([H
B ARFIT]) TR AMEZ EE
ENEELRAE - REZZH
#AEBERESRENEEE
R THRE  mRBIEMERE
BRAE (&SIEFI]) JRE RTIZA
PEAXHANRE  BAEH
ZEINREEREREREE
R-RNBE_Z—F+-_A=
+—HIEFE  RIGIEMRASE
72 Ak U B Wealthy Talent Group
(GBS H A M 7E35(a) B Ak AR R
ANEEEZENBAR - AEE
AEMPERHEBOARK
15,831,000C 2 R B L * ZIRFE
SANHERLERIBRE - RIB
BIZEMR EMRA - BEHEELH
BRARRIZIETERNKES
B ARABRRER-T——F
ZATHOBERTZREEIARE
FHERMERELHE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

20.DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) ~ 20.3R & R B FIEH @

(b) The balance represents deposits paid by the Group for (o) FZEHEASEERKEBELANF
the acquisition of interests in land located in the PRC WEERT N rE]® &t
which will be held for own use under operating leases. R EBRBEEHAFERR -

(¢) Included in prepayments as at 31 December 2011 was (0 ZE—F+ZA=+—Hz#E
an amount of approximately RMB10,712,000 representing NFIEBRIE LXMW ik@pmrita &
prepayment for the finance lease payments of the MELHE TWEERE /AN
acquisition of equipment under the Finance Lease EXRBEZLEMNREHNDARE
Arrangement mentioned in note (a) above. 10,712,0007T °

21.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21.RAMBATRIZRE
The Company
AATF
2011 2010
—E——F —T-ZTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®ETTT

Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMIR - AR 879,550 326,455
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

21.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21. A B AT Z2RE @)

(Continued)

R=Z——F+=A=+—AARH
TEMHBARZHENT :

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 December 2011 are as follows:

Proportion of
ownership interest

RS
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s
establishment/ [registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct Indirect Principal activities
EREL/ BROTRAMRE/ ’5E

HELRAH RIME/SeEhd IRERHE ERER HE B IEER

WERSIERERERERAR  PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% —  Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi H HK$85,000,000 REER
Yangcheng Shuntai Energy & 785,000,000 T
Development Company Limited)

(note (a) and (€))
GEEEGE)

WAL KIERERERERAS  PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% —  Manufacture and sales
(transliterated as Shanxi s HK$140,000,000 of liquefied coalbed gas
Qinshui Shuntai Energy # & 7 140,000,000% 7T EERBERIEER
Development Company Limited)

(note (a) and (d))
(Fir &£ (a) B2 (o)
Sino Treasure Global Group British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited (BVI) 1 United States dollar REER
EBRAES (US$)
IRAEIET Rk
Allied Rich Management Limited BVI 3,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100% Investment holding
BEERARLA EBRAHES US$1 each REZR
3,000 R BIREEIRT 2 &R

WEHEEEREERAF PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi H RMB5,000,000 REER
Allied Rich Services Limited) HE AR AR #5,000,0007
(note ()) (3 (a))

ERLARRERAR PRC Registered capital of 97.5% - 97.5%  Sales of piped natural gas
(transliterated as Guangxi s RMB20,000,000 and provision of gas
Beiliu Gas Company Limited) &R AR%20,000,0007T supply connection services

(note (b)) (3£ (b))

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

—E——FFH

HEEBRARRRHY
REBRE

157
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

21.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at
31 December 2011 are as follows: (Continued)

Proportion of
ownership interest

21. A BRARIZRE @

N_E——F+_B=1+—HALH
ETEMBRARZHENT - ()

e a4l
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s
establishment/ [registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct  Indirect Principal activities
HRERL/ BRTRAMRE/ r5E

MWEARAR Ryt SEnl HERERFE ERER E# B IEER

Hebei Shuntai (note (a)) PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Sales of liquefied coalbed

3t IEZ (32 (e) i RMB87,280,000 gas

&R A K 1587,280,0007 RREREE

BERBARLA BV 100 ordinary shares 100% 100% —  Investment holding
(transliterated as Million RERAEE of US1 each REBR
Ideas Investments Limited) 100 SREEIETZ EBR

IWAEEEBREERAA PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi H RMB500,000 REBR
Wanzhi Business Services &R ARK 500,000
Limited) (note (a)) (F (@)

WEBSMRERLA PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83%  Provision of liquefied coalbed
(transliterated as Shanxi i RMB60,000,000 gas logistics services
Wanzhi Logistics Limited) AR A K #60,000,00070 REURICEERDTRE
(note (¢)) (& (c))

Wealthy Talent Global BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Investments Limited RERAEE 1REBIET EBR REER

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited ) TREBET EER REZR

ERTMEREEREBR LA
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

21.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

21. A BRARIZ2B’E @

Proportion of

ownership interest

BRELH
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up share Group’s
establishment/ Iregistered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest Direct  Indirect Principal activities
ERERL/ BRORBARE/ r5E
WEAREHR RUBE/SEhS IREREE BERER Ei B  IEEER
Luoyang Shunhe (note (b)) PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Sales of natural gas
FRERIER (M3 (b)) :p HK$60,000,000 RARHE
£ 760,000,000 T
Yangcheng Huiyang (note (b)) PRC Registered capital of 60% - 60% Exploration, development
EREER (F ) i RMB30,000,000 and production of coalbed
&R ARH30,000,0007T methane
0 FEREEEER
Notes: B 5T -

(@) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise.

(b)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise.

(c)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint
venture.

(d)  The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$150,000,000, of
which HK$140,000,000 has been paid up as at 31 December 2011.

()  The registered capital of Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntai was
HK$300,000,000, of which RMB85,000,000 has been paid up as
at 31 December 2011.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

REPEARKMBUEEZMRINEE
Bk -

REPEARRMBEZRZZEMAERE
Ehx-

RiEPEARKMBEZRZMATING
B -

W PE 07Kk 2 5 & 72K & 150,000,000/%8
7T+ E 140,000,000 TE R ZE—
—F+-A=+—8&f -

WAk IER Ml ERA
300,000,000 @ Hh AR
85,000,000 2N - E——F+-AF=
+—BH -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. AN FEFT ABRHNEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
= e =
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Financial assets at fair value through A FEFABRD

profit or loss: TREE
— Unlisted overseas investment — REMBEIINEEES
fund 200 —
23.0THER FINANCIAL ASSETS 23.HittemEE
The Group and the Company
AEBRADF
2011 2010
—E——F ZE-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Contingent consideration in relation WHENB AR ABE 2 ARE

to acquisition of subsidiaries (Bf5E35(a))

(note 35(a)) 17,051 —
Change in fair value of the contingent consideration is FARAREBZATFEEHREEEREE
recognised in the consolidated income statement. MR o

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

24.INVENTORIES 24.7 8
(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial @ REEMBRARAZEESR
position comprise: 1
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
=2 —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Raw materials R K 1,463 907
Finished goods IR T 1,134 1,155
2,597 2,062
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as (b) EERAMIUFABRCHFEE
an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: SREZOTWT
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBETT
Cost of inventories sold EEFE KA
— Continued operations — BEREER 139,330 131,992
— Discontinued operations — BRI EER (FiFE11)
(note 11) - 7,427
139,330 139,419
PR RAEERERERERA 161
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

=+
25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. FEWEBR R K H At B U =R IH
The Group The Company
x5EE P NG|
2011 2010 2011 2010
2% | Z2%F | ZB——F —E-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR | ARBTE | ARBTR AREFT
Amounts due from subsidiaries ~ FEUHTE A A1 FIE
(note 43(b)(iv)) (5 43(b)(iv)) - - 169,293 143,897
Amounts due from directors fEWEERIE
(note 43(b)(i) (B 25 43(b)(i) 568 470 3,812 42
Trade and bills receivables FEU AR TR I FE L R 45 23,109 7,129 — -
Other receivables Hofth e M 5708 52,574 3,847 1,527 323
Amounts due from related fEW B N AR
companies (note 43(b)(i)) (M 5E43(b)(0) 13,468 6,138 - -
Loans and receivables EF N EWEOE 89,719 17,584 174,632 144,262
Advances to suppliers [r) 4 FE 7 2 5K 2,591 8,886 - —
Prepayment for acquisition of ~ UWEEWIE - #2E K
property, plant and equipment 5% 2 FE T FE 22,041 3,011 - -
Other prepayments HENRIE 22,659 7,176 10,402 331
Other taxes recoverable H o] e B F 18 1,748 5,525 - —
138,758 42,182 185,034 144,593
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be T8 B BT 5 e LSRR K % L i P UK SR IB S
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. R—FAKRESBERBFASL
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25.FE W BR A K E b FE IR R 18

(Continued) (&)

(a) BR#R AT

JE W AR R K W SR 4 (B SR R 3
) RIEHRORESITOT

(a) Ageing analysis

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables (net
of allowance for doubtful debts) at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

The Group
rEE

2011 2010

—E——fF —T-ZF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARBEFT

Within 1 month 118 A A 20,718 3,811
More than 1 month 1E A& 1E3E A K

but less than 3 months - 3,200
More than 3 months 3E A&1E6E A K

but less than 6 months 2,340 —

More than 6 months 6EAREI1I2EANRN

but less than 12 months 1 -

More than 12 months 12 A A 50 118

23,109 7,129

REE MG TEFI0E180H
FEH AEEULRGERRE
X RRIEEBARRES
% BEFPEREREES-

The Group generally grants credit period of 30 to 180
days to its customers. The Group may, on a case by case
basis and after evaluation of the business relationship and
creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon the
customers’ requests.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR 163
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. & W AR Tk % EL At B WK TR

(Continued) (#&)
(b) Impairment of trade and bills (b) FE: Ut B 5 % E At B LKL
receivables MIEZRE
The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during FARKBE 2EHOT :
the year is as follows:
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBF T
At 1 January w—HA—H - 9,516
Write-back on disposal of HEN B R R #E
subsidiaries (note 36) (MS5E36) - (9,516)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H - —
Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded FEW R R 2 BEEBE T RARE
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied FRACEE - MEAN S B (S AU B KIE
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the B A] B ME AR R BR AN - FELLIE R
impairment loss is written off against trade debtors directly T A E 18 B % B E IR T
(see note 2())). 85 (BB =E2(3) ©
Write-back of impairment loss on trade receivables JFE U5 B SRR 1 S 4B B (2 45 Wk B
represents the recovery of the debts due from those trade AR A ERE 2 EUWER KT R
debtors previously considered to be impaired. f&IH o
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25.FE W BR A K E b FE IR R 18

(Continued) (&)

(c) RiBERWKRARE

(c) Trade and bills receivables that are not

impaired

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be

WRE

AR A A (8 Bl K B R (E A e U
R R B R IE 2 Bk AT 0

impaired are as follows: Nk
The Group
rEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBEFT
Neither past due nor impaired R H N KRR E 23,058 7,011
Less than 1 month past due B H R 11E A - -
1 to 3 months past due #Ei1 =318 A - -
Over 3 months past due 180 BB @ 31E A 51 118
51 118
23,109 7,129

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to an independent customer that had a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believed that no impairment allowance was necessary in
respect of this balance as there had not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balance was still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

AR ER Ko AR B H) MR IS K
REEP  REFEPROYVER
RECEE °

B 8 3B = ROBUE 2 e M kTR L
RAKEHEE RIFEAREZE
URFPEH - BREBELR E
EEREAREEERLESEX
g BERMGHRIDEEARN 2
g mE - WBAREBASRIEL
BB o AEE W EL % FHE
S A A ERm -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

26.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26 RERBEESEEY
The Group The Company
ey
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——& | 2% | ZE——-F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR | A\RETT | ARETR ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY
— Cash at bank and in hand - RITEFBEES 21,698 23,567 6,065 7,658

166

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately RMB10,024,000 (2010: RMB16,688,000). RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

WRTT 2R SRR BRI
# B FI S BEER 8. - 1777 B
RSB R AT IR 3 4 5 R 5 B 8B
GE

RIEHBR - NEBUARKEIE
MESERBESSEEDHNAARE
10,024,000 (ZE—ZF : ARK
16,688,0007T) ° ARMAI B HEER
PREMER - BREFR R INEEE
RBIAMEERE - EERMESERT
REBEEZREREETINEER
ZRITIEAREHBKHMER -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

27.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 ESBRA KR B EEFRIE
The Group The Company
rEHE Fi/N|
2011 2010 2011 2010
2% | -z | =2—-% | —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR | ARBTT | ARBTR AR®TTT

Trade payables JE 1 BE 3K 50,962 30,886 - -
Amounts due to subsidiaries NGRS

(note 43(b)(iv)) (M 5£43(b)(iv)) - - 6,606 484
Amounts due to directors ENEZESHIE

(note 43(b)(ii) (B 5 43(b)(iii) 7,852 27,647 - 380
Amount due to a non-controlling &t — R B D72

interest of a subsidiary FERREFRE

(note 43(b)fii) (B 25 43(b)il) 1,569 1,569 - -
Accrued expenses JEEHRIS ]

and other payables Hfth FE A F10E 5,501 3,453 2,361 983
Payables for acquisition of WM - K

property, plant and equipment R FE( A 50,250 24,562 - —

Financial liabilities measured BRBENAGTEL

at amortised cost SHMARE 116,134 88,117 8,967 1,847
Deposits received from customers [A1% P UEL 2 & & 9,249 15,092 = -
Other taxes payables H AR HIE 2,017 4,806 573 592

127,400 108,015 9,540 2,439

TEEREREREEREXERARLT
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

27.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 27 EBRA R B ERIE

(&)
The ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the JEAST BR SR 3R & B R 9 BR 1R 9 47 10
reporting period is as follows: ™~
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Within 1 month 1@ AR 5,102 4,955
More than 1 month 11E A& 1B31E A KN
but less than 3 months 5,556 10,068
More than 3 months 3B A EE6EAR
but less than 6 months 17,628 8,224
More than 6 months 618 A& B12@ A KN
but less than 12 months 22,440 7,637
More than 12 months BiE121E A 236 2
50,962 30,886

The trade and other payables are expected to be settled or FERT AR N R E b FE ST SRIBTE B AS P —
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on FRBEIERBBRANAEREKE
demand. i o
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

/= =+,
28.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28.88 17 R H At & =X
As at 31 December 2011, the bank and other loans were RZF——F+_A=+—8 " EE
repayable as follows: BRRITREMEROT -
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
=2 —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARBEFIT
Secured bank loans repayable: AEEEHEMRITER
Within 1 year or on demand 1FRNRBREREER 12,900 10,000
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FEE2F R - 8,000
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F B E5F A - —
After 5 years 5% LA - —
12,900 18,000
Unsecured other loans repayable: AEESEEREMER
Within 1 year or on demand 1FRNHBRERER 50,000 50,000
62,900 68,000
Less: Amount due within 1 year B OmEBAET—FA
shown under current liabilities FIH 2 38 (62,900) (60,000)
Amount due after 1 year FERBBET —F#&
shown under non-current liabilities EIHY 2 I8 - 8,000
AR AR ERERERAT 169
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28.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

170

Notes:

(a)

Bank loans bear interest at variable interest rates ranging from 7.67%
to 16.80% (2010: 7.02% to 11.15%) per annum.

Unsecured other loans of RMB50,000,000 (2010: RMB50,000,000)
represent loans due to a non-bank finance company in the PRC,
who is a non-controlling shareholder which holds 17% equity interest
in Shanxi Wanzhi Logistics Limited (“Wanzhi Logistics”), a subsidiary
of the Company. The loans bear interest at fixed rates ranging from
5.69% to 7.12% (2010: 5.63% to 7.28%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2011, bank borrowings of RMB8,000,000 (2010:
RMB13,000,000) were secured by the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately RMB30,190,000
(2010: RMB38,161,000) and prepaid lease payments for land under
operating leases with carrying amount of approximately RMB Nil
(2010: RMB8,705,000). The remaining bank borrowings of
RMB4,900,000 (2010: RMB5,000,000) were secured by the pledge
of certain plant and equipment of [ PEL/KEZEEE TEH R A A
(transliterated as Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture Huayu Trading Limited)
(“Shanxi Huayu”). Shanxi Huayu is a company owned by a former
shareholder of the Million Ideas Group (note 35(b)), who became an
equity shareholder of the Company upon conversion of the
convertible bonds during the year ended 31 December 2010. As at
31 December 2011, the Group did not have any undrawn banking
facilities (2010: Nil).

28.BITREMMER ®

RITERENTEE7.67%E16.80%
TE-FE 7.02%%211.15%) 2 ¥
BF RS o

AR 2 E B SRR #50,000,0007T
(ZZ=—ZF : AR¥50,000,0007T) T3
HERPE—BIERITH B AR ZER »
ZATAREARARMBARILAER
imARAE ([BEWR] 17% MR E
BZIEEBRER c RSERENTEF
5.69%%7.12% (ZE—Z4F : 5.63%%
7.28%) 2 BEEFIEREE -

R-E——F+-A=+—0  RTHE
FAFRHES,000,0000T (ZE—ZF : A
[R#13,000,0007T) LAZS & [ AR EIE 4V
A AR#30,190,0007C (— B — T4 ¢
AR#38,161,00070) 2 W% - #eE R
EBAREETEOTIREENAARE
T (ZT—FF : AR¥8,705,000
JL) 2 TEf L @ VR IR o HERIRTT
B AR4,900,0007T (ZE—Z4F -
AR #5,000,0007T) JhLALL B K SR 2E
SIBARAA ([LAER]) 25 TH
BREFHERER - LFESABEE
(MisE35(0) IR R 2 AR - iz
CHIRERBE_ZE—ZF+_A=+
—BIEFEEBRITRKRESEKABEAA
B ERRE - R E——F+_-fA=
+—B - AEEWETARRRZET

BR(CE-27 8 -
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

29.0BLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 29.@t¥& #0295 &

At 31 December 2011, the Group had obligations under finance RZF——F+A=+—80  &&
leases repayable as follows: AT ERENAREME L RIE -
The Group
i .|
2011 2010
= —T-TF
Present Present

value of the Total value of the Total

minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments

REEE REEE REEE REHEE
REA:EN ARBE | THHRE FRBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR | ARBTT ARBTR

Within 1 year 1F R 3,420 4,242 — -
After 1 year but within 2 years 12 {B2F R 3,906 4,242 - —
After 2 years but within 5 years 2514 /1B5F & 350 354 - -
After 5 years 5% 14 - - — -
7,676 8,838 - —
Less: Total future interest B RRF B B
expenses (1,162) -
Present value of lease obligations 78 #4775 E#) IR & 7,676 -
The Group leases certain equipment for its operations under AEEREREHNLHHEESR TR&
the Finance Lease Arrangement as detailed in note 20(a). These HEBHAREKEE  FHEANMWFE
leases are classified as finance leases and have remaining lease 20(a) e ZEMAO DB ABERLD -
terms of approximately 25 months. FIeREBAA) 72518 A -
RN EREEAEREEARAT 71
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Iy

30.CONVERTIBLE BONDS 30. AR B3
The movements of the liability component, derivative BmREFNEEDSD - FTETEE
component and equity component of the convertible bonds M RERE D 2 EEBEIWT -

are as follows:

Liability Derivative Equity
component of component of component of
convertible  convertible convertible

bonds bonds bonds Total
TRRESN TRRESN TRARESH

BEHG TEIAHAG M5 @et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR AR®TxR ARBTR

Principal amount of convertible AT # % EH R 21T

bonds at date of issue =8N o

(note 35(b)) (K 5E35(b) 128,573 (10,770) 47,197 165,000
Transaction costs RGMA (386) - (142) (528)

128,187 (10,770Q) 47,055 164,472
Interest expenses FEFAY 3,173 — — 3,173
Conversion of bonds HRES (84,750 7,004 (31,245) (108,991)
Fair value gain AP k% - (3,223) - (3,223
Exchange adjustments b 5 3% (3,473) 368 - (3,105)
At 31 December 2010 RZT—ZF
and 1 January 2011 +ZA=+—-HK
—f2-——%—H—H 43,137 (6,621) 15,810 52,326
Issued during the year FALET (F1FE35())

(note 35(a)) - - 413,621 413,621
Interest expenses F B 2,289 - - 2,289
Conversion of bonds BRES (43,913) - (188,222) (232,135)
Fair value loss AFEEER - 6,487 - 6,487
Exchange adjustments e AR (1,513) 134 - (1,379
At 31 December 2011 R=Z——%

+=A=+-H - - 241,209 241,209
172 CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 # %2

30.CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(@)

As part of the consideration for the acquisition of the
Million Ideas Group (note 35(b)) during the year ended 31
December 2010, on 16 July 2010, the Company issued
HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds (the
“2010 Convertible Bonds”) due 15 July 2013 with
aggregate principal amount of HK$187,500,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB165,000,000). The 2010
Convertible Bonds had a maturity period of 3 years from
the issue date and were (i) convertible at the option of the
bondholder into 937,500,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each in the capital of the Company at any time from 16
July 2010 to 15 July 2013 at a conversion price of
HK$0.20 per share; and (ii) redeemable at the option of
the Company at any time from 16 July 2010 to 15 July
2013 at 100% of the principal amount.

The 2010 Convertible Bonds contained a liability
component, a derivative component and an equity
component, whose fair values on the issue date and at
the end of the reporting period were determined by the
directors with reference to an independent professional
valuation.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

—E——F+A=1+—RHIEFE

30. A AR fE 35 )

(@)

HE_ZT—ZF+HA=+—H
EFE - W%W%Ef%l@ﬁi
35(0) 2HHHKE RZE—F
F+ A +/\E| $ ﬂ?éf"f$ﬁ
4258 5187,500,00078 7T () HHE
A R#165,000,0007T) 2 E 5
AgBRES (22 —FF B8R
EH]) - ZEARREFANET
HERR-ZE—=F+A+HA
- —T-ZFBmRESH
BITHHRE =FZE - B()7]

HEFRBREAEER-Z—ZF
+ A ‘f‘/\Eli_%:_:ﬂE‘tﬁ"f’
AHEBEMTMAER 8K
.20 THHRKREBLRA
937,500,000/% A" BIAR A &%
E{E0.01B T2 ik + K (i)r]
MARNGIEER-_ZT—ZF+ A
+ANBE-_ZT—=4tA+EHA
HIR O E MR - ZASEEE
BB o

—T-EETARESEL AR
B - 574 T BB 2%
5 ERBHT R RIS B
K AFENHESELEHT
HEGEBE -
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30.CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

174

(@)

(Continued)

The fair value of the liability component was estimated at
the issue date using an equivalent market interest for a
similar bond without a conversion option. The effective
interest rate of the liability component on initial recognition
was 8.67% per annum. The fair value of the derivative
component, representing the early redemption option held
by the Company, was determined with reference to an
independent professional valuation using the Binomial
model. The residual amount was assigned as the equity
component and was presented in equity heading
“convertible bonds reserve”.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the 2010
Convertible Bonds with aggregate principal amount of
HK$124,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB108,991,000) were converted, resulting in the issue
of 622,500,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.20
each.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the remaining
2010 Convertible Bonds with aggregate principal amount
of HK$63,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB59,723,000) were converted, resulting in the issue
of 315,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.20
each.

30./ A REFH

(a)

(&)

BEHHZAFETIRETEE
RAM e 2 FBUE S 28
EMSAEELEE - RUITHE
RE - BEFN 2 ERMNER AT
F8.67% ° PTHET AR (JhEAR
RAFAZIRFPELRER 22
FEIFEAZEAREREL2ER
NEEGHBERET - FREEL
1B BiERS I - WHIA AR
EHREEI BT 2 EE -

HE—_Z—=F+-_A=+—8
I+ FE N & B A
124,500,000 7T (KIHEERAR
#108,991,0007T) 2 —F—FF
AR ES B ESR0.20/8 TH
Bk E S B FRET
622,500,0008% A2 &) & A~ /B &
REE0.0O1B T LB -

HE-_T——F+=-A=+—8H
IEFE - A¢ 4% /63,000,000
BT (KHEE R ARS59,723,000
TT) Z Ftp — T —TEABKES
B ER0.20/8 TR IR B8
B EEE17315,000,0008% A&
NAIRAFEREECOIETZ
EimAR o
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

30.CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

On 12 July 2011, the Company issued HK$ denominated
zero-coupon convertible bonds (the “2011 Convertible
Bonds”) due 11 July 2013 for aggregate principal amount
of HK$499,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB413,621,000) as consideration for the acquisition of
the Wealthy Talent Group (note 35(a)). The 2011
Convertible Bonds have a maturity period of 2 years from
the issue date and are (i) convertible at the option of the
bondholder into 1,919,230,769 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company at any time
from 12 July 2011 to 11 July 2013 at a conversion price
of HK$0.26 per share; and (ii) redeemable at the option
of the Company at any time from 12 July 2011 to 11 July
2013 at 100% of the principal amount. The Company is
not required, upon the maturity of the 2011 Convertible
Bonds, to redeem or pay any outstanding principal
amount of the 2011 Convertible Bonds.

The equity component of the 2011 Convertible Bonds was
recognised at fair value on initial recognition, whose fair
values are determined by the directors with reference to
an independent professional valuation, and are presented
in equity heading “convertible bonds reserve”.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the 2011
Convertible Bonds with aggregate principal amount of
HK$208,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB172,412,000) were converted, resulting in the issue
of 800,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.26
per share. As at 31 December 2011, the 2011 Convertible
Bonds with aggregate principal amount of
HK$291,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB241,209,000) remained outstanding.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

30./ A REFH

(b)

{E AU B Wealthy Talent Group
(fi7E35(0) 2 RE  RZT——
F+A+=H  ARAETAE
4858 /499,000,000 7T (KIAEE
M ARE413,621,0000T) 2 Z 8
AR ES ([T ——Fr# K
BEH]) c ZEUBMBREFAET
FEMR -E—=F+A+—H
FEf e —E——F R MRESFE
BITHEIRETMERIE - B@)A
HEFEEAR-Z—FtA
+-—BE=—ZE—=F+A+—H
HAMI MR R - IR BA%0.2678
JUHYRA B A1,919,230,769
I AR R A R G EE0.018
TC2 @A ¢ M (i)A] AR BR
BR - Z—FtA+_-_HEC
T—=FtA+—BHENEM
FifE - BASBEEED - A4
AIHBER T ——FaBRES
FHAEER SR N =T ——F 7]
BREHFWERKREERNSE -

R EHERE - —F——F A #
(ESE oA g (Ba R /NS S =R
R ERFENIHESEKE2EE
VEEMAEETE - WHATRHRA
EFRHEE] T 2 -

HE-_Z——F+=-A=+—H
It F E N & B2 BBA
208,000,000/ 7T (M E R AR
#472,412,00070) 7 —FE——4F
AR ES B R ENR0.268 T
®ogEE B BT
800,000,000% & 2 &) ¥ A A
fEEEC.OVE T 2 EBM - R
TE——F+-"A=+—8 &%
4858 5291,000,0005 7T (4010 S
RARM241,209,0007T) 2 =&
——FA BB EFDREER -
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' 31.INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 1. EMBMRRRAZFE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current income tax recognised in the consolidated (@) ERAFBMRRAE AR 2 BVH AT
statement of financial position and the movements during SHEEFRNESH T

the year is as follows:

The Group The Company
A5E LN
2011 2010 2011 2010
“F--% | ZF-TF | —%8--F% —3-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT AR¥ETR AREFT
PRC EIT RETEREH
At 1 January R—H—H (66) 4,121 - -
Provision for the year AEERE 16,429 3,547 821 -
Under-provision in prior years  BAEFEEET 2 631 924 - -
EIT paid for the year REERHH
BRFER (4,069) (6,982) (765) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEH B L 7l
(note 35(a)) (P5E35(a) (56) - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR
(note 36) (F3E36) - (1,676) - -
At 31 December W+-B=+-H 12,869 (66) 56 -
Income tax recoverable REEEBBHRARR
recognised in the BRI E FER
consolidated statement of
financial position (687) (687) - -
Income tax payable RERRBMRRE W
recognised in the RZENFER
consolidated statement of
financial position 13,556 621 56 -
Net tax payable/(recoverable) ~ FEN /(AT 4 [E) I8 F & 12,869 (66) 56 -
176 CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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31.INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

recognised

The Group

31.528

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

MR R T A Z Fr
BH @)

(b) CRAELEHEEE
JS=Ni

REE
iR A M FBAOR R T R H R
HEE,/ (Bff) 2KHRERF

S

position and the movements during the year are as follows: WHEEEST -
Fair value
adjustment on
Fair value prepaid lease
adjustment payments for Fair value
on property  land under adjustmenton  Impairment
plant and operating intangible loss ontrade  Withholding
equipment leases assets  receivables tax Others Total
BERHT
VERE: T Bt
Rk Bez HBFEEZ JE MR
LTERE  ATERE ATEEER BEEE B At @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At1 January 2010 RZE-Z£-R (86) ) (17,422) 1,427 - - (16,083)
Acquisition of subsidiaries ﬁlﬁ%ﬂf 50 (i u£35( )
(note 35(b)) 329 - (24,325) - - - (23,996)
Credited/(charged) to HA/ (B8 BABER
consolidated income
statement (1) - 2,621 (409) - - 2,201
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBRE (H36)
(note 36) - - - (1,018) - - (1,018
At 31 December 2010 and RZZT-%F
1 January 2011 TZR=+-Ak
—2——5-f-H 232 2 (39,126) - - - (38,896)
Acquisition of subsidiaries KERB AR
(note 35(a)) (Fir3£35(a)) - (672) (66,085) - - (622) (67,379)
Credited/(charged) to A/ IR E) RABSER
consolidated income
statement (98) 6 6,343 - (2,435) (1,365) 2,451
At 31 December 2011 WZZ--5£+ZA=1-H 134 (668) (98,868) - (2,435) (1,987) (103,824)
FERANEREEREREEARA T 177
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31.INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

1.2 MR RRA ZAT
B

(b) EERELEHREBEEE
)5 S=R—4C )

IO RHL R #5 s 5 MR

for financial reporting purposes: IR DT -
2011 2010
—E——fF —ET-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBEFT
Deferred tax assets recognised RErE BB ARR &R AR
in the consolidated statement REFIEEE
of financial position 189 302
Deferred tax liabilities recognised  R&R G B ik ik M IERR
in the consolidated statement EEFIEAE
of financial position (104,013) (39,198)
(103,824) (38,896)
The Company VNN

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the statement of financial position and the movements

R AR R MR BV IR A7 1R
BEMKD RERFRANEB T

during the year are as follows: mr
Withholding
tax
SRk
RMB’000
ARBT R

At 1 January 2010, 31 December 2010 RZE—FTF—H—8"
and 1 January 2011 —E-EE+-_A=+—HK
—E——F—H—H —
Charged to profit and loss FFAEE (2,179)
At 31 December 2011 R-—=E——%+=-A=+—H (2,179)
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31.INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 3.8 MM REKRAZFT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION B @

(Continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses
carried forward of approximately RMB23,693,000 (2010:
RMB6,115,000) and will expire within 5 years under the
current tax legislation. The cumulative tax losses have not
been recognised as a deferred tax asset as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity.

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2010, temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of subsidiaries since 1 January
2008 amounted to approximately RMB13,591,000.
Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB1,359,000
had not been recognised during the year ended 31
December 2010 in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of these retained profits as
the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it had been determined that it was
probable that profits would not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

(c) /& RHERD ZIELER T
gE

(d)

RZZT——F+=ZA=+—8 "
REEW A ERELE RATHIE
BEERBREBESNAFA
FIER) 49 AR #23,693,0007T (=
T—ZTF : ARM6,115,0007T)
BERMBELEHRIBEE - R5THIE
BEIRWHERRELESIEE
E - BEREAERE R AER
REBET KA REA Al K S5 T E
B2 RRERBREF

ABBELERERE

R_E—ZFTF+=-_A=+—H"
BB AT —_EENF—HA—
H LAZR B R 2 Bl s B B Bl B0 & s
'I‘E%EEZW%AE‘#NS 591,000
Lo BEZT—TF+A=F
—Etir m AR B B F R
B & B Am BB ERIELER
HEFEHAR1,359,0007T R
EEARRQ RIS ZENE QR
REBUER - MATEAEFTERN
ARZREDEBEB@RT
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

180

(@) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s

32.EX K f#f

() rEEEsLEESEAKBHR
EM&E%%%Zﬂ%%ﬁﬁA
FLME%W AR BME B4 %

ﬁ%@ﬂ@@&EMZHQﬁ

individual components of equity between the beginning AT
and the end of the year are set out below:
Share Convertible
Share  Contributed option  Translation bonds Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TRRES ) .
RHEE BABH BRERE BERE ffe 2iFE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR%Tr AR%Tr AREBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balanceat 1 January 2010 RZE-TE-F—A7&H 347,368 - - (3.387) — (02079 241902
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - (13,618) (13,618)
Other comprehensive income ~ REEE#2EYE
for the year - - - 1,956 - - 1,956
Total comprehensive rEERENG/ (A% B8
income/(expense) for the year - - - 1,956 - (13,618) (11,662)
Issue of new shares B{THRA
— Share placement -RARE 34,012 - - - - - 34,012
— Conversion of convertile ~ —ERAARER
bonds \ 103,626 - - - (31,245) - 72,381
Transaction costs attributable ~ E{THR D EER ZMA
to issue of new shares (474) - - - - - (474)
Recognition of equity component BT &R E4H
of convertible bonds (note 30) #3553 (1 330) - - - - 47,055 - 47,055
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - 37,490 - - - - 37,490
Balance at 31 December 2010 H-5-%
and 1 January 2011 +ZA=1-H
k-E--%
-A-B2&% 484,532 37,490 - (1,431) 15,810 (115,697) 420,704
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - (28,361) (28,361)
Other comprehensive income ~ AEEEM2ENE
for the year - - - 2,257 - - 2,257
Total comprehensive AEE2ENRE/
income/(expense) for the year (%) 84 - - - 2,257 - (28,361) 26,104)
Issue of new shares BHRA
— Share placement -RipEE 176,717 - - - - - 176,717
— Conversion of convertible ~ —BRT#EES
bonds ) 222,132 - - - (188,222) - 34,510
Transaction costs attributable ~ E{THRHEERZMA
to issue of new shares (5,615) - - - - - (5,615)
Recognition of equity component ﬁ%@ﬂ?ﬁ&%%ﬁ'\]
of convertible bonds (note 30) ~ #Ez #43 (B 30) - - - - 413,621 - 413,621
Equity-settled share based Mﬁxf&,uﬁuﬁﬂ
payments BEEZHF - - 28,793 - - - 28,793
Lapse of share options BREXN - - (#17) - - 47 -
Transfer to accumulated losses BB Z 2:HE1E - (37,490) - - - 37,490 -
Balance at 31 December 2011 R-F-—%
TZR=t-Hz&H 878,366 - 28,376 826 241,209 (106,151) 1,042,626
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 32.EX K f#E @
(b) Authorised and issued share capital (b) ZFEREBITRA
The Group and the Company
AEEREAAT
2011 2010
—E--f —E-%F
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
7 &A X} PG C! 2H
’000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
TR AR¥Tx T AREFT
Authorised ordinary shares A& — G E(E
of HK$0.01 each: 0.01 BTz LR 10,000,000 94,610 5,000,000 53,000
Issued and fully paid BEETRHRE
ordinary shares FREEC.01E T
of HK$0.01 each: L EER
At 1 January R—A—H 2,256,675 20,681 1,361,815 12,921
Issue of shares by BBRBROBESETRG
share placement 570,830 4,744 272,360 2,395
Issue of shares upon TERREES
conversion of BB M
convertible bonds 1,115,000 9,403 622,500 5,365
At 31 December R+-_A=+—H 3,942,505 34,828 2,256,675 20,681
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TERFEEABRESTREIR
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to ZEREERRAARIEHLEZES
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All E—R2EERE - B LERE
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s ARGz FBREEHLZAHEERE
residual assets. & o
PEHEAER TS RERREARAT 181
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

182

Increase in authorised share capital

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 20 June 2011, the
Company'’s authorised ordinary share capital was
increased to HK$100,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB94,610,000) by the creation of
an additional 5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each, ranking pari passu with the existing
ordinary shares of the Company in all respects.

Issue of ordinary shares

On 24 February 2010, the Company, Mr. Wang
Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”) (an executive director and
substantial shareholder of the Company) and Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited (“Jumbo Lane”) (a
company beneficially owned by Mr. Wang) entered
into a placing and subscription agreement with a
placing agent for: (i) the placement of 63,690,000
and 208,670,000 ordinary shares of the Company
owned by Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane respectively
at a placing price of HK$0.152 per share (the “2010
Placing”); and (i) Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane agreed
to subscribe for 63,690,000 and 208,670,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company respectively at a
subscription price of HK$0.152 per share (the “2010
Subscription”). The 2010 Placing and 2010
Subscription were completed on 1 March 2010 and
8 March 2010 respectively. The net proceeds from
the 2010 Subscription amounted to approximately
HK$40,860,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB35,933,000).

2.8 K fH#E ®
(b) ZFEREBBITRA »)

(i)

(ii)

1 h03E E R AR
BEARGTREAN T ——
FEXA-tHBTZREE
IR EmBEERAZES -
RRARZEELBRAER
# SR %8 I 5,000,000,000
R EEC.OVE T Tl
fi% 38 51 Z 100,000,0007% 7T
(B EgRHARE
94,610,0007T) * Z &R D
EEFEEARFIREGER
& B R &AL ©

CRQRE > TEBASE
(TExRE]D (RRE—FH
TEERFERR) RETE

EnENBEERERR
NE([EE]) B—ZRER
B —EHEELREWR
E AR BBR)VERESR
01528 LB EBEETE
EEREEDFFEAEDN
63,690,000 MK &
208,670,0000% A& 2 & & i
BZZE—Z=FRE]) s &
(N EEEREBEREZGR
0.1528 L2 REE D IR
B 63,690,0000% &
208,670,0000% A5 A &) 1 &
B ([ ZZE—ZFRED -
—E-EFRERZEF
FREEDIN_ZE—ZF
—A—BEk-_Z—ZF=HA
NBZEK - —E—ZFRH
MATBRBEBIFRELNA
40,860,000/ 7T (FBE 749
AR #35,933,0007T) °
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(ii)

Issue of ordinary shares (Continued)

On 17 March 2011, the Company allotted and issued
a total of 326,830,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each in the capital of the Company at a placing price
of HK$0.225 per share by way of placement to
independent investors. The net proceeds from the
placing amounted to approximately HK$71,281,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB60,011,000).

On 4 August 2011, the Company, Mr. Wang and
Jumbo Lane entered into a placing and subscription
agreement with a placing agent for: (1) the placement
on a best effort basis of a maximum of 200,000,000
and 200,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
owned by Mr. Wang and Jumbo Lane respectively
at a placing price of HK$0.6 per share (the “2011
Placing”); and (ii) the subscription of 400,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company by Mr. Wang
and Jumbo Lane respectively at a subscription price
of HK$0.6 per share (the “2011 Subscription”). The
2011 Placing and 2011 Subscription were
completed on 10 August 2011 and 17 August 2011
respectively. An aggregate of 244,000,000 placing
shares (as to 122,000,000 shares from Mr. Wang
and 122,000,000 shares from Jumbo Lane) have
been successfully placed to independent investors
at the placing price of HK$0.6 per share and an
aggregate of 244,000,000 subscription shares have
been issued and allotted by the Company to Mr.
Wang and Jumbo Lane at the subscription price of
HK$0.6 per share. The net proceeds from the 2011
Subscription amounted to approximately
HK$141,850,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB115,835,000).

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

2.8 K H#E @
(b) ZFERCEBITRA @

(i)

BITZER ()
R_E——F=ZA++tH"
KRBSEBAEILILEER
E2ZAN  LAEKR0.225%
T EBREEREITAH
326,830,0000% & 2 &) & A
FEREEOIBTZ YR
I o REMBRIBEFENE
71,281,000/ 7T (1B E R4
AR #60,011,0007T) °

RZE——F)\AWMA ' K
AR FERAEREERE—F
BRERIBITY—EEE MR
Bips ARG (1)R\B
BFTREEERER0.6BTTS
REBRETAERTED
A+ /£ % 200,000,000
A% X2 200,000,0000% 7Zx 2 &)
TER([ZF——F/
£ R ELREREER
FRo6EBITZRBEBED R
2 8#400,000,0000% 7 2 7]
FERAKR([ZT—FR
Bl  —E——FRERZ
T——FRECHRIR-Z
——FNA+tER T ——
FNA+LEBEZRER - &%
244,000,0000% Bc & f% {7 (F
7 122,000,0000% B 17 2 &
F 45 4 K2 122,000,000/% A%
PR EEE) KR SF%0.6
BB EERBIINES
e » RARQRIEER0.6
B RBERATLERE
BB TR B A H
244,000,0008% REERL D -
—E——FRENAEFHCE
SREEA) 141,850,000/ 7T
(HERH ARE
115,835,0007T) °
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2.8 K fH#E ®
(b) ZFEREBBITRA »)

32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

(iii) Conversion of convertible bonds (iii) BEIRAIARES

184

On 19 July 2010, 17 November 2010 and
23 December 2010, the 2010 Convertible Bonds
with principal amounts of HK$58,000,000,
HK$60,000,000 and HK$6,500,000 respectively
were converted into the Company’s ordinary shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.20 per share. As a
result of the conversion, 622,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company were issued.

On 19 August 2011, the 2010 Convertible Bonds
with principal amount of HK$63,000,000 were
converted into the Company’s ordinary shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.20 per share. As a result
of the conversion, 315,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company were issued.

On 5 September 2011, 20 September 2011 and
6 December 2011, the 2011 Convertible Bonds with
principal amounts of HK$130,000,000,
HK$52,000,000 and HK$26,000,000 respectively
were converted into the Company’s ordinary shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.26 per share. As a
result of the conversion, 800,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company were issued.

R_E—ZTF+t/+1H -
—EEF+-ATERE
—E2-FF+ZRA=+=
H: X285 A
58,000,000/ 7T * 60,000,000
77T 126,500,000/ 7T 2 =
T-TFABRRES &S
f&0.208 T R EER A
AN AL BT o 8535 5E K
% ARABEBITEBR
##Z 51622,500,000% °

R_ZE——FN\A+1HB"
K4 %8563,000,000/5 70 2
—E-TFBRRKRES &
BR0.208 T 2 AR E R
BARRNEE B o BT
% AQRIMBEITEBR
#%315,000,0000% °

WZZE——FhLAAABE =
E——FhLAZ+HRZE
—F+ZAA AEHE
% Bl £130,000,000/8 7T *
52,000,000# Tt &
26,000,000 L2 —E——
FARKRES - REKR0.26
BT R EE R AR AT
L@k o EI]STERE - AR
AR B TS EREZ
800,000,000% °
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
share premium is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company, subject to the condition that the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of share premium if (j) it is, or would
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due, or (ii) the realisable value of its
assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital account.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the amount of
reserves of subsidiaries that have been capitalised
as a result of the merger.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus at 1 January 2011
represented deemed contribution from equity
shareholders of the Company which was based on
the excess of the fair value of the consideration over
the net assets of the Shine Science BVI Group
disposed of during the year ended 31 December
2010.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

2.EXRRRE @
(c) Bz MEREW

(i)

(iii)

B E
BRIBERSHSQRE &K
REA DK TARNERE
HE i (i) A 9 I By 3 EL & R BE
BEHEIBMEE  K(EE
AEBEERmMIREEE
MEBITIRAR 2% - 8
KRB TEEIRIOR AL E
R R E P ELE D
K ©

BHtfEE
B HHREEENE R RRE 6
MBEFRERZ FEREHE -

A B

RZZE——F—A—HBZ#H
ABERIE IR AN A B 25 AR
RZBEHRABLE - HHRALD
BENREBE_ZE—ZF+=
A=Z+—BLEFEHE
Shine Science BVI% B R (B
ZATEBRARLFEEBL

HBOETHE -
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

186

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required
to appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and financial regulations
applicable to PRC enterprises, to the general reserve
until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of the
PRC subsidiary’s registered capital. Thereafter, any
further appropriation can be made at the directors’
discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 2(q)(ii).

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u).
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(vii) Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represents the value
of unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(m).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt
comprises the Group’s bank and other borrowings,
obligations under finance leases and convertible bonds
less cash and cash equivalents as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Adjusted
capital comprises equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S
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32.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cContinued) 2.BX N F#E @
(d) EXERE #)

(d) Capital management (continueq)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from 2010, was to
maintain a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio within 20%.

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as at 31 December
2011 and 2010 are as follows:

RRE-F——F+-A=+—
AULER ) ARBRHRE

ZERARZH

R AR EE K

ﬁﬁ&ﬁzﬁttﬁ—n’ﬁhﬁ’?o%ﬁq

%

R-B——FN_T—FF+

A=ZT—RZFAEHKERHEE

REEEMT -
2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hr=3 AR® TR ARETT
Bank and other borrowings 817 & E fib & 5k 28 62,900 68,000
Obligations under finance Bl & i ## &
leases 29 7,676 —
Convertible bonds A& 5 30 - 43,137
Less: Cash and cash B BekReEED
equivalents 26 (21,698) (23,567)
Net debt FaE 48,878 87,570
Equity attributable to equity 7K/ &£ 25 I 5
shareholders of FE1E
the Company 1,052,422 433,034
Adjusted capital EEE S PN 1,101,300 520,604
Net debt-to-adjusted FRERHKH
capital ratio =¥ $ 4.44% 16.82%
188 CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011



Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#% 3 3% Ffi 5%

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

33.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s old share option scheme (the “Old Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 28
July 2003 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to
eligible persons for their contributions to the Group. Pursuant
to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 18 May
2011, the Company’s Old Share Option Scheme adopted on
28 July 2003 was terminated and a new share option scheme
(the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted and will remain
in force for a period of 10 years. The purpose of the New Share
Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees (full-
time and part-time), directors, consultants and advisers of the
Group and to promote the success of the business of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, there were no shares in
respect of which share options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme.

On 30 May 2011, a total of 258,300,000 share options were
granted to eligible participants at an exercise price of HK$0.495
per share under the New Share Option Scheme.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
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33.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED BBUBREEEURG/ER
——
; TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2R 5 )
The following table discloses movements in the Company’s TREEARFEARRDRFERESTS
share options under the New Share Option Scheme during the BT ERESS
year:
Number of share Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
Period during which share ~ Exercise price  Outstanding at  options granted during during 31 December
Date of grant options are exercisable pershare 1 January 2011  during the year the year the year 2011
RZB--%
R=g--F ERRHZ tZR=+-8
REAE BREMRE SRTEE -B-RAfK BREHE LK EREAN Rfif
HK$
B
30/5/2011 30/5/2011-29/5/2021 0495 - 258,300,000 - (4,590,000) 253,710,000
Notes: B 5T -
()  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: ) BREERRGEEET
Number Contractual
of options Vesting conditions life of options
BREEE BERYE BRESHEH
Options granted:
ERERE
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—T——FAA=+H s T4
30 May 2011 43,080,000 50% are exercisable at any time after the 10 years
—FE——FAA=+H expiry of 1 year from the date of grant +4

up to 2 years from the date of grant;

and 100% are exercisable at any time

after the expiry of 2 years from the date

of grant up to 10 years from the date of offer.
50% A AR B BB M1 F 2R A B

SHim2F BAEIBERT 171 ¢ 2 100% A A H

HE R M2FZEH A BHEm10F

ERFEIBERRFTT (0 ©

Total share options
granted
RS 258,300,000
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33.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED BURBEEHELURDAER

TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(if) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options
are as follows:

25 )

BieE - ()

(i)  BBEREZEE RINETIEITRENT

Weighted average Number
exercise price of options
InEF 9T EE BREHE
HK$
BT
Outstanding at 1 January 2011 RZE——F—A—BXRTHE - —
Granted during the year FRERH 0.495 258,300,000
Lapsed during the year FRE KK 0.495 (4,590,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 2011 R-BE——F+-A=+—HBKRTE 0.495 253,710,000
Exercisable at 31 December 2011 RZZB——F+ZA=+—HAFE 0.495 215,220,000

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had an exercise
price of HK$0.495 and a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 9.4 years.

(i) Fair value of share options and assumptions:

The estimate of the fair value of the share options granted to the
directors and employees is measured based on the Binomial option
pricing model to reflect the impact of vesting period, exit rate and
exercise pattern on the option value.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
—E——FFH

REZE——F+-A=+—RAZKRTE
B2 ATRER04B T - AT 2
A FIHE QN FHR.4F -

(i) EREzATERRSE :

ETEEREENEREZ B AFE
TiRE—AAREEERNAE U
BEH - REEARTREXHER

BEEZZE -
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33.EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

BBURESEURGD HER

2R @)

ByeE - ()

(i) Fair value of share options and assumptions: (Continued) @iy BEREZAFERER: (&)
2011
—E——F
HK$
BT
Fair value at measurement date REtEHBz ATE 0.2141-0.3122
Share price at measurement date Ret2EEBHZRE 0.495
Exercise price T8 0.495
Expected volatility TEHA R 18
(expressed as a weighted average volatility used in (BE_BEXHAEETEEXAZ
the modelling under the Binomial option pricing model) hniEF R ES) ) 85.43-88.13%
Option life FERREF
(expressed as a weighted average life used in the (BE_EAREEEEA A2
modelling under the Binomial option pricing model) hniE 5 F 8951 7R) 10 year
Expected dividends TEHARR B Nil =
Risk free interest rate mE R = 0.468-2.368%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated
based on the weighted average remaining life of the options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly
available information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

The fair values of the share options granted to employees for the
year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to approximately
RMB9,193,000 which has been recognised as an expense in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December
2011.

TEHDR R TR 2R hE (R AR AR T
ZINEFHFEREE) REESH - I
B N B A R R SRR B 2 (A TR AR
BT UARE - BHRETIRBEZRE
REEGH - TEHEERRR2EFHT
BAFEQTEM -

HE_ZT——F+-A=1+—BLLFE
ETREMNBREZ ATESRO/A
[R#9,193,0007T - EREE_ZT——
FHoA=t-RALFEZHFABERR
NiER B —IEMX -

(iv)  Fair value of share options granted to consultants vy BETZEABERzBEREZATE
The Company measures the fair value of share options granted to ARABREMEERE 2 2 FEFER
consultants by reference to the fair values of services rendered. TrbRER C ERE s ATE  BHES
The fair values of the share options granted to consultants for the E——F+_A=1T—RALFERTHE
year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to approximately EMMERE AT ESBELOAAR
RMB19,600,000, of which approximately RMB9,550,000 has been 19,600,000t * EFH AR
recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement 9,550,000cEREE-—T——F +=
for the year ended 31 December 2011 and approximately A=+—HBIEFEZHREBERKXANER
RMB10,050,000 has been recognised as other prepayments in the A—IERY - #H) AR¥10,050,0007TE
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2011. ER-E——F+-A=+—B2z2&4
MIEAR AR AR B EMIER FHIE -
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34.DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT

PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The Company'’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which
are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing and
retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits scheme dealt with in
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 7(a) to these
financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as
at 31 December 2011 in respect of the retirement of its
employees (2010: Nil).
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35. 0 BEM B 2 |
(a) Wealthy Talent Group

35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) The Wealthy Talent Group

194

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 6 April 2011
(as amended by a supplement agreement dated 25 May
2011) entered into between the Company (as purchaser)
and Mr. Wang (as vendor) (the “Acquisition Agreements”),
the Group acquired from Mr. Wang the entire issued share
capital of Wealthy Talent Global Investments Limited for a
consideration of HK$499,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB413,621,000) (the “Wealthy Talent
Group Acquisition”) which was satisfied by the issue of
the 2011 Convertible Bonds to Mr. Wang.

Wealthy Talent Global Investments Limited, through its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy
Investments Limited and Luoyang Shunhe (collectively
referred to as the “Wealthy Talent Group”), is mainly
engaged in the supply of natural gas to its industrial
customers through pipelines, LNG trailers and tanks in
Ruyang Industrial Zone in Luoyang City, the PRC. It is
also engaged in the sales of LNG in Henan Province.

The Wealthy Talent Group Acquisition constituted a major
and connected transaction on the part of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules and the resolutions relating
thereto were passed by the shareholders of the Company
at an extraordinary general meeting held on 20 June 2011.
The Wealthy Talent Group Acquisition was completed on
12 July 2011.

BEARG(ERED) BT L4
(ERBEREIUM—MHEEAZ
T-——FHANBZWERE
(Wil CEHRA=T——
FREAZTHBEMNETHBEE
) NEBMTELEAEWE
Wealthy Talent Global
Investments Limited#) & 388, 2577
fg A - (& A&499,000,000/8 T
(BHERKH AR®413,621,000
7t) ([Wealthy Talent Groupit
Bl RETVBBEAARMTEL
AT T ——F A BRRESH
AR e

Wealthy Talent Global
Investments Limited:# i@ & & i
BRAREBTRMEEREXRER
PR~ &) KR 5 IR (5558 [Wealthy
Talent Group)) £ ZRH ERIGT
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REBENHEMETERPHE
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35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continve)  35.UX B FfI B 2 B 2
(@) The Wealthy Talent Group (Continued) (a) Wealthy Talent Group
(&)
Acquiree’s
carrying
amounts
immediately
before Fair value Fair
combination adjustments values
REEHA
B s
ZREE DNFERE AV E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBTR AR®BTR
Property, plant and equipment M - HERRE
(note 17) (FiF7E17) 71,727 - 71,727
Intangible asset BREE
— Exclusive right for piped — BERAREBZ
natural gas operation BREF (F:E19)
(note 19) — 264,341 264,341
Prepaid lease payments for land REMOTERN
under operating leases (note 18) T4 (Fifz18) 4,011 2,689 6,700
Inventories BE 398 - 398
Trade and other receivables JRE M5 B 3 e LAt B Uk R IE 11,871 - 11,871
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEFEYD 754 - 754
Tax refundable (note 31(a)) REF K (H3E31(a) 56 - 56
Trade and other payables JE A< BR 3R e E At B 5008 (32,668) - (32,668)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 31(b))  EEFIE & & (T 5£31(b)) (622) (66,757) (67,379)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities Al RIEE M B EFE 55,527 200,273 255,800
Goodwill on acquisition (note 16) A BUEE ~ 2 (KI5 16) 157,821
Consideration RE 413,621
Total consideration satisfied by: BREUTISEER
2011 Convertible Bonds (note 30) —Z——F A/ # ik EH
(M 5£30) 413,621
Net cash inflow arising WEESI Bz RERAFE
on acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalents BEsHeRReEEYD
acquired 754
FEBEREEREEREXEEERAT 195
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35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuves) 35.UN BB B 2 7 (&)

(a) The Wealthy Talent Group (continued) (a) Wealthy Talent Group

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately
RMB705,000 have been excluded from the consideration
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in
the current year, within administrative expenses.

The fair value of receivables acquired, which principally
comprised trade and other receivables approximated their
gross contractual amounts. There are no contractual cash
flows not expected to be collected.

The Wealthy Talent Group contributed revenue
of approximately RMB40,671,000 and profit of
approximately RMB27,599,000 to the Group’s revenue
and results for the period from date of acquisition to 31
December 2011.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2011,
the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2011 would have been approximately RMB290,217,000
and loss for the year ended 31 December 2011 would
have been approximately RMB46,767,000. This pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
January 2011, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Wealthy
Talent Group is attributable to the anticipated potential
synergy with the existing business of the Group in sales
of natural gas to end-user market.

Goodwill arising on the Wealthy Talent Group Acquisition
is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) The Wealthy Talent Group (Continued)

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreements, Mr. Wang has
warranted to the Company that, subject to the terms of
the Acquisition Agreements, the adjusted consolidated
net profit after tax and excluding the amortisation of
intangible assets of the Wealthy Talent Group (the “Net
Profit”) for the financial years ended 31 December 2011
and 2012 shall not be less than RMB30,000,000 and
RMB40,000,000 respectively (the “Warranted Profit”). In
the event that the actual Net Profit is less than the
Warranted Profit (the “Shortfall”) for the financial year
ending 31 December 2011, Mr. Wang shall pay to the
Company a total sum of 14 times of the Shortfall after the
determination of the actual Net Profit for the year ending
31 December 2011. In the event that the actual Net Profit
is less than the Warranted Profit for the financial year
ending 31 December 2012, Mr. Wang shall pay to the
Company a total sum of 10.5 times of the Shortfall after
the determination of the actual Net Profit for the year
ending 31 December 2012. The payment will be satisfied
by means of cancellation of outstanding 2011 Convertible
Bonds held by Mr. Wang. If the principal value of the
Convertible Bonds held by Mr. Wang is less than the
amount payable, the payment shall be made in cash.

The consideration adjustment in relation to the Warranted
Profit as described above is accounted for as contingent
consideration whose fair values on initial recognition and
as at the end of the reporting period were determined by
the directors by reference to an independent professional
valuation. The directors assessed the fair value of the
contingent consideration at the date of acquisition was
insignificant. As at 31 December 2011, an increase in fair
value of contingent consideration of approximately
RMB17,051,000 was recognised in profit or loss in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 December 2011.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
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(a) Wealthy Talent Group
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35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

198

(b) Million Ideas Group

On 16 July 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
in Million Ideas Investment Limited and its subsidiaries
(including 100% equity interest of Shanxi Wanzhi Business
Services Limited and 75% equity interest of Wanzhi
Logistics) (collectively referred to as the “Million Ideas
Group”) from an independent third party for a
consideration of RMB178,000,000 which was satisfied
by issue of convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$187,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB165,000,000) and payment of RMB13,000,000 in
cash. As a result, the Group further increased its equity
interest in Wanzhi Logistics from 8% to 83%. The Million
Ideas Group is mainly engaged in the provision of liquefied
coalbed gas logistics services in the PRC.

e+ -A=+—BHIFE

35.IREBHI B DT
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

(b) Million Ideas Group (Continued)

35.WEMB AR @

(b) BEEER »

Acquiree’s
carrying
amounts
immediately
before Fair value Fair
combination adjustments values
BESHA
B
ZREE DT EAE AFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBTR AR®BTR
Property, plant and equipment M - EERRE
(note 17) (P 3E17) 19,633 (1,317) 18,316
Intangible asset BREAE
— Operating license for liquefied ~ — RILE BRI 7
coalbed gas logistics LERR (FI:E19)
(note 19) - 97,300 97,300
Deposits of acquisition of WY - R Rk
property, plant and equipment B2 ® 4,050 - 4,050
Inventories & 257 — 257
Trade and other receivables JFE Wt B % B L At W 3R0R 4,117 — 4,117
Cash and cash equivalents BEMBREEHEEY 5,693 — 5,693
Trade and other payables JRE 11 BR 3R R L fth B 1< UTB (1,714) - (1,714)
Bank borrowing WITIENK (5,000) - (5,000)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBAER
(note 31(b)) (P 7E31 (b)) - (23,996) (23,996)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 7] 5% 5l & &= & & (& F& 27,036 71,987 99,023
Non-controlling interests FEERAER (20,740)
Goodwill on acquisition (note 16) A U EE ~ 2 (KI5 16) 109,477
Consideration RE 187,760
Total consideration satisfied by: BREUTIEEER
2010 Convertible Bonds (note 30) —ZE—ZF A # i {EH
(Kt 5£30) 165,000
Cash Re 13,000
178,000
Fair value of equity interest in EBRAWAMBEEES
Wanzhi Logistics held before N Xt SN |
the business combination 9,760
187,760
Net cash outflow arising WHESI Bl IR FEE
on acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalents ERzBeRReEEYD
acquired 5,693
Cash consideration paid IR zBEERE (13,000)
(7,307)
FEBEREEREEREXEEERAT 199
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35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuves) 35.UN BB B 2 7 (&)
(b) BEXEEER »

(b) Million Ideas Group (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB756,000 had
been excluded from the consideration transferred and had
been recognised as an expense during the year ended
31 December 2010, within administrative expenses.

The fair value of receivables acquired, which principally
comprised trade and other receivables approximated their
gross contractual amounts. There were no contractual
cash flows not expected to be collected.

The non-controlling interests of 17% in Wanzhi Logistics
recognised at the acquisition date were measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
identifiable net assets of Wanzhi Logistics.

As a result of remeasuring fair value of the 8% equity
interest in Wanzhi Logistics held by the Group as available-
for-sale investment before the acquisition, a gain of
RMB4,960,000 was recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

The Million Ideas Group contributed revenue of
approximately RMB6,478,000 and loss of approximately
RMB11,164,000 to the Group’s revenue and results for
the period from date of acquisition to 31 December 2010.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2010,
the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2010 would have been approximately RMB244,558,000
and loss for the year ended 31 December 2010 would
have been approximately RMB28,349,000. The pro forma
information was for illustrative purposes only and was not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would had been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
January 2010, nor was it intended to be a projection of
future results.
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35.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continved) 35.UXEE I B 2 7 (@)

(b) Million Ideas Group (Continued)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Million
Ideas Group was attributable to the anticipated profitability
generated from the synergy through economies of scale
and sharing of resources, and future market development
through vertical integration of downstream liquefied
coalbed gas logistics business. The Million Ideas Group
has experienced management, personnel, marketing and
technical staff who enable efficient operation of the
relevant business. The benefit from these factors was not
recognised separately from goodwill as the future
economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably
measured.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition was not expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

36.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the agreements dated 9 February 2010 and 21
April 2010 entered into between the Company and the
promissory note-holders, who acted collectively as equity
shareholders of the Company, the Company disposed of its
100% equity interest in the Shine Science BVI Group at a
consideration of RMB60,000,000, which was satisfied by the
discharge of the Company from its payment obligation under
the promissory notes. In addition, the balance due from the
Shine Science BVI Group of approximately RMB15,491,000 to
the Company had been waived. The disposal was completed
on 11 May 2010 and resulted in a deemed contribution from
equity shareholders of the Company on disposal of
RMB25,160,000 which was recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity as transactions
with equity shareholders.
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36.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36.HEKMEB AT @

Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of were as follows: FRLENEERBEFBEROT :
RMB’000
ARBTT
Investment properties AWM 7,330
Property, plant and equipment (note 17) M - AR R (FHEE17) 10,724
Prepaid lease payments for land LERHTEN I wES
under operating leases (note 18) (Mf5E18) 6,878
Deferred tax assets (note 31(b)) EIERIEE E (M1 5E31(0)) 1,018
Trading securities B5%E5H 10,115
Inventories 58 470
Trade and other receivables (net of impairment loss) & U 8 % & H fib 8 U 778
(FOBRRE B 1R) 26,343
Value-added tax recoverable A Y B I E R 3,233
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 34,513
Trade and other payables JE A BR SR % HL At FE A< SR IB (70,701)
Deferred income EEWA (5,598)
Tax payable (note 31(a)) FEAS B8 (M 3E31(a) (1,676)
Bank borrowings RITEK (8,000)
Net assets disposed of HEFEE 14,649
Cumulative translation reserve in respect BHENBAREEFEZ
of the net assets of the disposed subsidiaries R MERHE (1,884)
Deemed contribution from disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMNB A E4A Z HHEALE 25,160
Consideration RE 37,925
Total consideration satisfied by: BREBAUNTHNER -
Promissory notes R E 53,416
Waiver of balance due from #A 2 Shine Science BVIEEE
the Shine Science BVI Group B FE - 45 4 (15,491)
37,925
Net cash outflow on disposal: HEEEMFHRESRL
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HENRERRESEEY 34,513

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. €@ T E %3
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial AEBRMEHRNSEeRIAY
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting period EREENT ¢
are as follows:
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
QT ERARS
HNEMEE
Designated
as such
upon initial Held for Loans and
recognition trading receivables Total
RS HER _ ERR .
K8 E BEEE L8] it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%Trn AR%Tx AR®T R
2011 —E——-F
Financial assets at fair value AR FEF ABZZ
through profit or loss eaAE (22
(note 22) - 200 - 200
Other financial assets Hib e p & E (fi5E28)
(note 23) 17,051 - - 17,051
Trade and other receivables  FEUBRF R E
(note 25) JE W58 (P 5E25) - - 89,719 89,719
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY
(note 26) (B 3£26) - - 21,698 21,608
17,051 200 111,417 128,668
Financial liabilities - N =Ri
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
DU 85 B R
FIRR & Rl
af&
RMB’000
AR®T
2011 —E——F
Trade and other payables (note 27) & A<F BR 3R I L At B A5 5008 (B E27) 116,134
Bank and other borrowings (note 28) RITRE M55 (F13E28) 62,900
Obligations under finance leases (note 29) BE M £ E (M 5E20) 7,676
186,710
AR AR ERERERAT 203
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37.eMITESE»
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBRREHRANEEeRIAY
instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting period BREEMT : (&)
are as follows: (Continued)
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
ARYE
ATARE
MeEMEE
Held for Loans and
trading receivables Total
Bk
HIEEE FEU R IE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®ETT ARETT
2010 —E-%F
Derivative component of ARREZOITE
convertible bonds (note 30) T A (B5E30) 6,621 - 6,621
Trade and other receivables JFE L5 B 350 K Lt FE
(note 25) 8 (Ff 5525) - 17,584 17,584
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEY (26)
(note 26) - 23,567 23,567
6,621 41,151 47,772
Financial liabilities EMEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
A3 P AR
5l B 40 &
=R
RMB'000
ARETT
2010 —E-FF
Trade and other payables (note 27) & 1<) BR 0 N L At B 3138 (BT 3E27) 88,117
Bank and other borrowings (note 28) SRAT R E A f 5% (P51 28) 68,000
Liability component of convertible bonds ARk EH A &R (H:E30)
(note 30) 43,137
199,254
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments of the Company as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows: (Continued)

37.€mMIAEDEw®

AR REHAROSEeMTIAY
BREEMT @ (&)

Financial assets cTRMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
AFEE
HABH
NEeRMEE
Designated
as such
upon initial Loans and
recpgnition receivables Total
RS ER HHE -
B E A ES @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tx AR®T
2011 —E——fF
Other financial assets (note 23) Hie @& E (f3F23) 17,051 - 17,051
Trade and other receivables (note 25) & Ut BR 2k I H fth FE U 7078
(Ff17%25) - 174,632 174,632
Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) 34 RIS EEY (M :126) - 6,065 6,065
17,051 180,697 197,748
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
LU 8 R A
SIERM & A
af&
RMB’000
AR®T
2011 —E——F
Trade and other payables (note 27) & 1<) BR 0 N L At B A< 3108 (BT 3E27) 8,967
TEHEREEREEREEEEARAT 205
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37.eMITESE»
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RARARRMEHRNEEERIAY
instruments of the Company as at the end of the reporting BREEMT : (&)
period are as follows: (Continued)
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
ATE
FABH
HeEMEE
Held for Loans and
trading receivables Total
AR
BIEEE FEU R IE fasr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT
2010 —E-%F
Derivative component of convertible A % & 5 #6714 T A 5 1p
bonds (note 30) (H7E30) 6,621 — 6,621
Trade and other receivables (note 25) & U8R 71 % b fE U 3008 (BT 7E25) - 144,262 144,262
Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) 34 kIR & SHEY (M :E26) - 7,658 7,658
6,621 151,920 158,541
Financial liabilities SRBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
PASE AR AR
FIER A& B
=N
RMB’000
ARETT
2010 —ZT-ZF
Trade and other payables (note 27) &1 BR 30 % Lt B 3B (BT 3E27) 1,847
Liability component of convertible AR ES A &5 (H5F30)
bonds (note 30) 43,137
44,984
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, other financial assets, trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, bank and other borrowings, obligations under
finance leases and convertible bonds. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and other price
risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(a) Credit risk

()  As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s and the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated and Company'’s statements
of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance.

(i) Inrespect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition are
performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in
respect of its financial assets. Trade debts are usually
due within 30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

3&%%@@%&5%&@

AEECZFESRIABTEARTE
ARG ZEMEE  HHte®E
E - BUERFREEMEKSE - RE
EREFEY  BNRKEEMMEN
R~ RITREARER - BEHA A
EhABERES 2RI AZFER
HEAMENE - %F2TAZE
BAERERAKETEREXEEBRED
EEZEERR RBESRAR A
KRk  ERRERLEBERRR
EREEENENZEFAR - AR
EELRABEELSMNEG

(a) EERB

) R-F——FF+-_F=1—
SN SEDSEN/NCI A S PN
EERBRAEE RARAHY
BRAKRATREREEL
R EDRE R F & 2 BRE
18 -

(i) AEEREEUERLEM
EMFRZER - BEED
RN IEEEBR  UHAE
BAEERBETRERSR
AEBEEMEETERP
Z IR MG IETTEE
A o ZEFHEHHEP B
EXNEIHFE 2 ESE M B
Rl XRET) - XERBEP
REBEMMEPEEMRL
PBIRE 2 ER - REBFE
TREES T ERREEM
e EPEH-REFER
HAFE30E180H M F H o
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(@)

(b)

208

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence
on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk as 61.27% (2010:
59.03%) and 95.18% (2010: 98.64%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in note 25.

(i) The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings

assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
board to directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. The Group relies on bank and other
borrowings as a source of liquidity.

38.0 A EE B ERK

(a)

(b)

(%)

FEERE ®

(i) (&)
AEEEH 2 EERRBREE
XERPZERNFHTE -
BPEE TR RFEBTE
ZBRZENRBRITEEER
A FE  BREERK -
RWERR  ~EEE—F
BENEEEFTRER - RE
ERERAEEREREFP KR
AEFZRBERZ S BIh &
WEE 7 61.27T% (ZE—F
F : 59.03%) }95.18% (=
T—FF : 98.64%) °

B RN ER B USRI M
Hib BRI Z EEER 2
#E— L ERBHNME
25 °

BRRYF I RERREER
AREERTRERENRZ
RIT > MLRBERZEE
R AR

RENE < [ bz

AEEETN 2 BYEEE
BEERBEZREEE  BRER
BfR 2 BHIIRE NEBEEFIAM
REHRESH R HAKESS
BEDAMEE - AEBZBERB
EHERENNEFZRBES
TR REEERHIER A
ERASEEREFAHNESS
BN RSB ERG R SR &
SERE  AmeEEHNES
MEBERZER - AEBKREIR
TREBERERTBDESK
i

)
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KRAMEEEEZERK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) T @

(b) Liquidity risk (continueq) (b) REBVE SRR @)

Also as mentioned in note 2(b), the Group (i) has
successfully rolled-over its other borrowings for 12
months; (i) obtained an undertaking from Mr. Wang not
to demand for the repayment of the amount due to him
until the Group is able to do so; and (iii) obtained
undertaking from Mr. Wang to provide continuing financial
support to the Group. All of the above steps have been
enable the Group to mitigate its liquidity risk.

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s and the
Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:

BN a2 ()BTt - AN S ()
ERMKEEMERZ EREHLER
128 8 5 ()ES L EZEH
TEERAEBEBERNGE 2K
H BEEXAEBERRNEER
1F 5 R(i) BB E R EmAERER
HIFE Y IR 2 A o LallfE
HEREAREE 2 RBE SR
By o

TREAEE RAREZIEDT
EEMBENRSE IR Z INEF
BERMERGNEMOH  HE
REHMRMERERER (BRERS
MRl (A7 B) IR EHR
ZBITHERE B ZFBMF) KA
SERARRATEEZ&TH
HimEE
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KEMEEBFEREK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq) R @
(c) Interest rate risk (c) ==
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in AEEEH 2R RENXER
relation to variable-rate bank deposits and bank and other B B RRITIF BUARERTT K2
borrowings and fair value interest rate risk in relation to HMEFRAER - mAaFEMNER
fixed rate bank and other borrowings. % BIJ B B 7E A1 K 2 8R1T R HAME

TKAERE -

(i) Interest rate profile (i) RZHR
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAJNAREBBRN RS
the Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting AR 2 PR -
period:
The Group
r5KE
2011 2010
—2—-F —E-TF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rates rates
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
BRA®E BRAI=
% AR%Tx % ARETT
Fixed rate borrowings: & & Fl| Rk
Other loans HEiEX 6.83% 50,000 6.95% 50,000

Floating rate borrowings: ;% £ | & & 2 :
Bank loans RITER 11.13% 12,900 8.41% 18,000

Total borrowings BER 62,900 68,000

S

Fixed rate borrowings [ & | & & &

as a percentage of  {HRBEFZ
total borrowings Bt 79% 74%

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(c) Interest rate risk (continueq)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis
The entire bank and other borrowings of the Group
which are fixed rate instruments are insensitive to
any change in interest rates. A change in interest
rates at the end of the reporting period would not
affect profit or loss.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
increase or decrease the Group’s loss after taxation
and accumulated losses by approximately
RMB129,000 (2010: RMB180,000). Other
components of consolidated statement of changes
in equity would not change in response to the general
increase or decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at
that date. The 100 basis points increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management and represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the end of the
next reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2010.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

3. BEMREERE

4 ))

—E——F+A=1+—RHIEFE

ERE

(c) FIERE b2 2

(ii)

HRED
REBAARTTREMEBR
BRBEEMETA  HHX
EAEEHREIK - RIRE
HATR 2 | 5 B2 Bh ¥4 | 2K 5
BIEREE -

m—“**¢+—ﬂ:+*
EETFERE R AT
Eﬁwﬂﬁ% ﬁ%ﬁﬁm
ml%ﬁ%%m =2
ERTEEERZFEE
waﬁﬁd\mAJEM
129,000 (ZF—FF : A
[R¥#180,0007T) ° #rE M
BEHRAEMEXDH TS
EFER LR sk TRk

Fil UK E D AT Th R AR X

FEERMERARE AL E
ARZAGFERNIETE SR
TENMERERMETE °
100fEE B e) E A3 Nk TD
FARA A = B 5 12 [E P 2R FE R
FEER - RREEEEH T
EREE T —ERE R
HAfI & IR R gL B B YA AT ©

ZANTIRE T —FF 718
[FIEEAEETT o
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

214

(d) Currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by
the PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance
of earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the
availability of foreign currency (which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the
Group) or must be arranged through the PBOC with
government approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue and
incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The Directors consider that
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exposure should the need arise.

e+ -A=+—BHIFE

3. ERAKREEHERK
R

(d) &

5 L B

B AR
AR BHELEZERI
%o FREYRAREZIMNE
R BB BTBERARRT

S E (B HME 2 S
H1T o BINER ZERM 2 IE

AP ARBITARZIE
Z . EEEXERE—ZT
RAEFRR BN R EEE &
ERZE) -

SNEEAS R - a%%@ﬂﬁﬁ
hE - ARTFINEHERS
(%%{E%EW$EIM

SNESIE 2 B & %Y%%
AHEBRHLE B BT EA
RIR1TZHE -

BB %8 WEmr KA

W 5 MEE A )R AR D F S
MEX BN EREHE
EER5 ERAKEKRE
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:

The Group

3.0 A EE B ERIK

4 ))

(d) E¥ =k 2

(i)

B RBEE (B)

Rk ER - ANEBE LR
EE TR SR INNEE
Bz TEEMEENED
(ERUNNE

REHE

Exposure to foreign currency

S [ B R I
2011 2010
Hong Kong Hong Kong
Dollars Dollars
—E——fF —E-FF
BT BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBEFTT
Cash and cash equivalents IR& NIRESEEY 5,930 6,854
Sensitivity analysis (i) BBREDN

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s loss after taxation and
accumulated losses in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT
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TRFEH - RBEEHR - K
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(ii)

Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

e+ -A=+—BHIFE

3. BEREERBFERK

8 ))

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E% & 2
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i) BRBREDW (E)
The Group E
2011 2010
e —T-%F
Increase/ Effect on loss Increase/  Effect on loss
(decrease) after (decrease) after
in foreign taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rates losses rates losses
B BB
REER BEBR
Eki@m/ REERE | ExiEgmn/ ZETEE
(H2) ZEe OB ) L8
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Hong Kong dollars BT 5% (297) 5% (343)
(5)% 297 (5)% 343

216

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group’s exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence
at that date, and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. Results of the
analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities’ loss after taxation. The stated changes are
used when reporting currency risk internally to key
management and represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until the end
of the next reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2010.

B RE AT TR R EE
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(e) Other price risk

(f)

Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil
and gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations
of crude oil and refined and gas products. The
management will consider hedging oil and gas exposure
should the need arise.

Fair value

(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period across the three levels
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value
of each financial instrument categorised in its entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is significant
to that fair value measurement. The levels are defined
as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical financial instruments.

° Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques in
which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data.
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38.%5%@%%@ BERERIK
)

) 2¥E =

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(f) Fair value (continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (i) EA¥EIERzE&/mIA

(Continued) (&)

e Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured e  FIHHEEFR : F
using valuation techniques in which any REMEZ g AR
significant input is not based on observable WIEER A B RTI5
market data. IR 2 HEREE

NVFE -
2011 —E——F
The Group The Company
158 A7
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£15 £ £38 @i 14 EPE #38 3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  ARETn  ARETx  AR%Tr < AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR  AR%T:n
Assets EE
Financial assets ~ RATEA
at fair value BEheR
through profi BE
or loss 200 - - 200 - - - -
Contingent —EEBAH
consideration for 2 FARE
a business
combination - - 17,051 17,051 - - 17,051 17,051
200 - 17,051 17,251 - - 17,051 17,051
2010 —E-ZF
The Group The Company
pis-3L AL7
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
218 BV 234 5t 18 28 238 )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Assets BE
Derivative component 7 1t %47
of convertiole ETASH
bonds - - 6,621 6,621 - - 6,621 6,621

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(f) Fair value (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise
the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

3.0 EMEERBEREK

4 ))

f D¥E®S

(i)

BAFEIKRZEMTA
(%)

RNEEMEEEZEMTA
ZAFEREBREHARZT
BRENE - EBTISIE
IS0 &R ST
IR BREA - TTER
- MIERFHAE BRI
SHmE2TE  MEBKRE
2R - AREMFERT
BEFAzmERELSERE
RE - ZEFTASWRIAE
18R °

EERTISTEEE Y SR
TA(SIMTETR) 2 2
TR ET ERE -
W E G ET AR B LR
BraBEmElE AR
BRSO RBER BT
o BFAHETAATE
FEE AR ARET T HE
B T A AL -
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KEREEBEERK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ;- qe)
(f) Fair value (continueq) fH A¥HE @

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (h BAFEIERzE@MITE

220

(Continued)

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial

instruments include:

° Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments.

o Other techniques, such as discounted cash
flow analysis, are used to determine fair value

(%)
R PR EAEEPN YN 2 ¢
I FEIRIE A B R T S5 BUR
T BIZIETAGIAS
34

ARtESRMITAGBELR
EREDEREE

e RBUIAZMHHRE

s WHRASRENNTE
H A 75X A AR E &R

for the remaining financial instruments. TR TR ZAFER
R
All the resulting fair value estimates are included in FrEREMmEEMN A FEGE

level 1 except for contingent consideration for a
business combination and derivative component of
convertible bonds as explained below.

During the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2010, there were no significant transfers of financial
assets between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchy
classifications.

(BR AN PA T Pt 2 75 & 5F
KAl EHITE T RS
EEZHARE) B AE

BE-_T—FRk=FF
FHZA=+—HLFE"

RFEEHIRMZERK
FoAMBERNCRE
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(f) Fair value (continued)

3.0 A EE B ERIK

(#&)

) 2¥E =

(i)

Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

The movement during the year in the balance of
Level 3 fair value measurement is as follows:

BAFEIKRZEMTA
(#&)
FARIRAEBR A FE
BEFWT :

(i)

The Group and the Company

AEBEAADQTF
2011 2010
—s——F —E—FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBEFT
Contingent consideration BATEFEZEBE O
for a business combination ~ Z 8k A8
at fair value
At 1 January n—H—H - —
Change in fair value recognised F A 72 18 %5 A FE R
in profit or loss during N EEE
the year 17,051 —
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 17,051 —
Total gains for the year RBERRAFFBEEET A
included in profit or loss for 181 AN AYF N AUz
assets held at the end
of the reporting period 17,051 —

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

—E R
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(f) Fair value (continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

(Continued)

38.

BEEREEEERK

8 ))
) DFE =

(i) BLOFEIRzEMIA
(&

The Group and the Company

AEBRAADF
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBEFT
Conversion option embedded & A A 2[5 {& % - & #a
in convertible bonds
At 1 January n—H—H 6,621 —
Initial recognition VIR TR - 10,770
Change in fair value recognised F RN 1825 NHERR 2
in profit or loss during N EZE
the year (6,487) 3,223
Conversion during the year R #E iz - (7,004)
Exchange adjustments PE 7R & (134) (368)
At 31 December Bn+—_A=+—H - 6,621
Total gains for the year REEERMFTAE
included in profit or loss BETABRZAN
for assets held at the end FAL W=
of the reporting period - 3,223
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

(f) Fair value (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

Changes in fair value of contingent consideration for
a business combination are recognised in “fair value
gain on other financial assets” in the consolidated
income statement.

The gains or losses arising from the remeasurement
of the conversion option embedded in the
convertible bonds are presented in fair value (loss)/
gain on the derivative component of convertible
bonds in the consolidated income statement.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other
than fair value

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December
2011 and 2010.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

3. BEMREERE

- 8e)

ERE

f D¥E®S

(i)

BAFEIKRZEMTA
(%)
EBAHEARREBZAFE
BBREABERNIEE
TREENRFERS]F
FERR ©

REHHERA A BAES
2 BB A A 2 W e S
1B IREERERNIIA
—Hﬁ‘ﬁxﬁa’%mil/\ulﬁﬁz
NTE(BE) M e

WIHRNFEIRZERMT

AZAFE
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KEMEEBFEREK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq) R @
(g) Estimation of fair values (g) Bt A¥E
The following summarises the major methods and TXHAREETe I AR T
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial BZEEFEMBEE -
instruments.
(i) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (i) FHERITEFRREMER
The fair value is estimated as the present value of NP EZARBERECE
future cash flows, discounted at current market EmdET - WERARLUESE
interest rates for similar financial instruments. TARZRITHSH R o
(ii) Convertible bonds (i) A\RES
Major methods and assumptions used in estimating HErARRESFAEISH &
the fair values of liability component and derivative PTHEIASD 2 A EMRA
component of convertible bonds are set out in note ZEETERBREI LK
30. 30 -

CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
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39.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@)

During the year, additions to property, plant and equipment
of approximately RMB10,417,000 (2010: RMB Nil) were
financed by finance lease arrangements.

On 16 July 2010, the Company issued the 2010
Convertible Bonds with principal amount of
HK$187,500,000 as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of the Million Ideas Group. Further details of
the acquisitions are set out in note 35(b).

On 12 July 2011, the Company issued the 2011
Convertible Bonds with principal amount of
HK$499,000,000 as consideration for the acquisition of
the Wealthy Talent Group. Further details of the acquisition
are set out in note 35(a).

On 11 May 2010, the Company disposed of its 100%
equity interest in the Shine Science BVI Group at a
consideration of RMB60,000,000, which was satisfied by
the discharge of the Company from its payment obligation
under the promissory notes. Further details of the disposal
are set out in note 36.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB22,650,000 was
acquired and settled by Mr. Wang on behalf of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
disposed of property, plant and equipment with carrying
value of approximately RMB4,576,000 to Luoyang Shunhe
which was offset by the current account with Luoyang
Shunhe.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

.FEFBHERS
@ FROFEDE  BERBED

AR®10,417,000T (ZZE—F
F:ARETD) THBEHEER
BHRHtRE -

RZZE—ZTFLHA+AB A2
AT A& 4858 5187,500,000
BLZ T —SFBRES
RERBEBEEEE Z2HHK
B - ZWEEE E— P15
BRI FE35(0)

R_E——F+HA+ZH A2
AIE 1T A& 4% /499,000,000
Bz —E——FaRKRES
LAYE & U5 B Wealthy Talent Group
ZEARE - ZWEEE L E—
ZEHE - MR FES5() ©

RZE—ZFRA+—H8 AR
A A B A R #60,000,0007T H
& E 7 Shine Science BVIE£ & ~
100% IR AR« R REBLARRRR AR
RAIREHLEBB T Z2NREEE
B ZEEFHIE LT
AT FES6 ©

HE-ZT—ZEF+-_HA=+—H
IEFE  TRERRAEENE
M - MBS RERE - WRERH
S EEH ARE22,650,0007T ©

HEZT——F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - REERSEIER LS
EREEX A ARKE4,576,0007TH)
M - M RERE - IR ER
P AN A48 & AR B #EH -
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40.COMMITMENTS 40. 7%

(@) In addition to the Finance Lease Arrangement detailed in @ BREIFE20(FTEF AR ER
note 20(a), the Group had the following significant capital SN - REBRBBHRKREFTL
commitments contracted but not provided for in the MERBHEZ ERENERENDT
financial statements:

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Acquisition of property, WEEM R - M RERE
plant and equipment (BEERIRE)
(including construction
in progress) 104,852 66,678
Equity investment in respect of MG EBERAZ
formation of a joint venture = E (k)
company (note) - 18,000
104,852 84,678
Note: The equity investment represented the capital contribution in BT« R EREFEN R R LH

respect of the formation of Yangcheng Huiyang in the PRC ERERMAK FEREEZ
HAb IR R 5 BRI % B
55 60% K& 40% A% #E -

to engage in exploitation, development and production of
coalbed methane. The Group and the other shareholders hold
equity interests of Yangcheng Huiyang of 60% and 40%
respectively.
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40.COMMITMENTS (continued) 40.7% % ©
(b)  Atthe end of the reporting period, the total future minimum (b) RMEHR BEBRAEMEZ
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases TAHEHGEHNIE T 2 R KRE
in respect of office premises are payable as follows: N EHEFIBEERNT -
The Group The Company
r5E y NG|

2011 2010 2011 2010

“B—-f | Z2-2F | Z8—-% | —T-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR | ARBTT | ARBTR ARBETTT

Within 1 year —F A 759 276 744 262
After 1 year but —FBERAFA
within 5 years 446 14 446 —
1,205 290 1,190 262
The Group leases a number of properties held under operating AEBEBRBLEEHEOEELEDEE -
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to AP —RE—Z=F - ZFHY
three years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. MEBZXAHES -

TEREAEREE REREMERAR 227
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41.

228

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

41. EEEH

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure bank borrowings granted to the

RBEHR > "EERAXAEEER 2
RITERMER FINEE -

Group:
The Group
AEE
2011 2010
=2 £ —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Buildings held for own use RIEERACZET
(note 17(a)(iii) (B &E17(a)(iT) - 1,471
Pipelines (note 17(a)(iii) &8 (I FE17(@)(iii) 30,190 36,690
Prepaid lease payments for land under #&&& ML) NFaN LS
operating leases (note 18) (MI5E18) - 8,705
30,190 46,866

In connection with the Finance Lease Arrangement as disclosed
in note 20(a), the Company entered into a share pledged
arrangement on 2 December 2010 (the “Share Pledged
Agreement”) with CIMC to pledge its entire shareholding in
Qinshui Energy in favour of CIMC to secure due payment of
the total lease considerations by Qinshui Energy and Shanxi
Logistics in accordance with the Finance Lease Arrangement.

RZZFE-—ZFF+-A=ZH AXRAIG
MiEE20(@PT e 2 R EH E e HE A
SRR EERGZE (RELR B
&) AP E AR ARBERILK
BEIRH 2B AR #E - AREIRID/KBEIR 2
YRR EREHERBEZ AN
BEERE -
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42.CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(M)

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company
filed a claim with it {F# Z E & (“Beijing Arbitration
Commission”) against one of its coalbed methane
suppliers (the “CBM Supplier”), claiming for financial losses
of approximately RMB407,193,000 arising from
insufficient supply of coalbed methane under contract. In
February 2012, the CBM Supplier filed a counterclaim with
the Beijing Arbitration Commission against the Company,
claiming for (i) financial losses of approximately
RMB155,336,000; (ii) late payment interest of
approximately RMB3,771,000; and (iii) financial loss arising
from early termination of contract of approximately
RMB102,775,000. The directors of the Company
consider, based on the legal advice obtained from the
Company’s legal counsel, that the Company has a valid
defence against the above counterclaim and, accordingly,
no provision has been made in these financial statements
in relation to these proceedings.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, a customer
claim against a subsidiary of the Group for compensation
of approximately RMB6,954,000 arising from alleged
failure on the part of the subsidiary to supply gas under
contract. The directors of the Company consider, based
on the legal advice obtained from the Group’s legal
counsel, that the subsidiary has a valid defence against
the above claim and, accordingly, no provision has been
made in these financial statement in relation to these
proceedings.

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S
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4 AR ¥407,193,0007T ° R =
T——F-R KERHEREL
HAARMIERFHRZEGRE
REZR W Z2REEOVBEBELY
AR #155,336,0007T : (i) @ HAft
FFBHA RS, 771,0007T : &
(iRATAR LA RWEA 2 I EE
#ANE#102,775,0007T ° KR
RAESERE  BEBEARTEREE
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S ERZE BRI ZES
FAEH B o

#HEzE-_Z2——F+=-_A=+—8
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43.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY AB.EXRBAEALRS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in BRAEmENEMBOFAEENR
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered into S REBRIN - REBBERIM THERKR
the following material related party transactions. BEALRS -
For the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, the directors BHE_ZT——FKk-_FT—ZTF+-HA
are of the view that the followings are related parties of the =+—HLEFE ZESRAETINEH
Group: BRAEBE ZBEANT
Name of party Relationship EBREHBEE BiE
Wanzhi Logistics Effectively 8% owned by the BEYR RZEENF+Z
Group as at 31 December 2009 A=Z+—H@AaA
and accounted for as a SEERHMER
subsidiary for the year ended 31 8% REBIZ_ZF
December 2010. Details as set —ZEF+=-A=
out in note 35(b). +—HIFET
RAWB AR -
BT BEH N
i£35(b) °
Luoyang Shunhe A company established in the PRC 7% b5 I AN — KRR B KL
with limited liability and was BRATE K=
indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. T-ZTF+ A
Wang as at 31 December 2010. =+—HAaE%E
Upon completion of the EEEE2EHR
acquisition of the Wealthy Talent B o RN U
Group, Luoyang Shunhe was Wealthy Talent
thereafter accounted for as a GroupZ 1% » /&k5
subsidiary of the Group. Details I A0 E 18 51| BR &
as set out in note 35(a). RNEEWB A
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43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

Name of party

KSR RIRE
BREERAA
(transliterated as
Shanxi Qinshui
Prefecture Chengrong
Investment Limited)
(“Chengrong
Investment”)

Yangcheng Yangtai

EON 5 AR RE IR Bl
RIBER LA
(transliterated as
Zhengzhou Zhencheng
Energy Technology
Service Company
Limited)

(“Zhengzhou
Zhencheng”)

Relationship

Effectively owned 17% equity
interest in Wanzhi Logistics as
a non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary and provided
financing to the Group of
RMB50,000,000 as disclosed in
note 28(b).

Effectively owned 20% equity
interest in Yangcheng Huiyang
as a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary.

Effectively owned 20% equity
interest in Yangcheng Huiyang
as a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary.

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

S

43.ERBEALTRS @

FBELEHE BRE

KGR RIEE A —HKEB AR
BERETRAR ZHEZEBRBRREAR
([BEIEE]) BHEEEEY

TE 17 % RS A
= RAXER
REES AR
50,000,0007T (40
Mt 5= 28(b) BT #

=) -

k5% 9 5 2 tEm— B E 2R
ZIERKRRA
M A PR
k% £920% A 7~ 42
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43.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY A3.ERBEEAETRS »®

TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

@) HE-ZT——&R-_T-T&+
“AEt-RALFE  AfES
ERIBEA L 2 RIEIT 2 EAR

(@) Particulars of significant transactions between the Group
and the above related parties for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

232

SHEMT :

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2011 2010
EBRLEW REME —E——F —T-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Luoyang Shunhe Disposal of property,
plant and equipment
V& 5 IE AN HEMXR - BB RRE 4,576 -
Luoyang Shunhe Sale of LNG
& 5 IE AN HERIERAR 11,638 -
Wanzhi Logistics Logistics services expenses of
liquefied coalbed gas
BEMR BACKE B R 2 ¥ R 75 78 < - 5,557
Chengrong Investment Interest expenses
RREKRE MER X 3,770 3,191
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43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) Particulars of significant transactions between the Group
and the above related parties for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010 are as follows: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2010, a subsidiary of
the Group, namely, Guangxi Beiliu Gas Company Limited
(“Guangxi Beiliu”) entered into a memorandum of
understanding dated 8 October 2010 with Luoyang Shunhe,
pursuant to which Guangxi Beiliu agreed to deliver certain
pre-sales liquefied natural gas tanks included in property, plant
and equipment with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB4,711,000 as at 31 December 2010 to Luoyang Shunhe
for the purpose of trial-operation for a period of nine months
(up to 30 June 2011) before signing a formal sales and
purchase agreement. On 30 June 2011, before Luoyang
Shunhe entered into the Group, Guangxi Beiliu formally signed
a sales and purchase agreement to sell these tanks at a
consideration of RMB4,576,000 to Luoyang Shunhe.

(i) During the period from 1 January 2011 to 11 July 2011, the
Group supplied LNG to Luoyang Shunhe in an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB11,638,000. During the same
period, Luoyang Shunhe was indirectly wholly-owned by
Mr. Wang. Luoyang Shunhe became a subsidiary of the Group
upon completion of the Group’s acquisition of the Wealthy
Talent Group in July 2011, further details of which are set out
in note 35(a). These transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions, as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

(i) The amount represents interest expenses on loans due to a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary as detailed in note
28(b).

FEEREEREEREXEEARAT
T ——FFR

A3.ERBEALTRS @)

BE

—E—FR-F-FET

:H:+—E¢¢&'$%lﬁ
EIBEALT 2RETZERR
SEBEWT (B

Wi

(i)

(i

(i)

E!zi —ZEF+-A=+—H
FE - ﬁ%@—FaﬁWEAEJ%
@il:?ﬁ%ﬁﬁlﬁ”ﬁ (Tt
MORZZE—ZTF+ANAEE
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bt BRI RREESRTERE
EihER - HE TIAWE - #
REHER BRZZ—TF+
“RA=+t—RZEERAEAORA
R#4,711,0007T 6 T8 & R K
ARFEERN TR IER - DA
HITRABNEARRNEZZT——
FXA :'f'EUJ:)E"‘]E:I %@ o R
—E——FXA=1+H " 185
JEFN K A A ER B 2R 2 Al
BEILRERETE =W - A
1B AR4,576,0007T )% [5
JIEAN & 2% 5 (i o

RZE——F—H—HE=Z—
—F+A+—BEE  AEEH
EEIEFHELSEHARE
11,638,000 THRIEARAR © 1E
m—HAR - JRIGIER B £ SR
E2EHER  NZZT——F LA
7 & & 52 K U B Wealthy Talent
GroupZ & + &Rz BB B A%
BB AR - BEE 2P
BH NI FE35() ° ZERHINME
FREIZER E TR RIFE20EFTESR
R ERIER S -

BRARBEEN BB AR—

BIEEBRBERZER 2 ERH
% & R FE28(b)
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43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group and the
Company had the following balances with related parties:

(i) Amounts due from related companies

Notes to the Financial Statements Bt #% 3 3% Kfi 5%

43.ERBEEATRS @

(b) EREAE A £ 248k
RZE——FR-_FT—ZFF+=
B=+—H X&EENAKAAQRHE
BEALTHE N EH

(i) FREWREBEXNTRE

The Group rE

Maximum amount
outstanding
during the year
ERES
KEESHE

2011 2010

—2--F —_T-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARETT ARBT R
Shanxi Huayu WHEES - 5,138 5,138
Chengrong Investment EREE 168 1,000 1,000
Yangcheng Yangtai Py Es 6,000 - 6,000
Zhengzhou Zhencheng B B K 7,300 - 7,300

13,468 6,138

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

oup

2 ERBRFAREE -
BIXAEERERE -

-
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43.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf # 3 R [

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(b) Balances with related parties (continued)

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group and the
Company had the following balances with related parties:

(Continued)

(ii)

TEEREREREEREXERARLT

—E R

43.ERBEALTRS @

(b) EHEEE A L 2488

RoE——FR-F-FF+=
A=+—R XEERAQFE

BEANLTE TSR : (B)
Amounts due from directors (i) BWESBIE
The Group rEE
Maximum amount
outstanding
during the year
ERE®
REESH
2011 2010
—B--f “E-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT ARETR
Zhang Qing Lin RE 473 455 473
Feng San L B 20 - 20
Shi Liang i 55 - 55
Fu Shou Gang e 20 15 20
568 470
The Company VNN
Maximum amount
outstanding
during the year
ERE®
REESH
2011 2010
—B--f “E-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT ARBT T
Wang Zhong Sheng By 3,737 - 3,737
Feng San L B 20 - 20
Shi Liang i 55 - 55
Zhang Qing Lin REM - 42 42
3,812 42
The amounts due from the directors are unsecured, ZERIKNESFIEEER -

interest-free and repayable on demand.

R B AMREERKER
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43. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

43.ERBEEATRS @

(b) Balances with related parties (continueq)

(iii) Amounts due to directors/a non-controlling interest

of a subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

(iv)

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

(c) :
remuneration

Key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the

Group, including emoluments to the

Company’s directors

as disclosed in note 9 and certain of the highest paid

(b) HEEBEA LT 2&8 @

(c)

(iii)

(iv)

ENES —BHHBARZ
FERER IR

A ERBRFBREER - 2
BIWBREERERE -

FEW, (FE() BB 2 B RKIE
ALEBRFARELA - %
5

N

BIXAREERERE -

AEEXTREEABZHM (B
2 RIR P 9 K M FE 103 BR 2 A9
TARRBEZERE TR ME

employees as disclosed in note 10, is as follows: BzME)mT :
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
—EF——F 0
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETT
Short-term employee benefits HEEBEAN 1,978 1,784
Post-employment benefits B EEN 26 14
Equity settled share-based VAR 45 B LARR (9 &
payment expenses ERZARAX 7,075 —
Total remuneration is included FMaEE N 8 TR
in “Staff costs” (note 7(a)) (F5E7(a)) 9,079 1,798
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 #{Z - —— &+ - A=+—HILtFE

44.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44.3:REHIZE1H

(@)

On 21 May 2012, the Company announced that Qinshui
Energy, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into, among other things, a finance lease
agreement with CIMC (the “2012 Finance Lease
Arrangement”), pursuant to which (i) Qinshui Energy
conditionally agreed to sell and CIMC conditionally agreed
to purchase certain LNG equipment (the “Equipments”)
for a total consideration of RMB95,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$117.28 million); and (ii) Qinshui
Energy conditionally agreed to lease from CIMC, and
CIMC conditionally agreed to lease to Qinshui Energy, the
Equipments for a total lease consideration of
RMB114,570,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$141.44 million) for a term of 36 months by monthly
installments inclusive of interest with a lump sum handling
fee in the sum of RMB950,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1.17 million). The lease consideration
may be adjusted according to the floating lending interest
rate to be promulgated by PBOC from time to time. The
2012 Finance Lease Arrangement constitutes a major
transaction on the part of the Company under the GEM
Listing Rules, and is subject to, among other things, the
approval of the shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting to be held. This transaction
has not been completed as of the date of approval of
these financial statements.

On 19 January 2012, the Group’s buildings held for own
use and prepaid lease payments for land under operating
leases with carrying amounts of approximately
RMB9,423,000 and RMB8,780,000 respectively as at 31
December 2011 were subjected to guarantee in relation
to the arbitration proceedings between the Group and
the CBM Supplier as detailed in note 42(i).

TEREAEREE REREMERAR
S

(a)

R-ZE——"FHA-+—H &
RBERAM - RARIMEEZEK
BARDYVKRERERERET (K
B BMERER R (2T —=F
BEMELH]) - Bt - ()oK
BERERERBEEERTERK
HREZEBER TRIERARRL
REZE([REB])  BREABA
R #95 000,000 (ERH
117,280,000/ 7T) K (i) 7K BE
BEEHEREMPSEARE - P
EHEMERERIDKEEREER
# BEERERARYK
114,570,000 (FE R L
141,440,000 7T) + AHI361E A
(ZRASHAF  BEAME) &
—EBFEBEHAEARY
950,0007T (1HE 7 491,170,000
BIT) c HEREARBHBEAR
IRIT TR AR ZBNEE R R1E
LA - RIFRIZER ETARR
TE - CFREHERHERA
RAM—EBEFERS @ WAERFEH
REE) A ABIIREREIEERITZ
RERFRIRE LR - F A
T HERSEY SRR ESER
i ZIERFHHEARTEK °

RZZE——F—A+NAB K&
BN -—ZT——F+-A=+—H
L EHEES OB ARK
9,423,0007T & A X #8,780,000
TZEHEERZEFURKEEH
HTFEN LTS - IWIEREB
BAEEEEEREER ZHEDN
EE (B R E42() M
R o
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45.

46.

238

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative information has been adjusted to conform
to current year’s presentation and to provide comparative
amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first time in 2011.

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2011, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI.
Jumbo Lane Investments Limited does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

45. Lt BB F

EFLEEANDELRE  UFAA
FENSESR  AHR-T——FH
REEERRULREHE -

46 EEBF R AR ZRRERT

W-B——F+=A=+—R &%
RAKEEEE TR RELERS
REBRARRLF  —FAKBRE
LHRBHMRIHAT - BERER
RARE AR EARER 2 BB
*o
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Five Year Financial Summary A FEHERHE

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 HZ T ——F+_A=+—HILFE

Results ¥iE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+t-HLFE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
=g—-£ | -2-2F -BTAF -BINF C-BELA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARBTRE ARETRE ARETRE ARMTR

Turnover BERE 253,849 230,989 40,056 — —
Loss from operations MEEBEE

Z BB (15,036) (8,150) (17,645) (11,508) (10,629)
Finance costs BAEKAK (8,762) (9,681) (4,260) (1,844) (1,461)

Gain on remeasuring existing P Ui i &= 57
interest in an available-for A EAHEHE

sales investment RERBER

on acquisition 2 WE - 4,960 - - -
Fair value gain on other HiemEEL

financial assets NEER S 17,051 - - - -
Fair value (loss)/gain onthe  RAIHARR(E #1714

derivative component of T AR

convertible bonds /NS S|

(B18) Mz (6,487) 3,223 — - -

Impairment loss on goodwill 725 & 518 (21,492) - (52,971) — —
Loss before taxation BRELAIE B (34,726) (9,648) (74,876) (13,352) (12,090)
Income tax FTiS %t (14,609) (871) 251 - -
Loss for the year from REFECLER

continuing operations ZARFEEE (49,335) (10,519) (74,625) (13,352) (12,090)

(Loss)/profit for the year from 78 B B 48 |- 44
discontinued operations E¥BZAEE

(B#8) /=7 - (11,947) 15,795 (20,233) 9,590
Loss for the year AFEEBE (49,335) (22,466) (58,830) (33,585) (2,500)
Attributable to: oL -
Equity shareholders iN/NC]
of the Company ZHERRR (45,016) (20,493) (58,741) (33,585) (2,500)
Non-controlling interests R (4,319) (1,973 (89) — —
Loss for the year AFEER (49,335) (22,466) (58,830) (33,585) (2,500)

TEEREREREEREXERARLT
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Five Year Financial Summary A FE U EHE

For The Year Ended 31 December 2011 B2 — T ——F+_A=+—HIFE

Assets and liabilities BEERERE
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—E——F| _2-2F —TENF —EENF —ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AREBTR | A\RETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Total assets BEE 1,396,942 713,299 545,025 239,139 162,649
Total liabilities Ry (315,545)|  (258,971)  (275,176)  (119,009) (55,990)
Non-controlling interests ~ FE#ERGHE2S (28,975) (21,294) (2,527) — —
Equity attributable to equity 7R A4E 25 A% 5
shareholders of FEh
the Company 1,052,422 433,034 267,322 120,130 106,659
240 CHINA LEASON CBM & SHALE GAS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2011



PEEGEREEREEREXZSEBERIRL A
China Leason CBM & Shale Gas Group Company Limited

(formerly known as China Leason Investment Group Co., Limited Bl EEEH R A F)

(RSB EEMA T > ERAT)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

24X 5% Stock Code: 8270




